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The statutory annual financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).

In compliance with ZAR X regulations, this integrated 
report presents the financial results and the 
environmental, social and governance performance 
of the Group for the period ended 30 June 2021.  The 
content included in this integrated report is intended 
to identify and explain the material economic, social, 
governance and environmental issues facing the 
Group and their impact, and to enable stakeholders to 
accurately evaluate ORE’s ability to create and sustain 
value over the short-, medium- and long-term.

Company PROFILE

Orion Real Estate Limited’s (“ORE”) integrated report to 
stakeholders covers the period 1 October 2020 to 30 June 
2021.  It includes all the Group’s operations. Integrated 
reporting allows for a more informed assessment of the 
Company’s long-term viability. This report aims to inform 
our stakeholders about the objectives and strategies 
of the Group as well as its performance with regard to 
financial, intellectual, human and social capital and is 
contained in the annual financial statements and the 
CEO’s report.

This report was prepared in accordance with best 
practices, and applying the principles of the:
• King Report on Governance for South Africa, 2016 

(“King IV”);
• ZAR X Listings Requirements; and
• Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended  

(“Companies Act”).

Scope and Boundary

The Group’s external auditors Business 2 Business Incorporated, have independently audited 
the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021. Their audit report can be found 
on page 49. The scope of their audit is limited to the information set out in the financial 
statements on pages 52 to 115.

Assurance

The Audit and Risk Committee and Board  acknowledges its 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this integrated report and 
believes the report presents fairly the performance of the Group 
and its material issues. It has been recommended by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and approved by the Board of ORE.

Responsibility Statement
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 Our Purpose
Passionately owning and managing propertiesAn Orion experience in 50 countries

Honesty
Act in a way that leads to trust in each  
other. Always tell the truth. Never take  
anything that does not belong to them.

Integrity
Be truthful no matter what the situation or 
circumstance. Take responsibility for your 
actions.

Treating People with Dignity
Do not reprimand each other in public. 
Respect diverse opinions & cultures. Meet 
agreed commitments & deadlines.

Our Vision

Our Values

Generosity
Share knowledge. 
Show empathy and understanding. Go the 
extra mile.

Reward & Recognition
Show appreciation by “catching people 
doing things right.” Provide opportunity for      
career development.

Innovation & Productivity
Look for a “better way” each day. 
Cultivate an “I can” attitude. Deliver high
quality work.

These values are further entrenched in the organisation through monthly
discussion documents and the team coaching process.
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Country of Incorporation and Domicile Registration Number

South Africa 1997/021085/06

Nature of Business and Principal Activities as at  
30 June 2021 Directors at 30 June 2021

ORE is an investment holding property Company 
group listed on ZAR X on 23 April 2020.

RS Wilkinson (Chair)^ 
F Gmeiner (CEO)* 
MDK Mthembu^ 
AC Gmeiner^ 
TFJ Oosthuizen^ 

* - Executive
^ - Non-Executive

Registered Office Business Address 

3rd Floor 
26 Wellington Road 
Parktown 
Johannesburg 
2193

3rd Floor 
26 Wellington Road 
Parktown 
Johannesburg 
2193

Postal Address Bankers 

PO Box 1885 
Houghton 
Johannesburg 
2198

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 
Bidvest Bank Limited

Level of Assurance Auditors 

These financial statements have been audited in 
compliance with the applicable requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Business 2 Business Inc. 
550 Ontdekkers Road 
Florida Hills 
Florida

Group Secretary Appointed Advisors

Light Consulting (Pty) Ltd 
20 Stirrup Lane 
Woodmead Office Park 
Corner Woodmead Drive & Van Reenens Avenue 
Woodmead 
2191

Acacia Cap Advisors (Pty) Limited 
20 Stirrup Lane 
Woodmead Office Park 
Corner Woodmead Drive & Van Reenens Avenue 
Woodmead 
2191

GENERAL INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
It is with great sadness that I have 
to announce the passing away 
of our long-time Chairman, Mr 
Richard Wilkinson on 9 August 2021 
at the age of 82. He succumbed 
to cancer after a long illness. 
We wish to convey our sincere 
condolences to Richard’s wife 
Jennifer and their two children.

 
Richard was the Chairman of ORE since our reverse 
listing on the JSE main board in 2005. His patience, 
council, wisdom, and deep sense of humour will remain 
with us. He is leaving a gap which will be hard to fill.

Since the last reporting cycle in September 2020 the 
COVID-19 pandemic has wrecked more havoc on the 
economy and on people’s lives particularly. 

Many people close to us and distant have succumbed 
to this scourge. If the 1919 Spanish Flu is anything to go 
by, we have another year of survival ahead of us.

The recent looting, burning and vandalization of many 
retail centres, distribution centres and manufacturing 
plants in mainly KZN but also other areas depressed 
business confidence further and this can be measured 
by the recent deterioration in the Rand Dollar exchange 
rate.

ORE was very lucky and blessed that none of our 
properties were attacked or looted. This includes our 
retail buildings in townships and CBD retail centres.

Despite the above and general business challenges 
ORE has weathered the storm remarkably well and is 
currently in better financial and operational health than 
12 months ago.

Some notable milestones achieved:
• Reducing debt at the rate of approximately R1,5 million per month as result of mortgage capital payments 

and reduction in creditors.
• The Loan to Value (“LTV”) % has reduced to 13%.
• Most properties with the exception of Promenade Shopping Centre, 296 Kent Ave and Phalaborwa are 

debt free.
• Securing a number of national retail tenants, RJ Jeans, Total Sports, American Swiss, Markhams and The Fix 

for Promenade Shopping Centre.
• Securing another Shoprite Usave store for our Westbank Premises in the Cape Townships.
• Moving our year-end back to June which makes better logistical and administrative sense.
• Rehabilitating of derelict retail store in Delft Western Cape and settling in a Shoprite Usave branch.
• Decreasing vacancies to 15%.
• The ZAR X shareholder spread of a minimum of 30% minorities has been achieved.
• Average tenant collection rates have increased to 96%
• Change to PEC meter reading and utility monitoring service resulting in improved utility recoveries.

ORE as responsible corporate citizen is continuously 
reviewing its processes and procedures.

COVID-19 protocols are in place at all our properties and 
improved health and safety measures are constantly 
being updated.

With the restrictions placed on gatherings in terms of 
COVID-19 protocols our in-house training programs 
have suffered as a result.

BEE is still very much part of our agenda, and we are 
looking forward to securing more BEE deals in the 
coming financial year.

I am proud to announce that the financial position 
of ORE is currently in a healthy position with low debt 
(gearing) and consequently a below industry norm LTV.

We are currently in the negotiating and funding phases 
of property acquisitions for a combined value of R150 
million. This together with a number of expansion and 
redevelopment projects currently underway will keep 
us busy for the foreseeable future and will continue to 
strengthen our balance sheet and improve financial 
returns.

GENERAL INFORMATION
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It is with great sadness that the board of directors of ORE (the “Board”) informs shareholders, 
in accordance with section 6.3.1.2 of the Listings Requirements of ZAR X Proprietary Limited, of the passing of 
Mr Richard Wilkinson, the Chairperson of the Board, on 9 August 2021.

The Board expresses its sincere condolences to Richard’s family in this difficult time.

Not only was Richard the Company’s long standing Chairman, but also a dear friend to whom many turned to 
for guidance and direction. His positive spirit, zest for life and belief in the human spirit will remain with everybody 
who knew him.

Mr Theuns Oosthuizen will temporarily assume the role of Chairman of the Board until a formal appointment is 
made and shareholders will be advised of the new appointment in due course.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Appointed Advisor

AcaciaCap Advisors Proprietary Limited
Johannesburg
11 August 2021

I wish to thank my fellow board members for their continued support and efforts during the
past nine months particularly in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic and consequential lockdown 
of our economy.

I also wish to thank the executive team for their successes during the past year and to offer them my support and 
encouragement for the exciting chapter ahead for ORE.

“It’s Happening @ ORE”

Theuns Oosthuizen
Chairman of the Board (Acting)
ORION REAL ESTATE LIMITED

In Memory of Richard S. Wilkinson

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
(continued)

Mr Richard
Wilkinson

1938 - 2021

A BEAUTIFUL SOUL IS  NEVER FORGOTTEN
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I am very happy to report that ORE  
had a very good 9 months to 30 
June 2021. This is an exceptional 
performance given the current 
COVID-19 pandemic conditions, 
various lockdown levels, social 
distancing, and the recent looting, 
vandalizing, and burning down of 

shopping centres, manufacturing 
plants and distribution centres mainly in KZN.

The Company’s financial year end was brought back to 
30 June for the following reasons;
• Most other associated companies in the wider 

“Orion Group” have June year ends.
• The 30 September year end placed significant 

constraints on the audit and reporting processes 
since audit staff typically go on study leave during 
this period.

• The ZAR X 4 month reporting deadline for a 
September year end Company end on 31 
January. However, at least 6 weeks of this period 

is taken up by auditor study leave, annual leave 
and year end shutdowns typical in South Africa.

Despite the general malaise in the South African 
economy topped by massive unemployment, 
government corruption and skills shortages we at ORE 
kept on working at;
• System improvements
• Appropriate staffing including management and 

general workers
• Tight credit controls
• Tight controls over spending and capex
• Renewed focus on letting and marketing vacant 

spaces
• Big focus on redeveloping and expanding our 

existing spaces.

Much of the redevelopment and expansion of spaces will produce positive results in the 2022 financial year but 
the planning and much of the groundwork was initiated during this financial year.

The most significant and financially rewarding outcomes during this lockdown period were;
• Reducing vacancies from 18% to 15%
• Reduced borrowings by R6,35 million resulting in reduced LTV from 14% to 13%
• Net asset value per share (NAV) increased by 6% or 92.7 cents to 98.1 cents
• Of our portfolio of 22 properties there is a mortgage over Promenade and 296 Kent amounting to R80.9 

million small loan balances remain over Wartburger Hof Hotel and Eskom Phalaborwa. All other properties 
in our portfolio are DEBT FREE.

• Increasing gross rental income (adjusted for 12 months) by 30.1%
• Reducing property management and administration costs (adjusted for 12 months) by 24%
• Increasing Rates and utility recoveries (adjusted for 12 months) by 72%
• Securing a number of national retailers for our Promenade Centre
• Securing national tenants for our Wendywood Shopping Centre redevelopment
• Continuous improvements in water and electricity consumption efficiencies.

During the current financial year, no properties were 
acquired or disposed of. This is an indicator of the tough 
market conditions, banks conservative lending policies 
and our conservative gearing and investment policies.

Our current LTV stands at only 13% which creates 
opportunities to grow our portfolio by acquisitions utilising 
the ungeared properties as collateral. The portfolio 
value has increased by R15.2 million or 2.7% mainly due 
to increased occupancy & rental income. We took a 
very conservative approach to poor performing assets 
and either wrote them down or reduced it to a zero 
value.

Past municipal council arrears have been successfully 
dealt with by either negotiating significant write downs, 
payments and acknowledgement of debt’s (“AOD”) 
which will extinguish the remaining council debts in 
the short to medium term.  The weakest part of our 

portfolio remains the two hotel properties namely Hotel 
Promenade in Nelspruit and Wartburger Hof Hotel in 
KZN.

The ground floor and basement areas of the Hotel 
Promenade are in the process of being converted to 
prime retail space of approximately 5,000 sqm at a cost 
of approximately R5.6 million. The upper floor of hotel 
bedrooms will be converted to furnished residential 
apartments. The combined additional future value to 
be created with this conversion amounts to around 
R100 million.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
(continued)

Wartburger Hof Hotel is on the “For sale or TO LET” list. 
The value of R7 million is insignificant in our books and 
we are confident that we will find some deal.

“Do more with less” remains our day-to-day operating 
method and to this end our recent tenant installations 
are testimony to this strategy.

Company Culture and Values
Our team has come through the past 15 months of 
COVID-19 lockdowns, self-isolation, overcoming the 
disease and other COVID-19 related psychological 
challenges with flying colours and I am proud to say 
that this team has stood the test of time and we will 
move forward in a decisive and productive manner.

More than ever before we have to rely on our core 
values:
• Honesty
• Integrity
• Innovation & Productivity
• Generosity
• Reward & Recognition
• Treating people with Dignity

Our long-term commitment to team coaching and 
the numerous in-house training programmes we offer is 
testimony to our intent.

We currently employ 105 Staff (2020: 104 staff) directly 
as full-time employees.

Investment in training and people development 
amounted to R277 070 (2020: R128 853).

Governance Structure
ORE has a unitary board, which fulfils the oversight and 
control functions. The responsibilities of the board are 
set out in the board charter.

At 30 June 2021 the board consisted of four non-
executive directors including the chairman of the 
board and two executive directors. Three non-
executive directors are independent as defined in King 
IV.  The roles of the chairman of the board and the chief 
executive officer are separate ensuring a clear division 
of duties and responsibilities.

The various directors bring a wealth of knowledge, 
experience, and skills to the board. The shareholders 
have established an audit and risk committee in terms 
of the requirements of the companies act of South 
Africa.

The board has established a number of other 
committees to enable it to perform its duties, these are 
the social and ethics committee and the remuneration 
committee.

Assurance
The Company has continued to follow the combined 
assurance model whereby assurance for different 
aspects of the report will be provided by different 
assurance providers. The audit committee has agreed 
to limit the external assurance to financial.

Mr Franz Gmeiner
Chief Executive Officer
ORION REAL ESTATE LIMITED
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2021 2020 % change
Revenue from contacts with customers for the 
12-month period/year

64,971,974 66,446,571 -2%

Profit before taxation 38,487,520 28,354,856 36%
Net profit attributable to equity holders 34,406,229 130,591,397 -74%

The directors present their report for the 9-month  
period ended 30 June 2021.  The Company changed 
its year end from 30 September to 30 June, with the 
prior comparative period being for the year ended 30 
September 2020.

Review of Activities
Main Business and Operations
ORE is listed on ZAR X and complies  
with all the requirements to maintain its REIT. ORE‘s 
main business is the investment in and letting 
of real estate property across various property 
segments.

The 2021 financial year was a period of further 
consolidation and planning for expansion. Profit after 
taxation for the nine months period ended 30 June 2021 
was R34.4 million. The profit before taxation also includes 
a fair value gain of R15.2 million (2020: R44.2 Million) on 
the property portfolio due to improved performance 
of certain of the properties. The prior year net profit 
contained a once off reversal of a deferred taxation 
liability.

Despite the general malaise in the South African economy 
topped by massive unemployment, government 
corruption and skills shortages the Company kept on 
working at:
• System improvements
• Appropriate staffing, including management and 

general workers
• Tight credit controls
• Tight controls over spending and capex
• Renewed focus on letting and marketing vacant 

spaces
• Big focus on redeveloping and expanding existing 

spaces

Company Addresses 
The Company’s addresses are as  follows:
Registered Office &
Business Address Postal Address

3rd Floor
26 Wellington Road
Parktown
Johannesburg
2193

PO Box 1885
Houghton
Johannesburg
2198

The operating results improved substantially compared 
to the prior reporting period demonstrating.  This is an 
exceptional performance given the current COVID-19 
pandemic conditions, various lockdown levels, social 
distancing and the recent looting, vandalising and 
burning down of shopping centres, manufacturing 
plants and distribution centres, mainly in KwaZulu-Natal 
(“KZN”).

Much of the redevelopment and expansion of spaces 
will produce positive results in the 2022 financial year 
but the planning and much of the groundwork was  
initiated during this financial year.

The most significant and financially rewarding 
outcomes during this lockdown period were:
• Reducing vacancies from 18% to 15%
• Reduced borrowings by R6.35 million resulting in 

reduced LTV from 14% to 13%
• Net asset value per share increased by 6% or 92.7 

cents to 98.1 cents
• Of the Company’ portfolio of 22 properties, there 

is a mortgage over Promenade and 296 Kent 
amounting to R80.9 million. Small loan balances  
remain over the Wartburger Hof Hotel and Eskom  

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Financial Results
The Group’s 9-month performance against previous year’s 12 months results is summarised as follows:

Phalaborwa. All other properties in the portfolio 
are free of debt

• Increasing gross rental income (adjusted for 12 
months) by 30.1%

• Reducing property management and 
administration costs (adjusted for 12 months) by 
24%

• Increasing rates and utility recoveries (adjusted for 
12 months) by 72%

• Securing a number of national retailers for our 
Promenade Centre

• Securing national tenants for the Wendywood 
Centre redevelopment

• Continuous improvements in water and electricity 
consumption efficiencies
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During the current financial year, no properties were 
acquired or disposed of. This is an indicator of the 
tough market conditions, banks’ conservative lending 
policies and the Company’s conservative gearing and 
investment policies. ORE’s current LTV stands at only 
13% which creates opportunities to grow its portfolio 
by acquisitions utilising the ungeared properties as 
collateral. 

The portfolio value has increased by R15.2 million or 
2.7% mainly due to increased occupancy and rental 
income. Management internally valued the properties  
and are satisfied that the value of the properties is 
appropriate and fairly valued. Management believes 
that the property values will be consistent in the next 
financial year. The Company took a very conservative 
approach to poor performing assets and impaired the 
value, where necessary. The weakest part of ORE’s 
portfolio remains the two hotel properties namely the 
Hotel Promenade in Nelspruit and the Wartburger Hof 
Hotel in KZN. 

Past municipal council arrears have been successfully  
dealt with by either negotiating significant write downs, 
payments or agreements of debt which will extinguish 
the remaining council debts in the short to medium 
term. 

The ground floor and basement areas of the Hotel 
Promenade are in the process of being converted 
to prime retail space of approximately 5 000 sqm at 
a cost of approximately R5.6 million. The upper floor 
of the hotel bedrooms will be converted to furnished 
residential apartments. The combined additional 
future value to be created with this conversion 
amounts to around R100 million. The Wartburger 
Hof Hotel is on the “For sale or TO LET” list. The value 
of R7 million is insignificant in the Company’s books 
and the Company is confident that a transaction will 
materialise.

“Do more with less” remains ORE’s day to day operating  
method and to this end its recent tenant installations 
are testimony to this strategy.

ORE currently employ 105 Staff (2020: 104 staff) directly  
as full-time employees.  Investment in training and 
people development amounted to R277 070 (2020: 
R128 853)

IFRS and Basis of Preparation
The consolidated annual financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as 
amended (“the Act”), the ZAR X Listings Requirements, 
as well as the framework concepts and the recognition  
and measurement requirements of International  
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
(continued)

Company Controlled by
Orion Hotels and Resorts 
(SA) Proprietary Limited A C Gmeiner

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
annual results for the 9 month period ended 30 June 
2021 are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those 
applied in the preparation of the annual financial 
statements of the Group for the 12 months ended 30 
September 2020. 

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
annual results for the 9 month period ended 30 June 
2021 are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those 
applied in the preparation of the annual financial 
statements of the Group for the 12 months ended 30 
September 2020. 

Going Concern and Solvency and Liquidity
The Group annual financial statements have been  
prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable  
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will 
be available to finance future operations and that the 
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business.

The directors believe that the group has adequate  
financial resources to continue operations for the  
foreseeable future and accordingly the group financial  
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that the 
group is in a sound financial position and that its assets 
fairly valued are greater than its liabilities fairly valued.  
At 30 June 2021, the Group had one bond, secured 
over two properties, with the remainder of the property  
portfolio being unsecured with good tenants.

Group’s management has considered the cash flow 
forecast for the next 12 months. Based on this they  
remain satisfied with the group’s liquidity position.  
Cash flow management is sound.

Directors’ Interest in Contracts
Rental agreements are in place between ORE, its 
subsidiaries and controlled trust with the following 
companies:

All related party balances and transactions are fully 
disclosed in related party note 26.

There has been no change in the above interests from 
the year-end until the date of approval of the annual 
financial statements.

Authorised and Issued Share Capital
The authorised share capital comprises of 2 000 000 000 
shares with no par value. The authorised and unissued 
shares are under the control of the directors of the 
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Directors
The directors of the group during the period and to the 
date of this report are as follows:

Mr TFJ Oosthuizen was appointed as Chairman  
subsequent to the year end and stepped down as 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee, although 
he remains a member of this Committee.

Directors’ Remuneration
Details of directors’ remuneration for the period 30 
June 2021 are disclosed in note 32. The remuneration 
committee advises, inter alia, on the remuneration 
of the executive directors and this is approved at 
the board meeting.  The report of the Remuneration 
Committee is set out on pages 25 - 27 of the Annual 
Report.

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration
The non-executive directors’ remuneration for the year 
ending 30 June 2022 will be tabled for approval at the 
AGM.

Company Secretary
Light Consulting Proprietary Limited was appointed as 
Company Secretary with effect from 1 January 2020 
after the retirement of the former Company secretary.  
Light Consulting Proprietary Limited has extensive  
experience as a Company Secretary and in corporate 
governance matters, providing outsource Company 
secretarial services to a number of listed and unlisted 
companies. As required by ZAR X Listing Requirement, 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the 
Board, respectively, are satisfied that the Company 
Secretary has appropriate expertise and experience 
and operates in an independent manner and on an 
arm’s length basis.

Name Nature of
appointment Nationality

RS Wilkinson 
(Chair)(&)

Independent 
Non-executive 
Chairman

South African

MDK Mthembu Independent 
Non-executive South African

Dr AC Gmeiner Non-executive 
Director South African

F Gmeiner
Chief Executive 
Officer Austrian

TFJ Oosthuizen Independent 
Non-executive South African

R Bolleurs (*) Financial Director South African

Ms N Gmeiner (#) Non-executive 
Director South African

Ms IA Gmeiner (#) Non-executive 
Director South African

N Esterhuizen (^) Independent 
Non-executive South African

& - passed away on 9 August 2021
* - appointed 09 October 2020

# - appointed 21 September 2021
^ - appointed 29 September 2021

Company, subject to the provisions of the MOI, the 
Act and the ZAR X Listings Requirements. There are no 
treasury shares held as at the last practicable date.

For further details regarding the shares in issue, refer to 
note 12 in the annual report.

Special Resolutions and Issue/Repurchase of Shares
No special resolutions were passed during the period 
under review, other than the following special resolutions 
which were passed at the AGM held on 4 June 2021:
• Approval of authority to issue shares, securities 

convertible into shares or rights that may exceed 
30% of the voting power of the current issued share 
capital; 

• Approval of non-executive directors’ fees;
• Approval of the general authority to enter into 

funding agreements, provide loans or other 
financial assistance in terms of Section 44 and 45 of 
the Companies Act, 2008; and

• Approval of general authority to acquire 
(repurchase) shares

No special resolutions were passed at a subsidiary level 
during the year under review.

No shares were issued or repurchased during the period 
under review.

Share Spread
The shareholder spread is disclosed in note 31.

Borrowing Powers of Directors
The Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) authorises 
the directors to borrow or raise for the purposes of 
the Group such sums as they deem fit in particular by 
mortgage bond or by the issue of new shares in the 
Group, whether unsecured or charged upon all or any 
part of the property of the Group. The level of borrowings 
is within the limits authorised by the Memorandum of 
Incorporation

Distributions
As a result of the current year’s taxable income a 
dividend would be declared in the ordinary course 
of business. As a result of tax losses brought forward 
from prior years the amount of the final dividend 
to be declared is still uncertain. As soon as the final 
figure is available the directors will advise shareholders 
accordingly. 

ORE’s income tax reference number is 976 919 6719.  
ORE currently has 643 121 688 shares in issue.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
(continued)
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The contact addresses of the Company secretary are 
as follows:
Business Address Postal Address
20 Stirrup Lane
Woodmead Office Park
Corner Woodmead Drive
& Van Reenens Avenue
Woodmead
2191

Suite #439
Private Bag X29
Gallo Manor
2052

Transfer Secretary
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited is 
appointed as the transfer secretary for the Company.

Directors’ Shareholding
The directors’ shareholding is disclosed in note 12.  There 
has been no change in the above interests from the year 
end until the date of approval of the annual financial 
statements.

Independent Auditors
Business 2 Business Incorporated was appointed as 
independent auditors for the period ended 30 June 2021, 
with Mr Hendrik Rothmann as the audit director.

At the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), the  
shareholders will be requested to approve the interim 
appointment of Business 2 Business Incorporated as the 
independent external auditors of the Company for the 
period ended 30 June 2021 and for the forthcoming year 
ending 30 June 2022 and to confirm Mr Rainier Stolz as the 
designated lead audit partner for the 2021 period and 
the 2022 financial year.

Litigation Statement
Other than set out below in these financials the  
directors are not aware of any legal or arbitration 
procedures that are pending or threatening, that 
may have had, in the previous 12 months, a material  
effect on the Group’s financial position.

Litigation over Orion House (agterkot)
Orion Property Holding Trust is currently engaged 
in legal matters with regards to a R10 million agter-
skot relating to the sale of Orion House in April 2019.  
Although Management is confident that it will be 
succeed in this matter, no recovery of this amount 
has been anticipated in these financial statements.

Litigation over Erf 107, Bramley (593 Louis Botha Avenue)
Ixia Trading 532 (Pty) Ltd is currently engaged in legal 
matter with City of Johannesburg (“COJ”) over in-
correct billing from April 2020 to date, to the amount 
of R2, 947, 273.51.

Litigation over Erf 195, Elma Park
The subsidiary Company Erf 195 Elma Park (Pty) Ltd 
was placed in liquidation on 22 September 2016.  
Currently the Company is engaged in litigation to 

Interest in Subsidiary Companies and Controlled Trusts
The net income/(loss) after taxation per subsidiaries and 
controlled trust for the 9 months ended 30 June 2021 
were as follows:

Name of Subsidiary or 
Trust

% 
Holding

Net Income/
(Loss) after 
Taxation (R)

Trading Companies
Orion Property 
Holding Trust

100% 18,805,745

Ixia Trading 532 
Proprietary Limited

100% 6,292,559

SBD Investments 
Proprietary Limited

100% (948,406)

Star Storage 
Proprietary Limited

100% 750,011

Dormant Companies
CBB Properties 
Proprietary Limited

100% (3,866)

Gold Edge III 
Proprietary Limited

100% -

Orion Development One 
Proprietary Limited

100% -

Orion Development Two 
Proprietary Limited

100% -

Orion Development Three 
Proprietary Limited

85% -

Total 24,896,043
The above entities are incorporated in the Republic of 
South Africa.
have this Company moved from “in liquidation” 
to “business rescue”. If successful, the chances of  
recovering a portion of the amounts written off in this 
investment will increase significantly.

COVID-19 and Civil Unrest
As mentioned previously, the Group was fortunate 
in that its business was not negatively impacted by 
COVID-19 and in fact, vacancies reduced during 
2020 and 2021 due to the profile of the property 
portfolio.  A number of staff members suffered from 
COVID-19 but fortunately all recovered.

Full protocols have been put in place as required.

Furthermore, none of the properties were damaged 
during the riots subsequent to the year end.

Events after Reporting Date
All events subsequent to the date of the separate 
annual financial statements and for which the  
applicable financial reporting framework requires 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or 
disclosed.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
(continued)
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CERTIFICATE BY THE GROUP SECRETARY
In our capacity as Company Secretary, we hereby confirm in terms of Section 88(2) (e) of 
the Companies Act, that for the nine months ended 30 June 2021, the Group has lodged 
with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as required of a 
public Company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct 
and up to date.
  
Michelle Krastanov
Light Consulting (Proprietary) Limited 
Company SECRETARY

Prospects
With the property portfolio performing well, improved controls and reporting, a stabilised and good staff  
complement, improved cash flows and a low level of gearing, the Company is now focused on refurbishing or 
repurposing certain of its properties in order to enhance the performance of the group.  The Company is also 
looking at expanding the property portfolio through acquisitions.  Accordingly, the prospects of the Group are 
looking promising.

F Gmeiner

R Bolleurs

R Bolleurs

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
(continued)
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EMPLOYMENT REPORT
The Orion Way
As part of the “Orion Way” – the way we conduct our business – we have a core set of beliefs that glue our culture 
together. These core values are

The Company has a set of processes and systems in 
place in support of each value:
• Our values of Honesty and Integrity are supported 

by our anonymous whistle-blowing platform where 
employees can report any irregularities, regardless 
of who committed the misconduct and without 
fear of retaliation.

• Our employees are provided the opportunity to 
attend any of our internal training programmes, the 
Company’s management teams receive monthly 
team coaching and line managers are trained 
up as coaches, while the cost of the training and 
coaching is subsidised by the Company. Each team 
in coaching is also required to have a dedicated 
social responsibility project for each year in which 
they must be actively involved. This is part of how 
we live out our value of Generosity.

• We acknowledge that Reward and Recognition 
plays a big role in the productivity levels of our 
employees and reward and recognise our 
employees in a number of ways, such as employee 
of the month awards, staff parties, recognising and 
celebrating our successes and accomplishments, 
financial incentives and many more.

• To foster Innovation and Productivity each team 
must set monthly goals, which helps them focus 
their actions and assists leaders in tracking progress 
and performance. We further support this value 
with our “Innovation Drive” where employees are 
encouraged to submit their innovative ideas and 
are rewarded for ideas that are approved and 
implemented.

• Many of the processes and systems already 
mentioned will form part of Treating People 
with Dignity. Further to this we promote healthy 
communication within the Company in a number 
of ways such as regular one-on-one performance 
discussions between managers and subordinates, 
monthly staff meetings, various committees and our 
intranet.

Recruitment
ORE seeks to attract the best candidates, both from 
within the organisation and externally, for each available 
position in the Company and, as such, we have a very 
strict and advanced recruitment procedure which 
includes several rounds of interviews, psychometric 
assessments, skills assessments, background and 

Honesty Integrity Treating People 
with Dignity Generosity Reward & 

Recognition
Innovation & 
Productivity

reference checks in order to ensure a good  
job-candidate match, while keeping employment 
equity in mind. In our efforts to improve our equity figures, 
67% of the staff we recruited during this reporting period 
were from previously disadvantaged backgrounds.

Training and Development
The provision of training and development opportunities 
forms part of our overall people development strategy in 
that we aim to build and retain a competent workforce 
to meet current and future human capital requirements, 
and to create an environment in which employees 
can develop to their full potential to the benefit of 
themselves, the Company, and our customers.

We are a team-based organisation and pride ourselves 
in empowering our teams through our entrenched 
coaching culture, where all management teams 
receive ongoing coaching to help them develop 
and grow as leaders, and to empower them to gain 
a “beginning-to-end” understanding of their business. 
What happens then is a greater understanding of all the 
elements and functions of making a business successful 
and the impact each element has on the other – not 
only focusing on the “bottom line” but all other intricate 
processes that will eventually lead to profit on the 
“bottom line”. Our management teams are also trained 
to become coaches themselves and are required to 
coach their respective teams on an ongoing basis in 
order to cascade this coaching culture to every level of 
the organisation.

Further to this, each employee is provided with 
the opportunity to attend our various internal 
training programmes, which focus mainly on 
leadership development, service orientation and  
self-management skills. However, due to COVID-19 and 
its relating restrictions and effects on business operations 
we focused more on up-skilling and multi-skilling our 
employees through various means such as e-learning 
initiatives and on-the-job training, and create more 
depth and efficiency in our teams. 
We also invested in developing our youth by creating 
internship opportunities with the aim of offering 
meaningful, practical and professional learning 
experiences. The total Training and Development 
expenditure for the financial reporting period amounted 
to R140 244.34.
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(continued)
EMPLOYMENT REPORT

67% 
of the staff recruited from previously 
disadvantaged backgrounds

76% 
of the staff had the opportunity to attend 
our coaching programme were from 
previously disadvantaged backgrounds

Remuneration Policy
The Group strives to remunerate its employees at market 
related salaries and the board will be guided by one 
or more appropriate annual salary surveys produced 
by Industry specialists. The Group’s remuneration 
philosophy is to remunerate employees fairly and 
responsibly in a balanced approach, in order to attract, 
retain and motivate competent individuals who can 
contribute meaningfully to the sustainable growth of 
the Company.

Positions/Jobs are evaluated using a mechanism 
designed and provided by an external expert, with this 
job grading exercise being undertaken every two to 
three years.

The Board, in consultation with industry experts and 
management, design all incentive schemes, (long 
and short term) to:
• Promote growth in quality sustainable earnings
• Align shareholder and management objectives
• Enhance the ability to recruit and retain key 

employees and management

The structure and basis for Performance Based 
Incentives will be approved by the Board from time to 
time to be aligned with Company strategy and current 
shareholder and management objectives.

Once an average CPI increase is agreed to by the Board, 
the executive committee will determine individual 
application of increases, with variances being due to 
higher or lower performance ratings based on regular 
formal KPA reviews.

Employees whose performance is above expectation 
receive higher than CPI increases, those with below 
expectation performance receive increases below CPI 
with the overall increase of payroll costs to Company 
not increasing by more than CPI each year.

shareholders within the previous two years. After 
review by the Board, the remuneration rates for  
non-executive directors, are approved by shareholders 
at each AGM of the financial year, following the year 
under review. Rates for the 2020/21 financial year are 
set out in the Notice of AGM.

Non-executive directors receive fees for services 
on board and board committees. Non-executive 
directors do not receive short-term incentives and do 
not participate in any long-term incentive scheme. 
Increases are presented to the shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM and reflect the market dynamics 
and the increasingly heavy demands being made on 
the individuals.

The Company’s memorandum of incorporation does 
not limit, restrict or qualify the power of the Company 
to pay remuneration to its directors for their service 
as directors in accordance with section 66(9) of the 
Companies Act.

The Remuneration Policy was almost unanimously 
approved by the shareholders at the previous AGM 
and there was no engagement with shareholders in 
terms of the remuneration policy.

Implementation Report
The members of the Remuneration Committee are:
• Dr AC Gmeiner
• Mr F Gmeiner
• Mr TFJ Oosthuizen

The remuneration committee has considered the 
remuneration for non-executive directors and  
the board has accepted the recommendations of  
the remuneration committee.

The Remuneration Committee oversees the 
remuneration of the Executive Directors. Remuneration, 
in particular as it relates to executive management,  
is motivated by the dual criteria of delivering sustainable 
financial returns to shareholders and the recognition 
and reward for outstanding performance. Executive 
compensation is also linked to the achievement of the 
organisation’s non-financial goals.

Compliance with the 2020 remuneration policy:
The Remuneration Committee Directors’ are satisfied 
that the Company substantially complied with the 
remuneration policy in 2021.

There was no increase in salaries of salaried employees 
in 2021. The increment for executive directors and 
prescribed officers is in line with market practice and 
current Company affordability. No short term or long-
term incentives were awarded for the year ended 30 
June 2021.

Section 66(8) (read with section 66(9)) of the 
Companies Act provides that, to the extent permitted 
in the Company’s memorandum of incorporation, 
the Company may pay remuneration to its  
non-executive directors for their services as directors 
provided that such remuneration may only be paid 
in accordance with a special resolution approved by
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We present our report for the nine months ended 30 
June 2021.

The Audit and Risk Committee (“the ARC Committee”) is 
an independent statutory committee appointed by the 
shareholders. Further duties are delegated to the ARC 
Committee by the directors of the group. This report 
includes both these sets of duties and responsibilities.

Introduction
The ARC Committee submit its report, as required by 
section 94.7(f), (g) and (h) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended.

Functions of the ARC Committee
The functions of the ARC Committee include:
• Review of the interim and year-end financial 

statements and accounting practices, culminating 
with a recommendation to the Board.

• Review of the external audit reports, after audit of 
the year-end financial statements.

• Review of the risk management reports, which, 
when relevant, culminate in recommendations 
being made to the Board of Directors.

• In the course of its review the ARC Committee:
- takes appropriate steps to ensure that financial

statements are prepared in accordance with 
IFRS;

- considers and, makes recommendations to the 
Board on internal financial controls and the 
going concern concept analysis;

- verifies the independence of the external 
auditor;

- authorises the audit fees in respect of the year-
end audits, in conjunction with the Board;

- specifies guidelines on the nature and extent 
and pre-approves agreements with the auditors, 
for the provision of non-audit services;

- evaluates the effectiveness of risk management, 
controls and the governance processes, in all 
Group Companies;

- evaluates the performance of the Financial 
Director, as required by ZAR X Listings 
Requirement;

- deals with matters relating to the following:
• Accounting practices;
• Internal audit;
• The audit or content of Annual Financial 

Statements; and
• Internal financial controls.

Members of the ARC Committee
The members of the ARC Committee are: 

Member Attendance for the 
Period under Review

Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (independent 
Non-Executive) (Chairman) 3/3

Mr MDK Mthembu
(independent Non-Executive) 3/3

Mr RS Wilkinson (independent 
Non-Executive) 3/3

REPORT OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Mr RS Wilkinson sadly passed away on 9 August 2021 
and Mr TFJ Oosthuizen was appointed as Chairman 
of the Board subsequent to year end, thus stepping 
down as the Chairman of the ARC Committee 
subsequent to year end but remains as a member 
of this Committee.  On 29 September 2021, Mr N 
Esterhuysen has been appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director and will be appointed as the 
Chairman of the ARC Committee.
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REPORT OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
(continued)

The executive directors attend Committee meetings by 
invitation, including any other director who wishes to 
attend.

The members of the ARC Committee have at all 
times acted in an independent manner and Messrs. 
Oosthuizen and Mthembu have been proposed for 
re-appointment as ARC Committee members at the 
upcoming AGM.  Mr Esterhuysen has been proposed 
for appointment as a member of the ARC Committee.

Auditors’ Attendance at Committee Meetings
External Auditor
The role of the ARC Committee relating to the external 
auditor and external audit is prescribed by section 94 
of the Act and further guidance is provided by the King 
IV and the ZAR X Listings Requirements. In summary the 
ARC Committee is required to:

• make recommendations to the Board, for it to put 
to the shareholders for their approval in a general 
meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor;

• approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor; 

• review and monitor the external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness 
of the audit process; and

• develop and implement policy on the engagement 
of the external auditor to supply non-audit services. 

The reappointment of Nexia SAB&T Incorporate was not 
approved at the AGM held on 4 June 2021. 

The ARC Committee has since considered the 
appointment of Business 2 Business CA (SA) 
Incorporated (“Business 2 Business”) to be appointed as 
the independent external auditors to the Company for 
the nine months ended 30 June 2021 as well as for the 
year ending 30 June 2022 as well as the appointment 
Mr Hendrik Johan Rothmann (“Mr Hendrik Rothmann”) 
as the proposed designated audit partner. The ARC 
Committee has reviewed the documentation provided 
to it by Business 2 Business and has had open discussions 
with Mr Hendrik Rothmann in considering the suitability 
for appointment of both Business 2 Business and Mr 
Hendrik Rothmann.

Non-audit services provided by the external auditors 
must be in compliance with an approved policy. There 
were no non-audit services provided during the year 
under review.  

Internal Financial Controls
The ARC Committee is of the opinion that ORE’s system 
of internal financial controls and financial reporting 
procedures continue to be effective and operating 
and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable financial 
statements. 

procedures continue to be effective and operating 
and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable 
financial statements.  

The Company has not reappointed an internal auditor 
based on the size of the Company, the improvement 
in the system of internal financial controls and 
considering information and explanations given by 
management, together with discussions held with 
the external auditors on the results of their audit.  
The consideration of internal audit continues being 
a standing agenda item for the ARC Committee 
meetings scheduled for the year.  

Compliance
The ARC Committee reviewed with management, 
legal matters that could have a material financial 
impact on the Group. It also assessed compliance 
with all other statutory duties under section 94(7) 
of the Companies Act, King IV and ZAR X Listings 
Requirements.

Expertise and Experience of Financial Director
As required by ZAR X Listings Requirements section 6, 
point 6.9.1.2:
• the ARC Committee was satisfied that the 

Financial Director had the appropriate expertise 
and qualifications. Mr RG Bolleurs was appointed 
as Financial Director during the year under review 
and Mr Leon Thompson the current financial 
manager, has assisted with the ongoing financial 
function.  The ARC Committee has satisfied itself 
that both Mr Thompson and Mr Bolleurs have 
the appropriate qualifications, expertise and 
experience to fulfil the finance function;

• that the finance function has the appropriate 
resources to perform its functions effectively and 
efficiently; and

• the Company has established appropriate 
financial reporting procedures and that those 
procedures are operating effectively, noting that 
there has been a significant improvement during 
the period under review.

Review of Financial Statements
The financial statements were prepared by the 
Financial Manager and were reviewed by the 
Financial Director and Chief Executive Officer 
in accordance with applicable legislation and 
accounting framework and submitted to the ARC 
Committee for review prior to submission to the Board 
for approval.

As stipulated in the Companies Act, Chapter 94(7)(f), the 
ARC Committee has reviewed the accounting policies 
and practices applied by the Group and is satisfied 
that the financial statements were prepared on the 
basis of appropriate, relevant accounting policies, IFRS 
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and applicable statutory and regulatory guidelines. 

The ARC Committee considered all aspects where 
significant judgments and estimates were involved 
in the preparation of the annual financial statements 
that could have a material impact on those financial 
statements. 

The ARC Committee has considered the Integrated 
Report and assessed its consistency with operational, 
financial and other information known to ARC 
Committee members, and for consistency with the 
Annual Financial Statements. The ARC Committee 
is satisfied that the integrated report is materially 
accurate, complete and reliable, and consistent with 
the Annual Financial Statements. The ARC Committee 
recommended the integrated report, incorporating 
the Annual Financial Statements, for the nine months 
ended 30 June 2021 for approval by the Board.

Approval of Report
The ARC Committee confirms from 1 September 
2020 to 30 June 2021 that they have functioned in 
accordance with their terms of reference and as 
required by the Act and that the report has been 
approved by the Directors of the Board.  

Approval of Financial Statements
The ARC Committee reviewed and recommended 
the financial statements for approval by the Board 
of Directors and considers the financial statements 
of ORE and its subsidiaries and controlled trust to be 
a fair presentation of its financial position on 30 June 
2021 and of the results of the operations, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the period then ended, in 

accordance with IFRS, the Act and the ZAR X Listing 
Requirements.  

Risk Management Policy
In accordance with the risk management policy 
adopted by the Group, the Company is specifically 
prohibited from entering into any derivative 
transactions that fall outside of the Company’s 
normal course of business.  The ARC Committee have 
monitored compliance with the risk management 
policy and ORE has materially complied with the 
policy during the period ended 30 June 2021.

Conclusion
The ARC Committee is satisfied that it has executed its 
duties and responsibilities during the year in line with 
its terms of reference, the Companies Act section 
94.7, King IV and section 12.1.1.8 of the ZAR X Listings 
Requirements.

TFJ Oosthuizen
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee
26 October 2021

REPORT OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
(continued)
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We present our report for the 9-month financial period 
ended 30 June 2021.

ORE’s Social and Ethics Committee (“the Committee”) 
is a statutory committee which assists the board of 
directors (“the Board”) in monitoring the group’s  
corporate citizenship, sustainability, and ethics.

Originally formed in 1991 with the purchase of Intec 
House in downtown Johannesburg’s financial district, 
the Company has grown steadily and evolved into 
a diversified property fund of nearly R700 million 
with in-house asset management and property 
management. The next evolutionary phase will  
include the incorporation of all property management 
service divisions into the main Company. Entering the 
development arena is a top priority with the 
redevelopment of existing properties as well as green 
fields developments. Moving into Africa is also high on 
the agenda.

The Committee performs an oversight, monitoring 
and reporting role to ensure that the Company’s 
business is conducted in an ethical and properly 
governed manner and to develop and review policies, 
governance structures and existing practices which 
guide the Company’s approach to new and emerging 
challenges.

The Committee has approved a Code of Ethics (“the 
Code”) that reflects the Company’s core values and 
embraces the principles as set out in King IV, where 
applicable. The Code, which is designed to ensure the 
effective management of ethics, commits all directors, 
employees, contractors, and other representatives 
of the Company to the highest ethical standards of 
conduct and amongst others regulates aspects of 
confidentiality, non-discrimination and the acceptance 
of gifts and bribes.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:
• Monitor activities relating to social and economic 

development, good corporate citizenship, the 
environment, health and public safety and 
consumer relationships

• Monitor the impact of the Company’s activities, 
products, or services on communities

• Monitor progress on strategic empowerment and 
performance against targets

• Monitor changes in the application and 
interpretation of empowerment charters and 
codes; and

• Monitor functions required in terms of the act and 
its regulations

ORE values its reputation and is committed to  
maintaining the highest level of ethical standards in 
the conduct of its business affairs. The actions and 
conduct of the Company’s employees as well its other 
representatives remain key to maintaining these 
standards.

To this end, and in accordance with Section 
72(4) of the Companies Act (No. 71 of 2008), as 
amended (“the Act”), Section 43(2) and (5) of the 
Companies Regulations and the King Report on  
Corporate Governance 2016 (“King IV”), the  
Committee was established by the Board to consider 
and monitor the moral and ethical conscience of  
ORE.

This report is presented in accordance with the  
requirements of the Act and forms part of the Integrated  
Annual Report.

Role of the Committee
The Committee acts in terms of the delegated authority 
of the Board and assists the directors in monitoring the 
group’s activities and disclosures in terms of legislation, 
regulation and codes of best practices relating to:

• Ethics
• Good corporate citizenship
• Social and economic development
• Sustainable development and sustainability
• Stakeholder engagement, including employees, 

customers, suppliers, communities, and the 
environment, and

• Strategic empowerment and transformation

REPORT OF SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE
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Composition and functioning
The members of the Social and Ethics Committee are:

REPORT OF SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE
(continued)

Member
Attendance for 

the period under
review

Dr AC Gmeiner 
(Non-Executive) (Chairperson) 3/3

Mr. F Gmeiner
(Executive) 3/3

Mr MDK Mthembu (independent 
Non-Executive) 3/3

Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (independent 
Non-Executive) 3/3

Mr RS Wilkinson (independent 
Non-Executive) 3/3

The Committee receives feedback from management 
and other committees and reports on any significant 
matters to the Board in terms of its mandate. The 
members of the Committee are nominated and  
appointed by the Board.

The Committee receives feedback from management 
and other committees and reports on any significant 
matters to the Board in terms of its mandate. The 
members of the Committee are nominated and 
appointed by the Board.

The remaining Board members are encouraged to attend 
committee meetings as invitees. The Committee met 4 
times during the year. Attendance at each committee 
meeting during the period under review is detailed on 
page 30 of the Integrated Annual Report. The effectiveness 
of the Committee will be assessed as part of the 
bi-annual Board and committee self- evaluation process. 
The next committee evaluation is scheduled during the 
second half of 2021.

Activities of the Committee
The responsibilities and functions of the Committee, which 
are aligned with the Committee’s statutory functions as 
set out in the Act, formed the basis of the work plan for 
2021. These activities are as follows:
To monitor the Company’s activities, having regard to 
any relevant legislation, other legal requirements, or 
prevailing codes of best practice, with regard to matters 
relating to:
• Social and economic development, including the 

Company’s standing in terms of the goals and 
purposes of:
(a) the 10 principles set out in the United Nations   
Global Compact Principles (“UNGCP”)
(b) the Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development (“OECD”) recommendations 
regarding corruption
(c) the Employment Equity Act (No. 55 of 1988); and
(d) the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

However, ORE has also adhered to the following 
matters, as mentioned above, with formal policies 
being implemented to address these:

• Social and economic development. ORE 
adheres to the principles set out in the UNGCP 
and the OECD recommendations on corruption. 
ORE meets the labour law requirements of the 
Employment Equity Act (No. 55 of 1988) and has 
formal policies on bribery and corruption and 
protected disclosures. ORE has zero tolerance for 
corruption. No incidents have been reported.

• Good corporate citizenship. ORE subscribes 
to the provisions of the Promotion of Equality 
and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act. No 
incidents have been reported.

• The environment, health, and public safety. 
ORE subscribes to and is compliant with the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act. No  
incidents have been reported during the period.

• Consumer relations. ORE subscribes to and is 
compliant with the Consumer Protection Act (No. 
68 of 2008). No incidents have been reported.

Act (No. 53 of 2003), as amended.
• Good corporate citizenship, including the Company’s:

(a) promotion of equality, prevention of unfair  
discrimination, and reduction of corruption
(b) contribution to development of the communities 
in which its activities are predominantly conducted or 
within which its products or services are predominantly 
marketed; and
(c) record of sponsorship, donations, and charitable 
giving.

• The environment, health, and public safety, including 
the impact of the Company’s activities and of its 
products or services.

• Consumer relationships, including the Company’s 
advertising, public relations, and compliance with 
consumer protection laws; and

• Labour and employment, including:
(a) the Company’s standing in terms of the International 
Labour Organization Protocol on decent work and 
working conditions.
(b) the Company’s employment relationships and its 
contribution toward the educational development 
of its employees.
(c) to draw matters within its mandate to the attention 
of the Board as occasion requires; and
(d) to report, through one of its members, to 
shareholders at the Company’s annual general 
meeting on the matters within its mandate.

During the year under review, the Committee attended 
to the matters relating to the work plan above and 
reported to the Board. ORE has realised that the 
monitoring of the above and conforming to the above 
will be ongoing work in progress within the Company 
structure.
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Key initiatives supported during the 9 months to June 
2021 are detailed below:

Name Contact 
Number

Abraham Kriel Childcare 011 839 3058
Blind SA 011 839 1793
Cancer Association of SA 011 616 7662
Childline Gauteng 
Children’s Disability Center 010 072 0782

Cotlands 011 683 7201
Doctors without Borders 011 403 4440
Girls and Boys Town 011 482 2655
JHB Children Home 011 023 6870
Little Eden 011 609 7246
Rainbow Childrens' Village 011 477 7140
SA Childrens' Cystic Fibrosis  
Association 011 894 6469

SA Guide Dog Association 
for the Blind 011 705 3512

SA National Council for Blind 012 452 3811
SOS Children's Villages South Africa 011 234 8708
SPCA 011 907 3590
The Thusanani Children’s  
Foundation 011 484 3128

The Salvation Army 011 718 6700
The Village Safe Haven 011 802 1461
United Palsy Association of SA 011 435 0386

The Committee’s mandate was recently updated and 
was also considered at the Board and Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings. This Committee considers the 
plan of work required to monitor the Group’s activities 
to ensure the Committee can fulfil its mandate.

Public Reporting and Assurance
The Committee, together with the Audit and Risk 
Committee, is responsible for reviewing and 
approving the sustainability content included in the 
Corporate Governance Report contained in the  
Integrated Annual Report and published on the  
Company’s website, as well as determining and  
making recommendations regarding the need for  
external assurance of the group’s public reporting on 
its sustainable performance. The Committee is of the 
view that, given the nature and size of the Company, 
external assurance is not required at present.

• Promotion of Access to Information (“PAIA”). 
ORE is compliant with the requirements of 
the Promotion of Access to Information Act 
(No. 2 of 2000) and recently updated it PAIA 
declaration on the website. No requests for 
information were received during the year under 
review.

• Protection of Personal Information. ORE 
subscribes to the Protection of Personal 
Information Act (No. 4 of 2013) and this has  
become a standing agenda item. Various  
policies and procedures have been introduced 
from 1 July 2020 onwards and has been a key 
focus area during 2021. No incidents have been 
reported.

• COVID-19. ORE introduced appropriate COVID-19 
health and safety protocols at all of its sites during 
2020 onwards, and also at its head office. A 
number of head office staff have had COVID-19 
during 2020 and 2021 and all have fortunately 
survived the virus. At each instance, the head 
office was closed and sanitised.

• Labour and employment. ORE supports and 
adheres to the terms of the International Labour 
Organisation Protocol. ORE is compliant with the 
following acts:
- Basic Conditions of Employment Act (No. 75  
       of 1997)
- Labour Relations Act (No. 66 of 1995)
- Skills and Development Levies Act (No. 9 of         
       1999); and
- the Unemployment Insurance Act (No. 63 of    
       2001)

In addition to the above, ORE has a procurement 
policy for its service providers and is compliant with the 
necessary by-laws, statutes, and regulations for the 
property industry.

Register of Donations and Charitable Giving
Whilst a register of donations is maintained by the  
Company, management has a program whereby 
all staff members are encouraged to support various  
initiatives, although these have been somewhat 
curtailed during the period under review due to 
COVID-19 and lockdown.

REPORT OF SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE
(continued)
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The Committee is also required to report through one of its members to the Company’s shareholders on the 
matters within its mandate at the Company’s AGM to be held on Wednesday, 24 November 2021. The Committee 
has elected to provide this written report to be included in the Integrated Annual Report as opposed to reporting 
verbally at the AGM.

In the notice of the AGM included in the Integrated Annual Report on page 103 to 110, shareholders are referred 
to this report by the Committee. Any specific questions to the Committee may be sent to the Company Secretary 
prior to the meeting.

Conclusion
No substantive non-compliance with legislation or regulation, or non–adherence with codes of best practice, 
relevant to the areas within the Committee’s mandate, has been brought to its attention. The Committee has no 
reason to believe that any such non-compliance or non-adherence has occurred during the year under review. 
Furthermore, the Committee is satisfied that it has operated in terms of its Board-approved charter.

Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
30 September 2021

REPORT OF SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE
(continued)
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Part I - Remuneration Policy
The Group strives to remunerate its employees at market 
related salaries and the board will be guided by one or 
more appropriate annual salary surveys produced by  
Industry specialists.

The Group’s remuneration philosophy is to remunerate  
employees fairly and responsibly in a balanced  
approach, in order to attract, retain and motivate  
competent individuals who can contribute meaningfully 
to the sustainable growth of the Company.

Positions/Jobs are evaluated using a mechanism  
designed and provided by an external expert, with this 
job grading exercise being undertaken every two to 
three years.

The board, in consultation with industry experts and 
management, design all incentive schemes (long and 
short term), to:
• Promote growth in quality sustainable earnings
• Align shareholder and management objectives
• Enhance the ability to recruit and retain key  

employees and management

The structure and basis for Performance Based Incentives  
will be approved by the Board from time to time 
to be aligned with Company strategy and current 
shareholder and management objectives. Once 
an average CPI increase is agreed to by the board, 
the executive committee will determine individual  
application of increases, with variances being due to 
higher or lower performance ratings based on regular 
formal KPA reviews.

Employees whose performance is above expectation 
receive higher than CPI increases, those with below  
expectation performance receive increases below CPI 
with the overall increase of payroll costs to Company 
not increasing by more than CPI each year.

Section 66(8) (read with section 66(9)) of the Companies 
Act provides that, to the extent permitted in the Company’s  
memorandum of incorporation, the Company may pay 
remuneration to its non-executive directors for their services  
as directors provided that such remuneration may 
only be paid in accordance with a special resolution  
approved by shareholders within the previous two years.

The Company’s memorandum of incorporation does 
not limit, restrict, or qualify the power of the Company  
to pay remuneration to its directors for their service 
as directors in accordance with section 66(9) of  
the Companies Act.

The Remuneration Policy was approved by the majority  
of the shareholders at the previous Annual General  
Meeting and there was no engagement with  
shareholders  in terms of the remuneration policy.

REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Composition and Functioning
The members of the Remuneration Committee are:

The remuneration committee has considered the  
remuneration for non-executive directors and has  
directed the Chief Executive Officer to undertake a  
review thereof to ensure that the remuneration is market 
related.

The Remuneration Committee oversees the 
remuneration of the Executive Directors. Remuneration, 
in particular as it relates to executive management, is 
motivated by the dual criteria of delivering sustainable 
financial returns to shareholders and the recognition 
and reward for outstanding performance. Executive 
compensation is also linked to the achievement of the 
organisation’s non-financial goals.

Executive Director’s Remuneration
Guaranteed pay – base pay and benefits in determining  
the CTC increases for executive directors, the board 
considered the average increases to general staff and 
also used relevant market data.

Benchmarks were selected based on a number of 
factors, including, but not limited to, Company size 
and complexity of comparable listed companies 
by reference to market capitalisation, turnover, 
profitability, number of employees and sector.

In aggregate executive directors did not receive any 
increases during the current financial year. This will be 
reconsidered during the FY2022 year.

Non-Executive Director’s Remuneration Terms  
of Service
Non-executive directors are appointed by the 
shareholders at the AGM. Interim board appointments 
are permitted between AGMs. Appointments are 
made in accordance with group policy. Interim 
appointees retire at the next AGM, when they may 
make themselves available for re-election.

In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation one third of the non-executive 
directors may make him or herself available for  
re-election, provided that if a director is appointed

Member
Attendance for 

the period under
review

Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (independent 
Non-Executive) (Chairman) 2/2

Mr RS Wilkinson (independent 
Non-Executive) 2/2

Mr MDK Mthembu (independent 
Non-Executive) 2/2

Dr AC Gmeiner (Non-Executive) 
(incoming Chairperson) 2/2
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Refer to special resolution 3 on page 97 of the notice of 
AGM for approval of the fees by shareholders in terms 
of section 66 of the Companies Act.

Prescribed Officers of the Group who are not Executive 
Directors
King IV recommends that the salaries of the prescribed 
officers, excluding executive directors, should be 
disclosed. ORE currently does not have any prescribed 
officers.

Shareholder Agreement
The group’s remuneration policy and the implementation  
thereof are placed before shareholders for consideration 
and approval under the terms of an advisory non-
binding vote at the 4 June 2021 AGM as recommended 
by King IV. In the event that 25% or more of the votes 
cast are recorded against either the remuneration 
policy resolution or the implementation resolution, then:
• Executive management will engage with 

shareholders to ascertain the reasons for the 
dissenting vote. Where considered appropriate, 
non-executive board members may participate 
in these engagements with selected shareholders; 
and

• Executive management will make specific 
recommendations to the board as to how 
the legitimate and reasonable objections of 
shareholders might be addressed, either in the 
group’s remuneration policy or through changes on 
how the remuneration policy is implemented.

Non-Binding Advisory Vote
Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding 
advisory vote on the remuneration policy as contained 
in this report.

REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

as an executive director or as an employee of the 
Company in any other capacity, he or she shall not, 
while he or she continues to hold that position or 
office, be subject to retirement by rotation and he 
or she shall not, in such case, be taken into account 
in determining the rotation or retirement of directors.

In addition, once a director has served for nine or 
more years, he or she may continue to serve in an 
independent capacity if the board concludes that 
the director exercise’s objective judgement and 
there is no interest, position, association or relationship 
which, when judged from the perspective of a  
reasonable and informed third party, is like to influence 
unduly or cause bias in decision-making. The 
assessment must be made each year after nine 
years.

Fees
Group policy is to pay competitive fees for the role 
while recognising the required time commitment. Fees 
are benchmarked against a comparator group of  
listed companies. The fees comprise an attendance 
fee for scheduled meetings, as tabled in Part 
2 of this report. In addition, non-executive 
directors are entitled to be compensated 
for travel and subsistence on official business 
where necessary and to attend meetings.  
No contractual arrangements are entered into to  
compensate Non- Executive Directors for the loss of 
office.

Non-executive directors do not receive short-term  
incentives, nor do they participate in any long-term 
incentive schemes. The group does not provide  
retirement contributions to non-executive directors.

The board proposes non-executive directors’ fees 
to shareholders annually for shareholders to vote 
thereon.

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
Proposed non-executive directors’ fees effective 
from 1 October 2020 will be as follows:

The above fees are proposed net of VAT which may 
become payable thereon to Directors, depending 
on the status of the individual Director’s tax position.

Office Designation Per Annum

Board
Chairperson R120 000
Directors R  60 000

All other 
meetings

Chairperson R NIL
Directors R NIL
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Implementation of Remuneration Policy - Part 2

Remuneration Committee Directors’ and Executive Management Performance Evaluation and Reward
Details of the remuneration of each individual director are provided in the Annual Financial Statements.

Compliance with the 2021 Remuneration Policy:
The Remuneration Committee Directors are satisfied that the Company substantially complied with the 
remuneration policy in 2021.

The average increase in salaries for qualifying salaried employees in 2021 was 6%. The increment for executive 
directors and prescribed officers is in line with market practice and current Group affordability.

No short term or long-term incentives were awarded for the year ended 30 June 2021 due to the Company only 
recently turning the corner to sustainable financial health.

Executive directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2021 is included in the Group Integrated Annual 
Report per note 31.

Non-Executive Remuneration
The remuneration paid to Non-Executive Directors while in office of the Company during the year ended 30 
September 2020 is analysed as follows:

Non-binding Advisory Vote
Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding advisory vote on the remuneration implementation report as 
contained in this report.

Approval
This remuneration report was approved by the board of directors of ORE.

REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

Office Designation Each Meeting

Board
Chairperson R20 000
Directors R15 000

All other 
meetings

Chairperson R NIL
Directors R NIL
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ORE complies broadly with the principles and spirit of the 
Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct contained 
in the King Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa (“King IV Report”).

Board of Directors
Structure and Role of the Board
The Board has a unitary structure which comprises 
eight members, six of whom are non-executive, of 
which three are independent non-executive directors. 
Determination of independence is guided by King VI, 
the Companies Act, the ZAR X Listings Requirements and 
corporate best practice. The profiles of the members 
of the Board are set out on page 28 of this Integrated 
Annual Report.

The directors have a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, 
with due diligence and care and in the best interests 
of the Company and all stakeholders. The Board of 
Directors accepts these duties and responsibilities.

A Board Charter, which is reviewed every two years, has 
been adopted to guide the Board in governance issues 
and sets a framework within which the Board functions.  
The Board Charter was recently reviewed during 2021 
and will be due for review in 2023.  
The Board Charter sets out the Board’s duties and 
obligations, which include, inter alia, to:
• Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, 

corporate governance by arranging its relationship 
with management, shareholders and other 
stakeholders of the Company along sound 
corporate governance principles;

• Appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable and to give effect to 
this.

Executive directors are appointed by the Board to 
oversee the day-to-day running of the Company. 
Executive directors are held accountable through 
regular reporting to the Board, and their performance is 
measured against predetermined criteria.

Non-executive directors provide the Board with advice 
and experience that is independent of management 
and the executives. The presence of independent 
non-executive directors on the Board, and the 
critical role they play as Board representatives on key 
committees, ensures that the Company’s interests are 
served by impartial views that are separate from those 
of management and shareholders.  Non-executive 
directors enjoy unrestricted access to executive 
management.

Non-executive directors do not have service contracts 
with the Company as yet.  One third of the non-executive 
directors retire annually by rotation in accordance with 
the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation.

Details on the remuneration of executive and non- 
executive directors are provided on page 86 of the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
IIn terms of paragraph 6.1.4 of the ZAR X Listings 
Requirement, the positions of Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) are fulfilled by two different 
persons, in order to ensure a balance of power and 
authority so that no one person has unfettered decision 
making powers. The roles of chairman and CEO are 
therefore separated, with the chairman being an 
independent non-executive director. Mr Richard 
Wilkinson was the Chairman of ORE during the period 
under review and was considered to be independent.  
Mr Franz Gmeiner is the CEO.  Mr Richard Wilkinson has 
since passed away on 9 August 2021 and Mr Theuns 
Oosthuizen has been appointed as Independent Non-
Executive Chairman from 25 August 2021. 

During the period under review to the date of this 
report, the Board composition was as follows:
Director Appointed
Mr Richard Streatfield Wilkinson
(independent Non-Executive Chairman) 
(*)

01/09/2003

Mr Theunis Frederick Jacobus Oosthuizen
(independent non-executive Chairman) 
(#)

14/12/2015

Mr Mlamuli Delani Kuthula Mthembu 
(independent Non-Executive) 22/04/2013

Dr Antoinette Christina Gmeiner
(Non-Executive) 06/03/2006

Mr Franz Gmeiner
(Chief Executive Officer) 06/03/2006

Mr Richard Gregory Bolleurs
(Chief Financial Officer) 09/10/2020

Ms Nadia Retha Gmeiner
(Non-Executive) ($) 21/09/2021

Ms Ingrid Antoinette Gmeiner
(Non-Executive) ($) 21/09/2021

Mr Nellis Esterhuizen
(independent Non-Executive) (^) 30/09/2021

* - Passed away on 9 August 2021
# - Change in role to Chairman on 22 September 2021
$ - Appointed on 21 September 2021
^ - Appointed on 30 September 2021
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Directors: Appointment and Retirement by Rotation
Directors are appointed and re-appointed, by 
shareholders on the basis of one third of the non-
executive directors resigning at each AGM. Interim 
appointments during the year are also confirmed at the 
immediately following General Meeting or AGM.

Other Directorships
The Board believes that other directorships held by 
directors do not affect their ability to fully discharge their 
responsibilities as directors of ORE.

Changes to the Board
As indicated above under “Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer” Mr Richard Wilkinson passed away 
subsequent to year end and Mr Theuns Oosthuizen has 
been appointed as Chairman.

Subsequent to year end, Ms Nadia Gmeiner and Ms 
Ingrid Gmeiner have been appointed as non-executive 
directors with effect from 21 September 2021 and Mr 
Nellis Esterhuizen has been appointed as independent 
non-executive director and chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee with effect from 30 September 2021.

Company Secretary
All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and to Company 
records, information, documents and premises. The 
Company Secretary minutes all Board and sub-committee  
meetings and maintains the registers required by statute. 
The Company Secretary is also responsible for keeping 
directors abreast of regulatory or legislative changes 
which may affect the Company.

Light Consulting Proprietary Limited (“Light Consulting”) 
has been the Company Secretary for ORE since 1 
January 2020.  In compliance with paragraph 6.1.10 of 
the ZAR X Listings Requirements, the Board evaluated 

the Company Secretary and was satisfied that Light 
Consulting was competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced.  This evaluation was undertaken by 
considering the employees and qualifications of 
the employees, the director and shareholder of 
the Company Secretary as well as the fact that 
Light Consulting has provided outsource Company 
secretarial services to a number of listed and unlisted 
companies for around 20 years.

Light Consulting or any of Light Consulting’s employees 
are not related or connected to any of the directors and 
Light Consulting maintains an arm’s length relationship 
with the Board and is not represented on the Board of 
ORE.

Conflicts of Interest
The directors declare actual and possible conflicts of 
interest to their co-directors at each quarterly board 
meeting and ensure that declarations are included in 
the minutes of the Board Meeting. The directors, with an 
interest in any matter, also recuse themselves from the 
relevant Board meeting, while their co-directors take a 
decision on the matter.

Succession Planning
The Board participates in the review of succession 
planning for key senior executive positions and the 
Company is actively engaged in the coaching of 
management around succession planning.

The directors periodically discuss succession planning 
and are comfortable that, in the event of any executive 
and senior management transition, plans are in place 
to ensure smooth transition.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(continued)
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Board Meetings
During the year under review the Board met on a quarterly basis, either in person or via electronic participation. 
All directors are encouraged to attend the AGM.

Details of Board attendance for the nine months under review, either as a member or by invitation, are included 
below:

Director

Number of Meetings Attended

Board of  
Directors

Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee

Social and 
Ethics  

Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Executive Directors

Mr F Gmeiner 3/3 3/3 (#) 3/3 3/3 (#)

Mr R Bolleurs 3/3 3/3 (#) 3/3 (#) 3/3 (#)

Non-Executive Director

Dr AC Gmeiner 3/3 2/3 (#) 3/3 3/3

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr RS Wilkinson (*) 2/3 2/3 2/3 2/3

Mr MDK Mthembu 3/3 2/3 3/3 3/3

Mr TFJ Oosthuizen 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3

The Board and its committees have, during the year under review, also applied time to identify training needs, 
missed opportunities and governance matters.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
The Board is responsible and accountable for risk 
management and internal control.

Executive management, under the Board’s oversight, 
assumes responsibility for the integration of risk practices 
into operational activities.

The Board is satisfied that management is attuned to 
both the negative and positive aspects of business 
risk. The Board believes it has adequate information to 
facilitate the balanced assessment and management 
of significant Risks, the latter through effective internal 
control systems.

The Board believes that, in the year under review 
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report 
and the Annual Financial Statements, ORE operated 
an adequate system of internal controls to minimise 
operational and financial risks. The system of internal 
controls, which is risk based, is regularly reviewed 
and tested. The Board believes that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance of the effectiveness and efficacy of controls, 
throughout the business.  

During 2020, the Company achieved a significant 
breakthrough with the integration of its Novtel and 
Pastel Evolution systems, which had been a long-term 
development project. ORE is seeing the benefit of the 
real time integration. 

Managerial responsibility for monitoring and reviewing 
controls lies with the CFO, the Financial Manager and 
the CEO.

With the advent of COVID-19, the outsourced internal 
audit function could not continue effectively with the 
work plan and the services were terminated in the 
first half of 2020.  The need for outsourced services 
will be evaluated during 2022 following the successful 
integration of the billing system with the accounting 
system mentioned above, and the active steps taken 
to substantially improve the systems and controls.

Code of Ethics
ORE subscribes to the highest ethical standards and 
behaviour in the conduct of its business activities. 
A formal Code of Ethics, which incorporates the 
recommended practices set out in King IV, was 
adopted during the year under review. 

All directors, employees, contractors and other 
representatives of the Company are required to 
comply with this Code in ensuring that the Company’s 
business practices are conducted in a manner that is 
above reproach in all circumstances.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(continued)

* – Passed away 9 August 2021
# – Invitee to the meeting

A - Apologies
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Audit and Risk Committee
The Board has an Audit and Risk Committee, the 
members of which are independent non-executive 
directors.

The following directors were appointed to the Audit 
and Risk Committee during the year under review:
• Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (Chairman),
• Mr RS Wilkinson; and 
• Mr MDK Mthembu. 

The executive directors attend by invitation.  The 
composition of the Committee changed subsequent  
to year end.

The Board is satisfied that the  committee 
has satisfactorily fulfilled its responsibilities, 
in line with its respective terms of reference, during 
the period under review.  New Terms of Reference 
were approved during the 2021 calendar year.

The Audit and Risk Committee is constituted as a 
statutory committee of ORE in respect of its statutory  
duties in terms of section 94(7) of the Companies 
Act, and a committee of the Board in respect of all 
other duties assigned to it by the Board. The duties 
and responsibilities of the committee members are in 
addition to those duties and responsibilities that they 
have as members of the Board.

The committee has an independent role with  
accountability to both the Board and shareholders.  
It does not, however, assume the functions of 
management, which remain the responsibility of the 
executive directors, prescribed officers and other 
members of senior management.

A detailed report by the Audit and Risk Committee is 
set out on pages 18 - 20.

Social and Ethics Committee
The following directors were appointed to the Social 
and Ethics Committee during the period under review:

• Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (Outgoing Chairman);
• Dr AC Gmeiner (Incoming Chairman);
• Mr F Gmeiner;
• Mr RS Wilkinson; and
• Mr MDK Mthembu.

Dr AC Gmeiner was nominated to chair the meetings 
with effect from 22 September 2020.  The responsibilities 
and functions of the Committee which are aligned with 
the Committee’s statutory functions as set out in the 
Companies Act formed the basis of the work plan.

A detailed report by the Social and Ethics Committee is 
set out on pages 21 – 24.

Remuneration Committee
Directors’ and Executive Management Performance 
Evaluation and Reward

The members of the Remuneration Committee during 
the period under review were: 

• Mr TFJ Oosthuizen (Chairman);
• Mr RS Wilkinson; 
• Mr MDK Mthembu; and
• Dr AC Gmeiner. 

The other directors are invited to attend the 
Remuneration Committee meetings as appropriate.  The 
Remuneration Committee oversees the remuneration 
of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration, in particular as it relates to executive 
management, is motivated by the dual criteria of 
delivering sustainable financial returns to shareholders 
and the recognition and reward for outstanding 
performance. Executive compensation is also linked 
to the achievement of the organisation’s non-financial 
goals.

Details of the remuneration of each individual director 
are provided in the Annual Financial Statements.

After review by the Board, the remuneration rates for 
non-executive directors, are approved by shareholders, 
at each AGM of the financial year, following the year 
under review.  Rates for the 2021/22 financial year are 
set out in the Notice of Meeting.

A detailed report by the Remuneration Committee is 
set out on pages 25 – 27.

Sustainability Report
Management is aware of the need to uplift the 
communities in which it operates. This is done by 
recruiting employees locally and providing training to 
improve their quality of life and skills.  Active steps have 
been taken over the past year to consider all aspects 
of the business, including savings on water usage, 
identifying leaks, looking at electricity saving initiatives 
and overall consideration of sustainable initiatives, 
where possible.  

In addition, the executive directors undertake social 
responsibility and giving back to the community in their 
personal capacity, as well as, actively encouraging 
each employee to do the same on a regular basis 
throughout the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(continued)
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This report is to be read in conjunction with the remaining  
provisions of the Orion Group’s 2021 integrated annual 
report in particular the Corporate Governance section,  
the Audit and Risk committee report, the Social and 
Ethics committee report and the Remuneration Policy.

PRINCIPLE 1
The Board as the Governing Body 
should lead ethically and effectively Compliant

The Board has taken cognisance of the approach 
contained in both the Companies Act and King IV that 
the Company has a role to play in society and has an 
obligation to conduct itself as a responsible corporate 
citizen.

The Board leads by example and has adopted a code 
of ethics and conduct so as to commit the business 
practices which the Company will follow to writing as 
well as the standards of behaviour required by others 
within the Company. Our Group values of Honesty, 
Integrity, Treating People with Dignity, Generosity, 
Reward & Recognition, Innovation and Productivity 
drives our behaviour and these values are further 
reinforced through monthly discussion documents and 
the team coaching process.

The Board ensures that an ethical culture permeates 
throughout the Group through its strategy, strategic 
plans and financial performance of the Company.

The Board does lead ethically and effectively and 
complies with all of the ZAR X, IFRS and Companies Act 
requirements. Minutes of all board meetings are kept 
and made available to the auditors upon request. 

The Group has a hotline in order to motivate staff to 
report all unethical behaviour. 

The Board considers all available information before 
making a decision to ensure that the decisions made 
are effective. From time to time the Board may make 
use of external consultants in order to make appropriate 
decisions. 

The Board also considers social and environmental 
impacts regarding every decision that it makes and as 
such acts as an ethical corporate citizen. 

KING IV APPLICATION REGISTER
Should the Board members receive a complaint 
against them or be suspected of unethical behaviour, 
an investigation into this matter will commence and 
disciplinary procedures will follow.

PRINCIPLE 2
The Board should govern the ethics of 
the organisation in a way that supports 
the establishment of an ethical culture

Compliant

The Board assumes responsibility for the governance 
of ethics. The Board has adopted a code of ethics 
which clearly sets out the business practices which 
the Company will follow as well as the standards of 
behaviour for all employees within the Company. 
The Board ensures that the code of ethics is well 
communicated and understood by all.  

The Group publishes a booklet, which is distributed to 
the staff, and details the core values of the Company 
and give explanations of each value and promotes 
each staff member to living these values. Emails on a 
selected value are sent out monthly to reinforce the 
value culture of the organisation. Every person in the 
organisation is required to attend monthly coaching 
where good values and ethics are promoted.

• Specifically, the Company will:
• Promote ethical business practices;
• Operate responsibly in accordance with all relevant 

laws and regulations;
• Ensure equal opportunities;
• Provide a safe and healthy working environment;
• Value diversity in the workplace;
• Conduct its dealings with third parties in an ethical 

manner;
• Provide a safe route for people to highlight non-

compliance;
• Conduct relationships with employees, tenants and 

stakeholders in a manner which ensures respect for 
all parties.

These principles sit alongside the Company’s principles 
of Honesty, Integrity, Treating People with Dignity, 
Generosity, Reward and Recognition, Innovation 
and Productivity and together are the core of all its 
interactions and the way it operates as a mechanism to 
benefit all employees, tenants, suppliers, shareholders 
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and other stakeholders.  Adherence to corporate 
governance is entrenched in the Company’s day-to-
day operations.

The key areas of focus during the reporting period were 
as follows:
• Implementing an ethical culture at Board level, 

whereby each appointed director agrees to 
conduct themselves in an ethical manner, and 
disclosing conflicts of interest (where applicable) in 
respect of agenda items discussed.

• The Company, in its dealings with its investors, 
stakeholders, suppliers and clients, conducting itself 
with the highest standard of ethics.

• Complying with all legal and regulatory 
requirements.

• The Company implemented a risk framework, which 
included the risk and impact of unethical behaviour 
e.g., fraud. Internal controls were evaluated to 
ensure that the risk of fraud is minimised.

The planned area of future focus is to develop an 
ethics policy which encompasses in greater detail 
the relationship with external stakeholders taking 
into account their legitimate and reasonable needs, 
interests and other expectations of stakeholders.

PRINCIPLE 3
The Board should ensure that the 
organisation is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

Compliant

The Board has undertaken a full review of the Company’s 
position with regards to being a responsible corporate 
citizen. This includes a review of the Company’s 
remuneration policy, work environment, race, gender, 
age, experience and other diversity, health and safety 
requirements, reporting on B-BBEE, employment equity 
and the application of King IV.

In the coming financial year, the Board intends 
developing the focus on “responsible corporate 
citizenship” with reference, amongst others to the 
constitution of South Africa and King IV.

The Board does place emphasis to its management and 
staff regarding the legal and statutory requirements of 
the Company. The Board also operates in a manner 
that takes into account the sustainability and financial 
health of the organisation as well as its social and 
environmental responsibilities in its decision-making 
process. 

The Board is currently looking into implementing solar 
stations on its buildings and in particular the Promenade 
Shopping Centre, to reduce the environmental impact 
and reliance on power derived from fossil fuels.  A water 
saving initiative was undertaken to identify leaks and 
introduce efficiencies at all the Group’s properties.

The Board promotes corporate social responsibility 
projects and required staff to be involved in these 
which is monitored and assessed as part of the monthly 
mandatory coaching, which each staff member is 
required to attend.

A copy of the Company’s broad-based black  
economic empowerment verification certificate 
has been placed on the Company’s website  
www.orionrealestateltd.com

PRINCIPLE 4
The Board should appreciate that the 
organisation’s core purpose, its risks 
and opportunities, strategy, business 
model, performance and sustainable 
development are all inseparable  
elements of the value creation process

Compliant

The Board assumes responsibility for ORE’s strategy 
(strategy is defined as the setting of the organisation’s 
short-, medium- and long-term direction towards 
realising its core purpose and values).

ORE’s vision is “An Orion experience in 50 Countries” 
and its Mission is “Creating stakeholder value and 
building strength through diversity”. The Board meets at 
least 4 times a year, in order to reassess the strategy of 
the Group and evaluate financial performance, taking 
into account then prevailing market conditions and to 
assess the Group’s progress in achieving its vision.  Due to 
the recent world-wide events, the focus has been within 
South Africa. The CEO is required to present his strategy 
to the Board which incorporates the identification and 
assessment of risks and opportunities and this is assessed 
to ensure that it is aligned to the value creation process 
and is in line with the core business of the organisation. 

The Board constantly looks at acquiring investment 
properties that fit in with the strategy of the organisation 
and which will ensure maximum value creation for the 
shareholders and stakeholders of the organisation. The 
Group, where necessary, provides tenant installations 
that upgrade the white box normally provided to 
a tenant to suit their particular requirements which 
in turn adds value to the customers and the Group. 
Staff coaching which is mandatory and includes 
monthly coaching as well as specialised coaching in 
management, stress management, time management, 
etc. adds value to staff and increases their value even 
after they have left the organisation.
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PRINCIPLE 5
The Board should ensure that reports 
issued by the organisation enable 
stakeholders to make informed  
assessments of the organisation’s 
performance, and its short-, medium- 
and long-term prospects

Compliant

The Board ensures that reports issued by the Company 
enable stakeholders to make informed assessments of 
the Group’s performance, and its short-, medium- and 
long-term prospects, subject to statutory and regulatory 
requirements. 

The Board also ensures that the annual financial 
statements of the Company comply with the IFRS as 
well as the ZAR X listing requirements which ensures that 
the information is in a format and of the quality that 
enables stakeholders to make informed decisions. 

These annual financial statements are audited by a 
reputable audit firm registered with IRBA, to ensure that 
they correctly represent the financial position of the 
Group. The annual report contains a Chairman’s Report 
as well as a CEO’s report which details the reasons for 
the current performance of the Group as well as some of 
the opportunities for future organisational development 
and ways in which the Group will achieve its future 
goals. All reports are detailed and contain explanations 
for the movement in earnings, revenue, expenses such 
that the reader of the annual report can makes an 
informed decision/assessment into the health of the 
organisation

The Board is provided with copies of circulars and 
integrated annual reports and given an opportunity 
to comment thereon prior to dispatch. All circulars 
and integrated annual reports and notices of 
AGM are placed on the Company’s website  
www.orionrealestateltd.com

PRINCIPLE 6
The Board should serve as the  
focal point and custodian of 
corporate governance in the  
organisation

Compliant

The Board has adopted a Board Charter and Code of 
Ethics and has established an Audit and Risk Committee, 
a Remuneration Committee and a Social and Ethics 
Committee each of which have adopted terms of 
reference.  These Committees support the Board in the 
conduct of its responsibilities.

The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with its Board Charter for the 
reporting period. With the ongoing development and 
implementation of Standard Operating Procedures 
(SOP’S) within the organisation, good practices and 
compliance with corporate governance are embraced 
throughout the Company. 

The Board leads by example and constantly reviews 
SOPs and implements changes within the organisation 
to improve corporate governance compliance. The 
Board balances the interests of the Company’s many 
stakeholders and assesses and takes into consideration 
the requirements of each stakeholder when approving 
its SOPs and Company policies.  

All Company policies are made available on the 
Company intranet and the policies are accessible 
to all staff members. The importance of stakeholder 
consideration is communicated to staff constantly 
and staff is required to practice this aspect at all times. 
“Betterways” are required for staff coaching every 
month where staff can suggest innovative ways to 
improve corporate governance as well as internal 
processes.

PRINCIPLE 7
The Board should comprise the  
appropriate balance of knowledge, 
skills, experience, diversity, and 
independence for it to discharge its 
governance role and responsibilities 
objectively and effectively

Compliant

The Board does comprise of the appropriate balance, 
also considering new appointments subsequent to 
year end. This aspect is something that is reviewed to 
ensure that the right balance of skills and experience is 
always present. This is done during the nomination and 
re-election process whereby the skills and experience 
of each director is reviewed to ensure fit with the 
organisational requirements. 

As a cornerstone of good corporate governance there 
is a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the 
appointment of new directors to the Board by:
• Evaluating the skills, knowledge, experience and 

diversity of the Board members and in the light 
of the evaluation preparing a description of the 
role and capabilities required for any particular 
appointment. In identifying suitable candidates, 
the committee has due regard for the benefits of 
diversity on the Board and has to be satisfied those 
appointees have adequate time available to 
devote to the position; and

• The proposed appointee is required to disclose all 
other business interests that could result in a conflict 
of interest prior to their being recommended to the 
Board.

Subsequent to year end, the Board discussed the 
diversity of the Board and further needs and to this end 
has appointed younger Board members with different 
skills and expertise to the existing Board members.  
Succession planning was also considered, noting that 
the Company is a family-controlled Company.  

KING IV APPLICATION REGISTER
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Where the tenure of an independent non-executive 
director exceeds 9 years, the Board specifically considers 
the continued independence of such director and 
makes a recommendation to this effect in the Notice 
of AGM. 

The Board does comply with the Companies Act and 
ZAR X listing requirements for makeup and composition 
of the Board. There are more non-executive directors 
than there are executive directors within the Board 
and the majority of the non-executive directors are 
independent non-executive directors. The qualifications 
and experience of each member of the Board is 
detailed in the annual report.

Individuals comprising the Board have diverse skills 
and experience from a legal, financial and other 
backgrounds and members have sufficient experience 
within the property industry.

The Board is committed to the principle of diversity 
(including gender, race, cultural, disability, age and 
experience diversity). All new appointments to the 
Board will be considered in the context of achieving 
voluntary diversity targets while keeping the operational 
requirements of the Company in mind.

PRINCIPLE 8
The Board should ensure that its  
arrangements for delegation within its 
own structures promote independent 
judgement, and assist with balance of 
power and the effective discharge of 
its duties

Compliant

The Board has established an audit and risk committee, 
a remuneration committee, and a social and ethics 
committee, which have certain roles and responsibilities 
contained in terms of reference adopted by the 
various committees. The Board has in addition passed 
an overarching resolution in terms of which certain 
responsibilities are delegated to executive directors.

The chairman of the Board is an independent non-
executive director. There are more non-executive 
directors making up the body than there are executive 
directors. Composition of the Board complies with 
the Companies Act, King IV and the ZAR X Listings 
Requirements. The non-executive directors are 
reported to on a regular basis in terms of providing 
them with sufficient information about the operations 
of the organisation. This is done via circulation to the 
non-executive directors of the monthly management 
accounts as well as any other information required, 
such as CEO and other communications to employees. 

The non-executive directors do not participate in the 
day-to-day operations of the organisation however, 
they hold accountable the executive directors and 
through the executive directors’ delegate its duties. 

The Board has also set up multiple sub committees such 
as the remuneration committee and social and ethics 
committees to enable it to carry out its tasks efficiently 
and effectively.

PRINCIPLE 9
The Board should ensure that the  
evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its individual members 
support continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness

Partially 
Compliant

The Board is satisfied with its performance and 
effectiveness, noting that the past two years were 
basically focused on turning around the Group, 
substantially reducing debt, regaining REIT Status 
and listing on ZAR X.  The Company also changed its 
Company Secretary at the beginning of 2020.  Board 
and committee evaluations have not been undertaken 
during this period.  However, it is anticipated that such 
evaluations will be undertaken during the last half of 
2021, with the assistance of the Company Secretary.

The Board will perform evaluations every two years of 
the Board and all of its committees. The performance of 
the members of the Board is evaluated annually when 
any member stands for re-election onto the Board. The 
individual’s skills, experience and performance over the 
last year is considered before re-election to ensure that 
they are still capable and able to carry out their duties.

PRINCIPLE 10
The Board should ensure that the 
appointment of and delegation to 
management contribute to role clarity 
and the effective exercise of authority 
and responsibilities

Compliant

The CEO is in regular contact with the Chairman of the 
Board.  The Board is satisfied that the delegation of 
authority framework contributes to role clarity and the 
effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.

The Board does comply with this principle through 
job profiling and ensuring that each member of its 
management teams has an updated and relevant job 
description which they are aware of and are required 
to execute within certain levels of authority which is 
established. 

Management and all staff below them are held to a 
performance evaluation and appraisal process annually 
and staff are also evaluated via their monthly coaching 
sessions. The executive directors are each required to 
coach and mentor at least one of their direct reports 
and develop the skills of their subordinates.  Each 
member of management, before being appointed, 
goes through strict interviews where their skills are tested. 
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Staff are also profiled via handwriting and tree analysis 
to determine their suitability to the role for which they 
are being hired to ensure that there is a fit for the role 
and that their personalities, skills and experience will 
contribute to the organisation achieving its goals. 

Each member of management and its supporting 
staff below are required to produce a set of at least 
5 goals monthly which is assessed and signed off by 
their superiors. These goals are also monitored via the 
mandatory monthly coaching and if a staff member 
does not provide proof of completing these goals, then 
the incomplete goals are added onto the new goals for 
the following month and this is continuously monitored 
to ensure that management and staff are productive 
and achieve their set goals. 

PRINCIPLE 11
The Board should govern risk in a way 
that supports the organisation in  
setting and achieving strategic  
objectives

Compliant

The strategy of the Board from time to time determines 
the organisation’s risk appetite. The Board continually 
reviews the risks facing the organisation. As a 
requirement the CEO is required to present to the Board 
the top risks facing the organisation and the mitigating 
factors to be implemented are then discussed by the 
Board.  The risks identified are discussed in the minutes 
of the meetings of the Board of directors and/or audit 
committee meeting.  This was not done in a formal 
manner for the period ended 30 June 2021, with the 
Company undertaking crisis management.  During 
the past two years, the Company was focused on its 
turnaround and replacement of funders, which was 
the key risk facing the Group and then managing 
the business during COVID and lockdowns.  Now that 
matters have stabilised, the focus is on re-establishing 
the risk matrix, risk registers and mitigating risks.  This is 
targeted for the second half of 2021.

The risks outlined then further form in part the basis of the 
strategic plan that is drawn up for the organisation and 
presented to the Board for approval.  The tasks that need 
to be complete in order to mitigate the risks are done, 
as part of the normal delegations to management and 
staff.  Where risks are of a higher level in nature these are 
addressed by the Board of directors and the mitigating 
action is executed by the executive directors. 

PRINCIPLE 12
The Board should govern technology 
and information in a way that supports 
the organisation setting and achieving 
its strategic objectives

Compliant

There were no significant changes in policy during the 
year under review and no incidents were reported.
There was substantial progress with the successful 

integration of Novtel and Pastel Evolution, which 
significantly enhances the reporting and accounting 
controls, particularly around rental and recoveries from 
tenants.  Future focus areas will be on an off-site, cloud 
hosted backup management and enhanced security 
and archiving of email.

The Board reviews the information and technological 
requirements of the organisation and upgrades and 
updates the systems as required in order to achieve 
strategic objectives. 

A risk analysis is undertaken to determine the backup 
requirements of the organisation and a decision 
was taken to reduce the time between backups. 
Furthermore, decisions were taken to implement 
Pastel Evolution, to implement a higher speed fibre 
connection, house the new accounting system on the 
cloud, and to implement a reporting tool to streamline 
financial reporting in the 2019 financial year. 

The Board has agreed on implementation of solar 
power in the Promenade Shopping Centre.  

The Board is currently considering a replacement for 
its CRM tool with one that cheaper but that has more 
features including the use of apps on individual’s 
cell phones and tablets. These are just a few of the 
technological considerations of the Board in order to 
assist the organisation achieve its strategic objectives.  

PRINCIPLE 13
The Board should govern compliance 
with applicable laws and adopted, 
non-binding rules, codes and  
standards in a way that supports the 
organisation’s being ethical and a 
good corporate citizen

Compliant

The Company has a dedicated legal resource that 
monitors compliance and remains appraised of any 
new legislation, non-binding rules and codes which 
may be of application to the Group. Pre-emptive 
action is taken where possible so as to be prepared in 
advance of the implementation date of new legislation, 
regulation or codes.

The Board does promote the compliance with relevant 
laws and statutory requirements as well as implementing 
a Code of Conduct and other Company wide policies 
within the organisation that is also accessible to all staff 
via the Company intranet. 

The Board constantly reviews and updates the standard 
operating procedures within the organisation in order to 
determine where there is non-compliance with rules and 
laws and to take corrective action when it is determined 
that we are non-compliant. The Board makes use of a 
Company Secretary as well as an Appointed Advisor 
to assist them in determining where the organisation 
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falls short in terms of its statutory compliance as well as 
its compliance with ZAR X Listings Requirements and 
Companies Act requirements. 

The Board goes beyond the relevant laws that needs 
to be complied with and further looks at its social 
and environmental responsibility. This is done via one 
of its sub-committees, namely the Social and Ethics 
committee which was implemented to ensure that the 
Board considers all stakeholders and acts in a manner 
that is ethical and considerate.

PRINCIPLE 14
The Board should ensure that the  
organisation remunerates fairly,  
responsibly, and transparently so as to 
promote the achievement of strategic 
objectives and positive outcomes in 
the short-, medium- and long-term

Compliant

The Board has a separate remuneration committee 
which sets the remuneration of the executive directors 
and non-executive directors. At the AGM, the fees 
for non-executive directors are approved, and the 
executive director’s remuneration is approved at the 
remuneration committee meetings.  The Remuneration 
Committee will be identifying, evaluating and 
amending Key Performance Areas and Indicators in the 
forthcoming year for executive directors.

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the annual financial 
statements of the Group to promote transparency and 
the remunerations policies are disclosed in order to 
promote the achievement of strategic objectives and 
outcomes. The Board considers the market conditions 
in setting the salaries of its staff but also considers the 
internal dynamics of the Group and its requirements 
from its staff in setting the remuneration.

PRINCIPLE 15
The Board should ensure that  
assurance services and functions  
enable an effective control envi-
ronment, and that these support the 
integrity of information for internal 
decision making and of the  
organisation’s external reports

Compliant

The Board makes use of an audit committee which 
appoints the external auditors of the organization and 
also considers the need for the appointment of internal 
auditors. 

The controls and integrity of information is reviewed by 
the auditors and reported to management and the 
Board for effective decision making. The Board also 
considers all management letter points received from 
the auditors of the organisation and takes necessary 
action to mitigate the risks and/or lack of control that 
has been identified. 

The organisation previously made use of an internal 
auditor before the lockdown in 2020, when the 
services were discontinued.  The internal auditor would 
identify any breakdowns in controls and risks within the 
organisation and report this to management so that 
corrective action can be taken.  This outsource service 
will be reconsidered in due course.

The financial manager has been requested to add the 
risks and control weaknesses previously identified by the 
internal auditor into the risk register so that these can 
be addressed by management and monitored by the 
Audit and Risk Committee going forward.

PRINCIPLE 16
In the execution of its governance 
role and responsibilities, the Board 
should adopt a stakeholder inclusive 
approach that balances the needs, 
interests, and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best interests of the 
organisation over time

Compliant

The Chair of the Board attends all shareholder meetings.
The executive directors have an open-door policy 
and regularly engage with tenants and meet monthly 
with the property managers. The Board is guided, 
among others, by the ZAR X Listings Requirements 
when engaging with stakeholders. The Board takes 
a stakeholder inclusive approach to its corporate 
governance role. Meetings are held whereby the Board 
actively identifies its stakeholders in order to determine 
the focus and direction it should be looking towards to 
maximise value. 

Some of the stakeholders identified include the 
Shareholders, the clients/tenants, trade suppliers 
and the employees within the organisation. In every 
decision made by the Board the stakeholders are 
considered, in terms of which buildings should be 
targeted for sale and are past their sell buy date, should 
the organisation move towards retail, office or industrial 
space or residential space, which of its current buildings 
should be developed as well as future buildings to be 
considered for purchase. 

This will maximise the value created for the shareholders 
as well as add value to current tenants in that some 
buildings receive renovations and refurbishments. The 
staff is always considered when decisions are made 
as the staff are the ones that make the organisation 
“tick”.  Some considerations include staff welfare, the 
remuneration of staff, and the location of organisation’s 
offices both within a building and as a whole. 

Feng Shui is adopted within the ORE offices to make for 
a more pleasant working environment. Staff coaching 
is held monthly to provide staff with a means of  
self-development.  
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PROPERTY SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Property Performance 2021

Description Total Retail Commercial Industrial Hospitality Land

Property Value (R'000) 687,700 357,000 220,000 103,700 7,000 -

Rent Received (excluding 
recoveries) (R'000) 50,222 26,656 13,994 9,572 - -

Gross Lettable Area (GLA) m2 86,826 27,397 30,461 20,969 2,000 6,000

Number of Properties 23 6 8 7 1 1

GLA as a Percentage of Property 
Portfolio 100 % 32% 35% 24% 2% 7 %

Average Rental per Month per 
Square Meter (excluding recoveries) 127 71 62 - -

Utilities Recoveries per m2 72 43 20 9 - -

Utilities Recovered as a Percentage 
of the Portfolio 100 % 59% 28% 13% 0% 0%

Tenants
30 June 2021 

R’000

30 SEPTEMBER 
2020

R’000

Revenue per Segment
- Commercial 13,994 15,372
- Industrial 10,316 7,801
- Retail 26,656 18,224
- Hospitality - -
- Central and Recoveries 14,007 25,050

Total 64,972 66,447
Operating Profit per Segment
- Commercial 6,680 13,837

- Industrial 10,421 10,528
- Retail 24,594 19,026

- Hospitality - 143

- Central and Recoveries 264 (8,755)

Total 41,958 34,779
Investment Property per Segment
- Commercial 220,000 206,000

- Industrial 103,700 95,700
- Retail 357,000 358,800

- Hospitality 7,000 7,000

- Central and Recoveries 5,000

Total 687,700 672,500
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PROPERTY SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(continued)

Top 10 tenants in the order of gross GLA and rental contribution as at 30 June 2021

Tenants R’000 GLA m²

The GSI Group South Africa (Pty) Ltd 2,701 5,359

Orion Hotels & Resorts (Pty) Ltd t/a Hotel Promenade 1,440 5,100

Helukabel SA (Pty) Ltd 2,798 4,060

City of Joburg Property Company SOC LTD 3,057 2,561

Boxer Superstores Pty Limited 1,738 1,746

MR Price Group Limited T/a Mr Price 2,916 1,316

Sharp Move Trading 260 (Pty) Ltd t/a Packit 674 1,250

Casavino CC t/a Action Mica 702 1,081

Shoprite Checkers Proprietary Limited 636 1,050

Eskom Holdings Limited 1,363 1,000

Total for Key Tenants (excluding vacancies) 18,025 24,523

 Top 10 tenants in the order of gross GLA and rental contribution as at 30 June 2021

Properties Region Value 
 R’000

% of the 
Total 

Portfolio

Promenade Shopping Centre Nelspruit 264,000 38%

ACA Krans Gauteng 100,000 15%

Wendywood Gauteng 50,000 7%

296 Kent Gauteng 32,000 5%

Laser Park Stand 124-126 Gauteng 28,500 4%

Northcliff Atrium Gauteng 30,000 4%

Laser Park Stand 101 Gauteng 28,000 4%

Primrose Mall Gauteng 23,500 3%

Kensington B Gauteng 22,000 3%

20 John Street Gauteng 14,400 2%

Balance of Portfolio 95,300 14%

Total Portfolio 687,700 100%
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INDEPENDENT  AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of ORE
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - Opinion
We have audited the consolidated annual financial 
statements of ORE (the Company) set out on pages 
42 - 90, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2021, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated annual 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated annual financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of ORE as at 30 June 
2021, and its consolidated financial performance 
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the 
sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 
3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) 
and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of annual financial statements in 
South Africa.

We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as 
applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable 
to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes 
are consistent with the corresponding sections of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) 
respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the annual financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the annual financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter: Investment Properties Measured At 
Fair Value
The Company’s Accounting Policies at Note 1.4 
Investment Properties state that:
• Investment Properties are measured at fair value 

after initial recognition.
• A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is 

included in net profit or loss for the period in which 
it arises.

• The fair value of investment property reflects, 
among other things, the assumptions about rental 
income from future leases in the light of current 
market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on 
a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be 
expected in respect of the property.

Note 3 Investment Properties to the Notes to the Annual 
Financial Statements reflects a carrying value at fair 
value as at 30 June 2021 of R687.7 million (PY: R669 
million).  The corresponding fair value gain included in 
the net profit or loss for the 9 months period ending 30 
June 2021 amounted to R15.2 million (PY: R44.2 million).
Valuation of investment properties is considered a 
significant matter due to the magnitude of the balance 
it represents to the total assets of the Company and 
the fair value measurement is as estimate based on 
judgement made by management on the appropriate 
valuation method, and underlying assumptions and 
interpreting the data, which is disclosed in Note 3 
Investment Properties to the Notes of the Annual 
Financial Statements.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material 
misstatement relating to the valuation of Investment 
Properties, which was considered to be a significant 
risk, include amongst others, we:
• obtained an understanding of management’s 

process for valuing the Company’s investment 
properties in accordance with the IFRS ;

• assessed the reasonableness of the valuation 
methodologies and assumptions used, based on 
our knowledge of the industry and the markets in 
which the Company operates;

• determined our own independent fair value range 
estimate based on the valuation methodologies 
employed by management and the underlying 
assumptions as well as the information available 
that was used as input data and compared with the 
fair value estimate determined by management;

inspected that management adequately disclosed 
the use of significant assumptions and information 
used in the absence of observable market price.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information.  
The other information comprises of the information 
included in the document titled “Orion Real Estate 
Limited Integrated Annual Report for the year ended 
30 June 2021”, which includes the Director’s Report, 
the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company 
Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies 
Act of South Africa.  The other information does not 
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INDEPENDENT  AUDITOR’S REPORT
(continued)

include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated annual financial 
statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with out audit of the consolidated annual 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated annual financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work we 
have performed on the other information obtained prior 
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Director for the Annual Financial 
Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated annual 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the consolidated annual financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual financial 
statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated annual financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the director.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the annual 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the consolidated annual financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the director regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government 
Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we 
report that this is the first year that Business 2 Business 
Inc. has been the auditor of the Company.

Business 2 Business Inc

Per: H.J. Rothmann
Director - Registered Auditor Chartered Accountant (SA)
Business 2 Business Inc. - Registered Auditors

26 October 2021
Florida, Roodepoort
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Figures in R Notes
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 2020

R’000

Assets

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 3,698 4,177

Investment property 3 687,700 669,000

Right of use assets 4 2,919 3,648

Deferred lease asset 5 7,688 5,462

702,005 682,287

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 6 3,441 2,013

Loans to related parties 7 - 389

Loan to shareholder 8 45,583 45,670

Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,634 6,219

52,658 54,291

Investment properties held for sale 10 - 3,500

52,658 57,791

Total Assets 754,663 740,078

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Issued capital 11 125,549 125,549

Retained earnings 501,446 467,040

Total Equity 626,994 592,588

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 12 282 -

Lease liability 4 2,639 3,463

Borrowings 13 78,604 78,457

Tenants deposits 14 3,535 2,598

85,059 84,519

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 26,349 42,140

Current tax liability 3,838 1,961

Lease liability 4 1,073 948

Borrowings 13 8,481 14,982

Tenant deposits 14 2,869 2,939

42,609 62,971

Total Liabilities 127,669 147,490

Total Equity and Liabilities 754,663 740,078
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Figures in R Notes

Group for the 
9-months ended 30 

June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 2020

R’000

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 16 64,972 66,447

Other revenue 17 2,037 951

Total Revenue 67,009 67,397

Property, Administration and Impairment Expenses (25,051) (32,618)

Other administration expenses 19 (7,501) (12,930)

Property-related expenses 18 (35,894) (62,812)

Expected credit losses 3,144 (1,076)

Other gains 20 15,200 44,200

Profit from Operating Activities 41,958 34,779

Net Finance Income/Cost (3,471) (6,424)

Finance income 21 3,687 2,972

Finance cost 22 (7,158) (9,396)

Profit before Tax 38,488 28,355

Income tax (expense) / refund 23 (4,081) 102,237

Profit for the Year 34,406 130,591

Profit for the Year Attributable to:

Owners of Parent 34,406 130,591

Non-controlling interest - -

34,406 130,591
Basic Earnings per Share

Basic Earnings per Share 25 5,38 20,42

Diluted Earnings per Share

Diluted Earnings per Share 25 5,38 20,42

Headline Earnings per Share

Headline Earnings per Share 25 3,00 13,51

Net Asset Value per Share

Net Asset Value per Share 25 98,05 92,67
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Figures in R

Issued 
Capital

R’000

Retained 
Earnings

R’000

Attributable 
to Owners of 

the Parent
R’000

Non- 
controlling

Interests
R’000

Total

R’000

Balance as at 30 September 2019 125,537 336,448 461,985 (290) 461,696

Issue of shares 12 - 12 - 12
Correction of non-controlling 
interest - 130,591 130,591 290 130,881

Balance as at 30 September 2020 125,549 467,040 592,588 - 592,588

Issue of shares - - - - -
Total comprehensive income - - - - -
Correction of non-controlling 
interest - 34,406 34,406 - 34,406

Balance as at 30 June 2021 125,549 501,446 626,994 - 626,994

Note 11
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Figures in R Notes Group 2021 
R’000

Group 2020 
R’000

Cash Flow from Operating Activities 24 9,627 (267)

Finance costs 22 (7,158) (9,396)

Finance income 21 3,687 2,972

Income tax paid 23 (1,922) (10,265)

Net Cash Flows from / (used in) Operating Activities 4,234 (16,952)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Loans repaid by related parties 389 6,591

Movements in loans (advanced to) / repaid by shareholder 87 (6,724)

Additions to investment property 4 - -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (237) (940)

Proceeds from sales of investment property 4 - (2,757)

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 239 (3,831)

Cash Flows (used in) / from Financing Activities
Repayment of Lease liability (700) (396)

(Repayment of) / Increase in interest bearing borrowings (6,354) 28,191

Proceeds from issuing shares (0) 12

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (7,055) 27,807

Net (decrease) / increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (2,581) 7,020

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of reporting period 6,219 (801)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Reporting Period 9 3,634 6,219

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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1. Basis of Preparation
The group financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and the interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations committee of 
the IASB. The group financial statements comply 
with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee and 
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the ZAR 
X Listing Requirements and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

The group financial statements are prepared on the 
historic cost basis, except for investment properties 
which are carried at fair value, and incorporate the 
principal accounting policies set out below.

The group financial statements are prepared on a 
going concern basis.

1.1 Functional Currency 
The functional currency is South African Rand and 
these financials have been presented in Rands.

1.2 Consolidation 
Basis of Consolidation
The group annual financial statements incorporate 
the annual financial statements of the Company 
and all entities, which are controlled by the Holding 
Company.

Determination of Control - IFRS 10
Subsidiaries are all entities where the parent is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity, and has the ability 
to effect those returns through its power over the 
entity.
The results of the subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated annual financial statements from the 
effective date of acquisition to the effective date of 
loss of control. On acquisition the group recognises 
the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at fair value, except for assets 
classified as held-for-sale, which are recognised at 
fair value less costs to sell.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights 
are considered when assessing whether the group 
controls an entity to the extent that those rights 
are substantive. The acquisition date is the date 
on which control is transferred to the acquirer. 
Judgement is applied in determining the acquisition 
date and determining whether control is transferred 
from one party to another.

Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the 
group. The financial results of subsidiaries and 
controlled trusts are included in the group financial 

statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the 
group annual financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies in line with those of 
the group. All intra-Group transactions, balances, 
income and expenses are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.

Initial and Subsequent Measurement
The group accounts for business acquisitions 
by applying the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date and measures goodwill as the fair 
value of the consideration transferred including the 
recognised amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree, plus the fair value of any existing 
equity interest, less the net recognised amount 
(generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured at 
the acquisition date. If this amount is negative, the 
Group recognises a gain on bargain purchase in 
profit or loss.

Consideration transferred includes the fair values 
of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the 
group to the previous owners of the acquiree, and 
equity interests issued by the group. Consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration.

If a business combination results in the termination 
of pre-existing relationships between the group 
and the acquiree, then the lower of the termination 
amount, as contained in the agreement, and the 
value of the off- market element is deducted from 
the consideration transferred and recognised in 
other expenses.

A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed 
in a business combination only if such a liability 
represents a present obligation and arises from a 
past event, and its fair value can be measured 
reliably.

The group accounts for business combinations 
by applying the acquisition method as discussed 
before. Subsidiaries are accounted for by including 
100% of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and 
cash flows on a line-by-line basis in the financial 
statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that joint control ceases.

The portion attributable to non-controlling interest 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and transferred to a 
non-distributable reserve.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021  |  Page  47Page  46 | Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021

Inter-Company Balances and Transactions
Intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised gains or losses arising from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of provision matrix used in determining the ECL provision - 30 June 2021.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Period Current 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 120 Days
 and After

Apportioned based on the net 
weighted average of debtors 0% 0,01% 9,99% 100% 100%

1.3 Financial Instruments
1.3.1 Initial Recognition

Financial instruments are recognised on the statements of financial position when the group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Initial measurement is carried at fair value through profit or loss.

The group’s financial instruments recognised on the statements of financial position include trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans to and from group companies, loans to and from shareholders, 
loans from directors, loans from related parties, long term borrowings, tenant installations and trade and other 
payables.

1.3.2 Classification
The group classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The classification 
of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed 
and its contractual cash flow characteristics and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

The group classifies financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or other 
financial liabilities. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial liabilities and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets are held at amortised cost if the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, and 
interest is a consideration for the time value of money and credit risk only. Financial instruments with cash flows 
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or 
loss. All equity instruments of the group, within the scope of IFRS 9, are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss.

The amortised cost model is applied to financial liabilities within the group, and where there is an exception 
or accounting mismatch between different methods of classification relating to financial liabilities. The group 
will classify the financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The following are classified as financial instruments

Type Classification

Unlisted investments The unlisted investments are classified at fair value through profit or loss

Long-term loans The long terms loans are classified as fair value through profit or loss on 
initial recognition

Trade and other receivables Trade and other receivables, including allowance for expected credit 
losses are classified at amortised cost in terms of IFRS 9

Trade and other payables Trade and other payables, including bank overdraft and tenant affects, 
are classified fair value through project of GSS

The classification depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired and takes place at initial 
recognition.
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1.3.3 Subsequent Measurement
Trade, loans and other receivables are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method, less accumulated impairment 
losses.

Financial liabilities, being trade payables including 
bank overdraft, at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Trade and other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans 
and receivables and are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency 
in payments are considered objective indicators 
that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance 
recognised is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account, and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
in the statement of comprehensive income within 
operating expenses. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against operations expenses in profit or loss 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Management identifies impairment of trade 
receivables and loan receivables on an ongoing 
basis. Impairment adjustments are raised against 
trade receivables and loan receivables in terms 
of IFRS 9’s expected credit loss (ECL) model. This 
is achieved by converting a historic ECL into a 
probability-weighted forward-looking ECL which 
takes into account industry specific economic 
conditions, validated historical macro-economic 
data and vetted forecasts and scenarios.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are classified at 
amortised cost and comprise cash on hand, 
demand deposits and other short- term investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of 

cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

Tenant Deposits
Deposits from tenants are received as a guarantee 
for returning the property at the end of the lease 
term in a specified good condition or for the 
lease payments for a period ranging from 1 to 12 
months. Such deposits are initially and subsequently 
recognised at fair value. (Refer to note 1.6 for the 
recognition of rental income).

Trade and other Payables
Trade and other payables are classified as financial 
liabilities at amortised cost and are initially measured 
at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Bank Overdrafts and Borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classified 
as financial liabilities at amortised cost. Bank 
overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. Bank 
overdrafts and borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the statement of financial position 
date.

Loans to Related Parties, Shareholders and Directors
These financial assets are classified as loans and 
receivables. They are initially measured at fair value 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method.

Loans from Related Parties and Directors
These financial liabilities are classified as financial 
liabilities at amortised cost. They are initially 
measured at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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1.3.4 Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting period, the Group assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets has been impaired. 
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, a 
loss allowance in terms of Expected credit losses is 
recognised for the financial assets in profit or loss, 
and if the credit risk of that financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
Where there is a debtor that has financial difficulties, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and defaults is increased are considered indicators 
of impairment and included in the loss allowance.

1.3.5 Derecognition
The derecognition of a financial instrument occurs 
when the Group no longer controls the contractual 
rights or the obligation has been extinguished, which 
is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or 
all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are 
passed through an independent third party. Any 
profit or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit 
or loss.

1.4 Investment Property
Property that is held for long-term rental yields 
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is 
not occupied by the Companies in the Group, is 
classified as investment property.

Investment property consists of land and buildings 
as well as vacant land held for capital appreciation. 
Properties are stated at cost on acquisition and 
subsequent additions that enhance the value of 
the property are capitalised.

Investment property is maintained, upgraded and 
refurbished where necessary, in order to preserve 
or improve the capital value as far as is possible 
to do so. Maintenance and repairs which neither 
materially add to the value of the properties nor 
prolong their useful lives are charged to profit or 
loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Subsequent to initial measurement, investment 
property is measured at fair value, adjusted for the 
straight- line lease income. A gain or loss arising from 
a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss 
for the period in which it arises.

Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational 
basis, ensuring that every property is independently 
valued every three years. Valuations are performed 
as at the reporting date by professional valuators 
who hold recognised and relevant professional 
qualifications and have received experience in the 
location and category of the investment property 
being valued. The directors value the remaining 

properties annually, using the capitalisation of 
net income method and taking into account the 
effects of lease smoothing in terms of IAS 40. This 
method takes net rentals and capitalises them at 
a rate which is consistent with comparable market 
transactions. The capitalisation rates reflect the risks 
inherent in the net cash flows and are constantly 
monitored by reference to comparable market 
transactions.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among 
other things, the assumptions about rental income 
from future leases in the light of current market 
conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar 
basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in 
respect of the property. Subsequent expenditure 
is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. When part of an investment property is 
replaced, the replacement part is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the investment property 
and the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

Investment properties are derecognised either 
when they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal.

On disposal of investment properties, the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the fair 
value at the date of the last valuation is charged or 
credited to profit or loss.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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1.5 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating 
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance Leases – Lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and 
liabilities in the statement of financial position at 
amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset 
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The liability to the lessor is included in the 
statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present 
value of the minimum lease payments is the Group’s 
interest rate implicit in the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each 
period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of 
the liability.

Operating Leases – Lessor
Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in 
profit or loss.
Properties leased out under operating leases are 
included in investment property in the statement 
of financial position. Refer to note 1.6 for the 
recognition of rental income.

Operating Leases – Lessee
Operating lease expense is recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contractual amounts received 
are recognised as an operating lease asset. This 
asset is not discounted.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contracted payments are 
recognised as an operating lease liability.

1.6 Revenue, other Income and Finance Income
Revenue from the letting of investment property 
comprises gross rental income. Recoveries of 
municipal charges are classified as revenue as 
the Group acts as principal in these transactions in 
that the Company collects the recoveries from the 
tenants and pays this to the respective municipality 
for the municipal charges incurred for the month.

In accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue comprises 
the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable for the services in the ordinary course 
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of 
value-added tax, after eliminating sales within the 
Group. The Group recognises revenue when the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it 
is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the entity and when specific criteria have been 
met for each of the Group’s activities based on the 
5 steps in revenue model for recognising revenue.
Finance income on amounts invested is recognised 
on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate 
method. Dividends received from subsidiaries are 
eliminated on consolidation.

1.7 Income Tax
Income Tax Expense Comprises Current and  
Deferred Tax
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as 
income or an expense and included in profit or 
loss for the period, except to the extent that the 
tax arises from a transaction recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Current Income Tax Assets and Liabilities
Current income tax for current and prior periods is, 
to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the 
amount already paid in respect of current and prior 
periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, 
the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities 
using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except to the extent 
that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary difference can 
be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised 
when it arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

1.8 Property, Plant and Equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset when:
• It is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the item will flow to the 
Company; and

• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.
 
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or 
construct an item of property, plant and equipment 
and costs incurred subsequently to add to or replace 
part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis 
over their useful lives to their estimated residual 
values.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average Useful Life

Fittings 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years 
Furniture 6 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years
Parking equipment 5 years
Plant & Equipment 5 - 12 years
Buildings 20 years

The depreciation charge for each period is 
recognised in profit or loss. The residual value, useful 
life and depreciation method of each asset are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the 
change is accounted for as a change in accounting 
estimate.

The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is included 
in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from the recognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

1.9 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting 
period whether there is any indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is 
estimated for the individual asset.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher 
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value 
less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is 
used.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction 
is an impairment loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods may no longer exist 
or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are 
estimated and the carrying value of asset adjusted 
accordingly.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1.10 Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of the 
Group that engages in business activities whose 
operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s decision makers. These results are utilised 
to assess the segment’s performance and facilitate 
decisions regarding resource allocation. The core 
business of the Group is property rental, which is 
reported into segments based on the nature and 
business functions of the tenants for ZAR X reporting 
purposes.

The following segments are listed in this report:
• Commercial, Industrial, Retail, Hospitality and 

Residential

The individual locations are listed in note 28. The 
measurement policies the Group uses for segment 
reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in 
its financial statements.

1.11 Related Parties
Related parties mostly consist of other entities 
controlled by directors of this Group. Refer to note 
29 where detailed disclosure regarding related 
party balances and transactions are presented. 
Key management consist of members of the board 
of directors.

1.12 Share Capital and Equity
Ordinary shares and Treasury shares are classified 
as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of new shares (or options) are deducted in 
equity from the proceeds.

1.13 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amount will be recovered through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable and the asset is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, 
which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date 
of classification. In the event the asset is not sold 
after a year the asset is reclassified to Investment 
Property.

1.14 Employee Benefits
Short-Term Benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits are 
recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case 
of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 

occurs. The expected cost of profit-sharing and 
bonus payments is recognised as an expense when 
there is a legal or contractual obligation to make 
such payments as a result of past performance

1.15 Significant Judgments and Key Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the Group financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions affecting the amounts represented in 
the financial statements and related disclosures. 
Use of available information and the application of 
judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. 
Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

1.15.1 Trade Receivables, Loans and Receivables
The Group assess its trade receivables and loans  
and receivables for impairment at each reporting 
date. In determining whether an impairment 
loss should be recorded in the statement of 
comprehensive income, the Group makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

Where discounting of trade receivables is applied, 
the Group makes judgements of possible future 
cash flows over the term the debtor are expected 
to repay in full discounted at a market related 
interest rate.

The impairment for trade receivables and loans and 
receivables is calculated on a case by case basis, 
based on known factors relating to the specific 
item. (Note 6).

1.15.2 Impairment Testing
The recoverable amounts of individual assets have 
been determined based on the higher of value-
in-use calculations and fair values less cost to sell. 
These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of 
assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest 
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely 
independent of cash flows of other assets and 
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, estimates are prepared 
of expected future cash flows for each Group 
of assets. Expected future cash flows used to 
determine the value in use of tangible assets are 
inherently uncertain and could materially change 
over time. (Note 3).

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1.15.3 Investment Property
All investment properties are externally valued each year on a rotational basis. The calculation of the 
market values of the properties has been based on the discount free cash flow method, or the net income 
capitalisation method, making use of market rental rates and capitalisation rates. Other aspects that are 
considered include:
• Nature of the property
• Forward rent and earning capability
• Exposure to future expenses and property risk
• Tenancy income capability
• Property expenditure
• Locality
• The current economy
• Risk profile

Where a property is already sectionalised, the direct comparable sales method was used by the directors 
whereby the subject sections was compared with registered sales in the area to determine the market 
value. The vacant land has been independently valued by an independent external valuator on the “Direct 
comparison basis”, taking into account the size of the land as well as the physical attributes of the property 
including all topographical characteristics of the land, structures if any on the land as well as the location 
of the property including zoning right on the property. Refer to Note 36 for detailed disclosure on fair value 
assumptions.

In terms of IAS 40, consideration has been given to whether Orion House should be classified as being owner- 
occupied. However, due to the immaterial percentage occupation by Group Companies, the main use of 
the property results in the treatment as investment property as fair value adjustments in profit or loss under IAS 
40.

1.15.4 Statement of Comprehensive Income
The presentation format of the statement of comprehensive income is grouped by nature which in the opinion 
of the directors, provides the reader with a comprehensive understanding of the operations of the Group. 
During 2019 financial year, after careful consideration a decision was taken to reclassify some line items 
within the statement of comprehensive income, which the directors felt would present the reader with more 
meaningful information.

1.16. Standards and Interpretations Effective and Adopted in the Current Year
Standards and Interpretations Early Adopted

The group has not adopted any new standards and interpretations.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

3. Investment Property
3.1 Balances at Year-End and Movements for the Year

Investment Property

Group at 
30 June 2021

R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Investment Property at 1 July
Cost 230,417 174,560

Cumulative fair value adjustments 438,583 354,440

Net Book Value 669,000 529,000

Investment property at the beginning of the year 669,000 529,000

Gains on fair value adjustment 15,200 44,200

Transfer from investment property to investment property held for sale 3,500 (3,500)

Transfer from investment property held for sale back to investment property - 99,300

Investment Property at 30 June 687,700 669,000

Reconciliation of Investment Property
Cost 233,917 230,417

Cumulative fair value adjustments 453,783 438,583

Total Investment Property 687,700 669,000

There is no restrictions on remittance of income or proceeds from disposals.

3.2 Group 2021
Investment property comprises the following:

Figures in R

Group at 
30 June 

2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Property Name Situated Purchase 
Price

Cumulative 
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Total

Value

72 Voortrekker Street 72 Voortrekker Avenue, 
Edenvale 4,000 12,300 (3,300) 13,000

19 and 20 John Street 19 and 20 John Street, Selby, 
Johannesburg 4,100 8,900 4,900 17,900

296 Kent Avenue 296 Kent Avenue, Ferndale, 
Randburg 30,000 2,000 - 32,000

593 Louis Botha 
Avenue

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley 4,269 1,831 3,900 10,000

98 Forest Road, 
Bramley

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley - 2,900 100 3,000

ACA Krans Building 35 Symonds Road, Auckland 
Park 38,200 54,300 7,500 100,000

Kensington B Cnr Bram Fischer and Frere 
Road, Randburg 5,975 16,025 - 22,000

Laser Park Stand 101 1052 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 9,500 14,500 4,000 28,000

Laser Park Stand 123 1066 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 5,300 5,200 1,300 11,800

Laser Park Stand 
124-126 124 Ridge Road, Roodepoort 9,200 19,700 (400) 28,500

Lydenburg Erf 63 & 
64

36 Breytenbach Street, 
Lydenburg 9,500 3,000 (2,500) 10,000

Marlboro 161 41-14th Street, Marlboro, 
Sandton 1,100 5,700 700 7,500

Meyers Building Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Rd, Primrose, Germiston 3,900 7,600 (1,500) 10,000

Northcliff Atrium 189 Beyers Naude Drive, 
Northcliff 8,200 17,600 4,200 30,000

Orion Centre Erf 257 Cnr 1st Avenue and Boeing 
Road, Edenvale 5,982 (982) (5,000) -

Primrose Mall Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Road, Primrose, Germinston 7,400 16,600 (500) 23,500

Phalaborwa Erf 1822, Phalaborwa 14,000 (5,600) 1,600 10,000
Promenade 
Shopping Centre and 
Hotel Complex

Cnr Louis Trichardt and 
Henshall Streets, Nelspruit 37,423 226,577 - 264,000

Score - Roosendal Erf 3550, situated at 
Roosendal, Western Cape 3,305 (1,105) 4,300 6,500

Score - Wesbank
Cnr Silversands and 
Westbank, Main Street, Cape 
Town

3,305 (5) (300) 3,000

Wartburger Hof Hotel 52 Noodsberg Road, 
Wartburg 8,100 (1,100) - 7,000

Wendywood Daphne Street, Wendywood, 
Sandton 17,657 13,143 (3,800) 50,000

Total 230,417 442,083 15,200 687,700



Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021  |  Page  57Page  56 | Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021

3.2 Group 2021
Investment property comprises the following:

Figures in R

Group at 
30 June 

2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Property Name Situated Purchase 
Price

Cumulative 
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Total

Value

72 Voortrekker Street 72 Voortrekker Avenue, 
Edenvale 4,000 12,300 (3,300) 13,000

19 and 20 John Street 19 and 20 John Street, Selby, 
Johannesburg 4,100 8,900 4,900 17,900

296 Kent Avenue 296 Kent Avenue, Ferndale, 
Randburg 30,000 2,000 - 32,000

593 Louis Botha 
Avenue

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley 4,269 1,831 3,900 10,000

98 Forest Road, 
Bramley

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley - 2,900 100 3,000

ACA Krans Building 35 Symonds Road, Auckland 
Park 38,200 54,300 7,500 100,000

Kensington B Cnr Bram Fischer and Frere 
Road, Randburg 5,975 16,025 - 22,000

Laser Park Stand 101 1052 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 9,500 14,500 4,000 28,000

Laser Park Stand 123 1066 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 5,300 5,200 1,300 11,800

Laser Park Stand 
124-126 124 Ridge Road, Roodepoort 9,200 19,700 (400) 28,500

Lydenburg Erf 63 & 
64

36 Breytenbach Street, 
Lydenburg 9,500 3,000 (2,500) 10,000

Marlboro 161 41-14th Street, Marlboro, 
Sandton 1,100 5,700 700 7,500

Meyers Building Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Rd, Primrose, Germiston 3,900 7,600 (1,500) 10,000

Northcliff Atrium 189 Beyers Naude Drive, 
Northcliff 8,200 17,600 4,200 30,000

Orion Centre Erf 257 Cnr 1st Avenue and Boeing 
Road, Edenvale 5,982 (982) (5,000) -

Primrose Mall Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Road, Primrose, Germinston 7,400 16,600 (500) 23,500

Phalaborwa Erf 1822, Phalaborwa 14,000 (5,600) 1,600 10,000
Promenade 
Shopping Centre and 
Hotel Complex

Cnr Louis Trichardt and 
Henshall Streets, Nelspruit 37,423 226,577 - 264,000

Score - Roosendal Erf 3550, situated at 
Roosendal, Western Cape 3,305 (1,105) 4,300 6,500

Score - Wesbank
Cnr Silversands and 
Westbank, Main Street, Cape 
Town

3,305 (5) (300) 3,000

Wartburger Hof Hotel 52 Noodsberg Road, 
Wartburg 8,100 (1,100) - 7,000

Wendywood Daphne Street, Wendywood, 
Sandton 17,657 13,143 (3,800) 50,000

Total 230,417 442,083 15,200 687,700

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 Group 2020
Investment property comprises the following:

Figures in R

Group at 
30 June 

2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Property Name Situated Purchase 
Price

Cumulative 
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Fair Value 

Adjustments
Total

Value

72 Voortrekker Street 72 Voortrekker Avenue, 
Edenvale 4,000 6,300 6,000 16,300

19 and 20 John Street 19 and 20 John Street, Selby, 
Johannesburg 4,100 11,700 (6,300) 9,500

296 Kent Avenue 296 Kent Avenue, Ferndale, 
Randburg 30,000 (1,000) 3,000 32,000

593 Louis Botha 
Avenue

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley 4,269 18,731 (16,900) 6,100

98 Forest Road, 
Bramley

Cnr Louis Botha and Forest 
Road, Bramley - - 2,900 2,900

ACA Krans Building 35 Symonds Road, Auckland 
Park 38,200 59,800 (5,500) 92,500

Kensington B Cnr Bram Fischer and Frere 
Road, Randburg 5,975 17,025 (1,000) 22,000

Laser Park Stand 101 1052 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 9,500 14,500 - 24,000

Laser Park Stand 123 1066 Schooner Street, 
Honeydew 5,300 5,200 - 10,500

Laser Park Stand 
124-126 124 Ridge Road, Roodepoort 9,200 23,900 (4,200) 28,900

Lydenburg Erf 63 & 
64

36 Breytenbach Street, 
Lydenburg 9,500 3,500 (500) 12,500

Marlboro 161 41-14th Street, Marlboro, 
Sandton 1,100 5,600 100 6,800

Meyers Building Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Rd, Primrose, Germiston 3,900 6,700 900 11,500

Northcliff Atrium 189 Beyers Naude Drive, 
Northcliff 8,200 23,100 (5,500) 25,800

Orion Centre Erf 257 Cnr 1st Avenue and Boeing 
Road, Edenvale 5,982 4,018 (5,000) 5,000

Primrose Mall Cnr Rietfontein and Shamrock 
Road, Primrose, Germinston 7,400 9,800 6,800 24,000

Phalaborwa Erf 1822, Phalaborwa 14,000 - (5,600) 8,400
Promenade 
Shopping Centre and 
Hotel Complex

Cnr Louis Trichardt and 
Henshall Streets, Nelspruit 37,423 162,577 64,000 264,000

Score - Roosendal Erf 3550, situated at 
Roosendal, Western Cape 3,305 (605) (500) 2,200

Score - Wesbank
Cnr Silversands and 
Westbank, Main Street, Cape 
Town

3,305 (605) 600 3,300

Wartburger Hof Hotel 52 Noodsberg Road, 
Wartburg 8,100 2,800 (3,900) 7,000

Wendywood Daphne Street, Wendywood, 
Sandton 17,657 21,343 14,800 53,800

Total 230,417 394,383 44,200 669,000
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Details of Valuation
External Valuation
None of the investment properties were externally valued during the 2021 financial year.
In the 2019 financial year, the external valuer used was Quadrant Properties Proprietary Limited.
Quadrant Properties Proprietary Limited is not connected to the Group and has recent experience in the location 
and category of the investment properties that were valued at 31 July 2019 amounting to R529, 000 000; and the 
remaining properties were revalued at 30 June 2018. They hold recognised relevant professional qualifications.

Directors Valuation
The valuation of investment properties totaling R 687 700 000 was based on a directors’ valuation performed in 
2021. None of the above properties were externally valued during 2021 financial year.
Assumptions used in the valuations were based on current market conditions by taking into account prevailing 
market rentals, occupation levels, property expenditure, expected rental income and capitalisation rates applied 
to the property portfolio.

Valuations are considered to be level 3 on the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 13. Level 3 valuations make use of 
significant assumptions that are based on inputs that are not observable in the market and necessitate the use of 
internal information in situations in which there is little market activity.
There have been no movements of inputs between fair value hierarchy levels and no changes in the methods of 
valuation as mentioned in this note. Refer to Note 36 for more detail on the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value adjustment in the current year was based on the directors’ valuation. Any gain or loss resulting from 
the fair value gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Sensitivity Analysis on 2021/2020 Properties

Sensitivity Analysis of Increase/Decrease in Sensitivity 2021
R

2020
R

1% increase in capitalisation rates 75,273 66,477

1% decrease in capitalisation rates (75,273) (66,477)

Net Effect on Investment Property with Sensitivity Effect

With 1% increase in capitalisation rates 828,001 735,477

With 1% decrease in capitalisation rates 677,455 602,523

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Average capitalisation rate of the portfolio 10 % 9.885%
Directors Valuation
The director’s valuations are consistent when comparing to the calculations by the sworn independent  
appraiser’s referred to above.
Sensitivity Analysis of Capitalisation Rates

Highest capitalisation rate for the portfolio 10% 11,3%

Lowest capitalisation rate for the portfolio 0% 8,5%

Average capitalisation rate for the portfolio 10% 9,9%

3.4 Summary of Valuations NOTE 2021 2020

Value of internal valuations - Directors 4 687,700 672,500

Total Value of Portfolio 687,700 672,500
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4. Right-of-use Assets
Reconciliation of right of use asset recognised in statement of financial position at 30 June 2021

Figures in R Group at 
30 June 2021

Group at  
30 September  

2020

Initial Right-of-use Assets Recognised in Terms of IFRS, Effective 
1 October 2020 3,648,267 4,621,138

Amortisation of Right-of-use asset from effective date to 
1 October 2020 - -

Initial Right-of-use Assets Recognised in Terms of IFRS, Effective 
1 October 2020 3,648,267 4,621,138

Depreciation/Amortisation of right-of-use assets (729,653) (972,871)

Total Right-of-use Asset as at 30 June 2021 2,918,614 3,648,267

The Group has not entered into any short term leases during the period under review.

Lease Liability
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Maturity Analysis

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows 

Next 1 year 1,291 948

Next 2 - 5 years 2,860 3,463

4,151 4,412
Less finance charges (439) -

3,712 4,412

Current liabilities 1,073 948

Non-current liabilities 2,639 3,463

3,712 4,412

5. Deferred Lease Asset
5.1 Accounting Policies
Deferred lease asset consist of various payments that have been made in advance for goods and services to be 
received in future. Deferred lease asset are measured at amortised cost, and are derecognised when the goods 
and services to which the prepayment relate have been received.

Movement in the Current Year
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

At Beginning of Year
At Cost 5,741 -
Accumulated amortisation (279) -

Net Book Value 5,462 -

Raised in the current year 2,505 5,741
Amortisation for the year (279) (279)
Net Book Value at End of Year 7,688 5,462

At End of Year
At Cost 8,246 5,741
Accumulated amortisation (558) (279)

Net Book Value 7,688 5,462

Non-current asset 7,688 5,462

Current asset - -

7,688 5,462

Deferred lease assets arose due to the smoothing of rental over the lease term. Deferred lease asset will unwind 
down to Rnil at the end of the lease term with the differences in the deferred lease asset ending up in the 
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

5. Deferred Lease Asset
5.1 Accounting Policies
Deferred lease asset consist of various payments that have been made in advance for goods and services to be 
received in future. Deferred lease asset are measured at amortised cost, and are derecognised when the goods 
and services to which the prepayment relate have been received.

Movement in the Current Year
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

At Beginning of Year
At Cost 5,741 -
Accumulated amortisation (279) -

Net Book Value 5,462 -

Raised in the current year 2,505 5,741
Amortisation for the year (279) (279)
Net Book Value at End of Year 7,688 5,462

At End of Year
At Cost 8,246 5,741
Accumulated amortisation (558) (279)

Net Book Value 7,688 5,462

Non-current asset 7,688 5,462

Current asset - -

7,688 5,462

Deferred lease assets arose due to the smoothing of rental over the lease term. Deferred lease asset will unwind 
down to Rnil at the end of the lease term with the differences in the deferred lease asset ending up in the 
income statement.



Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021  |  Page  63Page  62 | Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021

6. Trade and Other Receivables
6.1 Accounting Policies

Trade receivables classified as loans and receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators 
that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written 
off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at  
30 September  

2020
R’000

Rental debtors 4,669 8,185

Expected credit loss allowance (3,494) (6,638)

Trade Receivables at Amortised Cost 1,174 1,547

Sundry debtors 489 -

Deposits 324 13

Income tax receivable 24 -

Staff Loans 59 -

Municipal deposits 1,369 -

Non-Financial Instruments

Value added tax - 453

Total Current Receivables 3,441 2,013

Components of Trade and other Receivables

Financial instruments 3,441 1,560

Non-financial instruments - 453

3,441 2,013

The carrying amounts of the Group trade and other receivables are denominated in South African Rands.
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6.2 Expected Credit Losses (ECL) Allowance Included Above

At the end of each reporting period, a loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for all rental debtors, in accordance 
with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

At each reporting date, the Board of Directors assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost (such 
as long-term loans granted) have significantly increased in credit risk. The Board considers a financial asset to be 
in default when:
- The financial instrument is more than 90 days past due

Analysis of Provision Matrix Used in Determining the ECL Provision

Loss Rate 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 120 Days 
and over Total

Gross carrying amount at default 
(%)

0 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Loss allowance - 833 561 2,100 3,494

Total - 833 561 2,100 3,494

Reconciliation of Expected Credit Loss Model
2021

R
2020

R

Opening loss allowance (IAS39) as at 01 October 2020) 6,638 8,435

Reversal of impairment - (2,873)

Increase/(Decrease) in allowance (3,144) 1,076

Closing Credit Loss Allowance as at 30 June 2021 3,494 6,638
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7. Loans to Related Parties
2021

R
2020

R

OFM Property Management Proprietary Limited - 66

Orion Security Services Proprietary Limited - -
Star Finance Corporation Proprietary Limited - 323

- 389

Current assets - 389

Current liabilities - -

- 389

The loans are unsecured, bear no interest and there are no fixed terms of repayment.

The carrying value of loans (from) / to related parties approximates its fair value and the effect of discounting is 
immaterial. The Group does not hold any collateral as security and the balance represents the maximum credit 
exposure as at reporting date.

These balances were considered in terms of the ECL model and in terms of IFRS 9 and considered to be 
qualitatively material. The impact of these loans was considered in the expected credit loss calculation.

8. Loans to Shareholders

Figures in R

Group at 
30 June 2021

R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 45,583 45,670

It must be noted that financial assistance has been granted to GIH which holds 93.04% of the issued share 
capital in ORE. It must be further noted that Mr Franz Gmeiner who is the Chief Executive Officer of ORE, is also 
the owner of GIH.

The loans are unsecured bear interest at repo rate plus 100 basis points, interest is charged on the month end 
balance. There are no fixed repayment terms.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the loan above.
The directors of ORE draws the attention of the reader, of these annual financial statements, to further information 
relating to the provision of financial assistance to shareholders being performed per transaction and reviewed 
by the directors, of the organisation have been complied with in terms of the Companies Act and a special 
resolution for financial assistance is tabled for approval at the AGM.
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A resolution authorising the provision of financial assistance has been approved by the board of ORE.

The directors further wish to inform the shareholders that the organisation runs a treasury function whereby cash 
between GIH and ORE is pooled in order to more effectively manage the cash of ORE and the extended group. 
Due to this treasury function transactions are processed between GIH and ORE on a regular basis.

Reconciliation of GIH R

Balance as per 30 June 2018 47,348
Bond payments 5,196

Interest on loan 3,354

Loan (advances)/repayments (2,282)

Dividends ceded against loan account (14,670)
Balance as per 30 September 2019 38,945

Bond payments 4,148

Interest on loan 2,883

Loan (advances)/repayments (306)

Balance as per 30 September 2020 45,670
Bond payments 823

Interest on loan 1,953

Loan (advances)/repayments (2,863)

Balance as per 30 June 2021 45,583

This balance was considered when assessing the possible impact of the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model on 
Loan to Shareholders and it was determined to not have an impact on the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) due to 
the following reasons:
• Interest is charged on the loan account at SARS interest rate plus 100 basis points based on the month to 

month balance;
• The interest rate charged is considered by management to be in line with market related rates;
• Dividends declared are ceded against the shareholders loan account; and
• A special resolution in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act relating to financial assistance was passed 

by the shareholders at the last AGM.
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9.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Cash on hand 27 10

Balances with financial institutions 3,608 6,209

Total Cash 3,634 6,219
Total Included in Current Assets 3,634 6,219

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,634 6,219

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates its fair value due to the short-term nature.

10. Investment Property Classified as Held for Sale

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Opening fair value of property held for sale 3,500 99,300

Transferred from investment property - -

Gross fair value adjustment to investment property held for sale - -

Transferred to Investment Property* (3,500) (99,300)

Investment property held for sale in terms of rent to buy option - 3,500

Closing Fair Value of Property Held for Sale - 3,500

*The Investment properties held for sale in 2020 were not sold during 2021 financial year and have been 
reclassified to Investment Properties. Management decided to no longer actively seek to sell these properties.

The conditions of purchasing the property from the potential buyer were not met and therefore management 
has decided to reclassify these properties back to Investment Property in terms of IAS40.

Details of the Investment Properties Held for Sale as Rent to Buy as at 30 September 2020.

Property Name Situated Land Value Building 
Value Total

19 John Street 19 John Street, Selby, 
Johannesburg - 3,500 3,500

- 3,500 3,500

Carrying amount of deposit held in terms of rent to buy option approximates its fair value.

11. Issued Capital Authorised 
A resolution authorising the provision of financial assistance has been approved by the board of ORE.

The directors further wish to inform the shareholders that the organisation runs a treasury function whereby 
cash between GIH and ORE is pooled in order to more effectively manage the cash of ORE and the extended 
group. Due to this treasury function transactions are processed between GIH and ORE on a regular basis.
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Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

2 000 000 000 shares of no-par value Issued 643 120 785 ordinary 
shares of no-par value 126,244 126,244

Balance at the beginning of the year 126,244 126,232

Shares repurchased - Scheme of arrangement - (126,232)

New shares issued – ZAR X listing - 126,232

Shares issued - 12

3 688 866 treasury shares with no-par value (695) (695)

Balance at the beginning of the year (695) (695)

125,549 125,549

Description of Securities
The Group is authorised to list 643 120 785 ordinary Shares, of the same class, each of which ranks pari passu 
in respect of all rights and entitles the holder to:
• vote on any matter to be decided by the Shareholders of the Grouo and to 1 one) vote in the case of 

a vote by means of a poll;
•  participate proportionally in any distribution made by the Group; and
•  receive proportionally the net assets of the Group upon its liquidation.

The Group may not issue any further classes of Shares, or shares subject to the preferences, rights, limitations 
and other terms associated without a special resolution adopted by Shareholders.

Modification of Terms and Other Attributes
There are no provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any rights attached to the 
Securities being listed. There are also no attributes attached to the Securities being listed.

Stock Exchange Price
ORE’s shares were previously listed on the JSE under the name ORE and were suspended at 58 cents.  The 
trade in the Company’s shares was unsuspended on 31 October 2019. However, the Scheme Circular had 
already been issued with the offer of 2 cents per share, resulting in the ringfenced shares which are offered 
back to the same shareholders. The shares had limited trade at 2 cents per share from 31 October 2019 until 
the JSE delisting on 18 December 2019 due to the Scheme of Arrangement offer price being at 2 cents to 
facilitate the intended delisting during this period.

The Company’s shares were listed on ZAR X at 50 cents per share. The commercial property industry locally 
and abroad has been materially impacted due to:
a) Financial markets meltdown;
b) COVID-19 lockdowns in most countries; and
c) The threat of on-line shopping and virtual business models generally.
The Company is not immune to the above risks and realities. However, the listing price is almost 50% of NAV. 
Since ORE has low gearing, this will also open up opportunities for merger and acquisition activity.

Major Security Holders
Unfortunately, the JSE would not allow the minority shareholders to elect to retain any shares as part of the 
delisting of the Company by way of a Scheme of Arrangement.

Accordingly, the shares of all the minority shareholders were acquired by GIH for a consideration of 2 cents 
per share.
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However, in the Scheme Circular, GIH committed to allowing the minority shareholders to reacquire their 
shares at the same price as per the Scheme Circular, for a period of six months after delisting, which period 
will end on 18 June 2020. These shares will be ringfenced in the share register and any reacquisition at 2 cents 
per share will not be recorded as a trade through ZAR X. A number of the larger minority shareholders have 
already indicated that the shares will be reacquired.

The reacquisition of shares will be an off-market transaction for change of ownership as anticipated in the 
Scheme of Arrangement circular dated 16 October 2019 and will attract Securities Transfer Tax (STT) on the 
consideration of 2 cents per share, which will be payable by the former minority shareholders prior to the 
off-market transaction(s) being processed. Post listing on ZAR X, SARS will deem the consideration for the 
purposes of calculating STT to be the market price at the time and the former minority shareholder will be 
liable for the higher STT, which must be paid to Computershare upfront.

Former minority shareholders will be required to open up share trading accounts with ZAR X in order to re-
acquire and trade in the shares.

Shareholding Structure

Name of Shareholder Number of
Shares

% of the Issued
Shares

Related Parties and Directors

GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 374,750,167 58,2

F Gmeiner 1,885,877 0,3

A Gmeiner 2,056,471 0,3

Public

- FJ Gmeiner 50,653,325 7,9

- NR Gmeiner 50,653,325 7,9

- AR Gmeiner 50,653,325 7,9

- Public - other 47,074,429 7,3

- Dollargold Trust 60,000,000 9,3

Other

Orion Group Employees Share Trust 1,705,000 0,3

Ixia Tradings 532 (Pty) Ltd - Shares held in Treasury 3,688,866 0,6

Total 643,120,785 100

ORE does not yet meet the ZAR X shareholder spread requirements of 300 shareholders and 30% of the 
issued shares to be held by the public.

Furthermore, the ZAR X Listings Committee has approved the listing on ZAR X with the specific requirement 
that the Company attains a public shareholder spread within a 3-year period.

Mr F Gmeiner, the Chief Executive Officer and founder of Orion Group, has committed himself to reducing 
his family’s holdings held through GIH to 70% or below, over the next 3 years in order to achieve the required 
shareholder spread, which is also expected to improve the tradability of the shares.

This will be facilitated by providing a line of shares into the market through a ZAR X registered broker during 
open periods and allowing previous minority shareholders to reacquire the ringfenced shares.

The Group also intends to continue with the acquisition of properties by way of issue of shares and cash, 
which will further improve the shareholder spread of the Group.
*The 44 122 377 shares are ringfenced for former minority shareholders, the public float of the issued shares 
at date of this Listing Circular is 198 442 876 shares, amounting to 30.8% of the issued share capital. Excluding 
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the ringfenced shares, the public float is 154 320 499 shares, amounting to 24.0%

Carrying amount of listed share capital approximates its fair value.

12. Deferred Tax

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Fair value on investment properties 252 -

Rental smoothing - current year movement 100 -

IFRS16 - Interest related to operating lease/rent 59 -

IFRS16 - Operating lease/rent paid (253) -

IFRS16- Amortisation of right of use asset - current year 204 -

Provision for leave pay - current 170 -

Provision for leave pay - previous year (264) -

Allowance for credit losses - current year 33 -

Allowance for credit losses - previous year (18) -

Reversal due to regaining of REIT - 90,057

Total Deferred Tax Liability 282 90,057

Deferred tax asset and liability are related to income tax within the same jurisdiction, being South Africa only, 
and per IAS 12: Income tax, the law does allow net settlement.

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

At beginning of the year - (90,057)

Movements in the current year

Fair value on investment properties 252 -

Rental smoothing - current year movement 100 -

IFRS16 - Interest related to operating lease/rent 59 -

IFRS16 - Operating lease/rent paid (253) -

IFRS16- Amortisation of right of use asset - current year 204 -

Provision for leave pay - current 170 -

Provision for leave pay - previous year (264) -

Allowance for credit losses - current year 33 -

Allowance for credit losses - previous year (18) -

Raised/(reversed) due to regaining/(loss) of REIT status - 90,057

Balance at End of the Year 282 -
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13. Borrowings

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Long-term 78,604 78,457

Short-term 8,481 14,982

Total Borrowings 87,085 93,439

Reconciliation of Borrowings

Opening balance 93,439 65,248

Additions to borrowings – long-term 450 89,710

Repayments (12,250) (68,260)

Interest incurred 5,445 6,741

Total Balance of Borrowings 87,085 93,439

Analysis of long-term and short-term borrowings
Long-term Borrowings

Financial Institution Settlement 
Date

Monthly
Instalment

Interest 
Rate

Value of  
Related 

Secured 
Assets Note 

3 & 4

2021 2020

Bidvest Bank 31 July 2025 1,249 Prime plus 
1,3% 296,000 75,390 75,025

Zephan Properties - 
Vendor loan

31 January 
2024 11 Prime plus 

3,0% 10,000 2,300 2,300

Wartburgerhof cc 
- second mortage 
bond

Extended 38 Prime plus 
3,0% 7,000 468 1,132

Standard Bank 
Finance - Stannic

30 June 
2026 10 Prime plus 

1,5% - 446 -

Total Long-term  
Borrowings 1,308 313,000 78,604 78,457

Short-term Borrowings

Financial Institution Settlement 
Date

Monthly
Instalment

Prime Plus / 
(Less) %

Value of  
Related 

Secured 
Assets Note 

3 & 4

2021 2020

Bidvest Bank - short-
term portion

31 July 2025 1,239 Prime plus 
1,3%

296,000 8,093 14,982

Wartburgerhof cc - 
2nd mortage bond

Extended 38 Prime plus 
3,0%

7,000 388 -

Total Short-term  
Borrowings

1,277 307,000 8,481 14,982

Total Mortgage Finance 1,288 246,285 87,085 93,439
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14. Tenant Deposits
14.1 Accounting Policies
Tenant deposits are considered to be a financial instrument and all amounts received from tenants are used 
for tenant installations that tenant requires to meet their needs. Tenant deposits are classified as financial 
liabilities.

The tenant deposit is deemed to be Level 3 in terms of the fair value hierarchy as there are significant 
unobservable inputs for the tenant deposits that are held as a current liability. Tenant deposits are measured 
at fair value each reporting period and any gains or losses on the tenant deposits are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Reconciliation of Tenant Deposits Held
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Opening balance 5,538 10,434

Received in the current year 659 -

Deposits received/(paid) 207 (4,896)

Closing Balance 6,403 5,538

Current liability 2,869 2,939

Non-current liability 3,535 2,598

6,403 5,538

The carrying value of tenant deposits approximates its fair value.

15. Trade and Other Payables
15.1 Accounting Policies
Trade payables are classified as loans and receivables and measured at initial recognition at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Trade and other Payables are made up as Follows
Group at 30

June 2021
R’000

Group at 30 
September 2020

R’000
Trade creditors 16,829 28,513

Other payables 8,829 13,627

Non-financial Instruments

Value added tax 691 -

Total Trade and other Payables 26,349 42,140

Components of Trade and other Payables

Financial instruments 25,658 42,140

Non-financial instruments 691 -

26,349 42,140
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16. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Contractual rental income 44,662 37,612

Contracted operating costs recovered 3,446 4,760

Utilities / Municipal charges recovered 14,325 20,290

Contractual parking rental income 2,538 3,785

Total Revenue 64,972 66,447

Reconciliation of Revenue per Category above

Contractual revenue 64,972 66,447

Non contractual revenue - -

Total Revenue 64,972 66,447

17. Other Income

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Insurance claims received - 278

Other income 2,037 673

Total other Revenue 2,037 951

18. Property Related Expenses
Property Related Expenses include the following material and significant expenses:

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Assessment Rates and Municipal Charges

Assessment rates 5,193 6,187

Electricity 12,952 10,994

Sewer 881 2,032

Water 924 2,471

Refuse 272 306

Sundry - 599

Total 20,222 22,589
Consulting, Legal and Professional Fees 1,440 12,704
Employee Costs Including Directors Emoluments

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 5,281 11,520

Directors emoluments 2,686 4,989

Total 7,967 16,509
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

19. Other Administration Expenses
Property Related Expenses include the following material and significant expenses:

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Auditors Remuneration

Audit fees 500 1,225

Depreciation and Amortisation

- Property, plant and equipment 700 981

- Amortisation of right of use assets 730 973

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 1,429 1,954

20. Fair Value Adjustments and Gains and/or Losses
Property Related Expenses include the following material and significant expenses:

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Loss on sale of Investment properties - Note 3 - (1,450)

Straight-lined lease rentals - (4,200)
Fair value adjustment on Investment Properties arising from 
revaluation - Note 4 15,200 49,850

Other Gains 15,200 44,200

21. Finance Income

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Interest received from financial institutions and tenants 1,735 525

Interest on shareholders loan 1,953 2,446

Total Finance Income 3,687 2,972

22. Finance Cost

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Interest bearing borrowings 7,158 9,396

Total Finance Cost 7,158 9,396
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23. Income Tax (Expense) / Refund

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

Current Tax (4,081) (12,179)
SA Normal rates (3,799) (271)

Deferred taxation (282) (11,908)

Deferred Tax (282) (90,328)
Originating and reversing temporary differences (282) (90,328)

Taxation per Statement of Comprehensive Income (4,363) (102,507)

Taxable Amount Reconciliation

Total taxable profit for ORE Group 38,488 28,355
Tax thereon @ 28% 10,777 7,939

Permanent Differences (60) (12,345)
Fair value adjustment of Investment Property - (12,376)

Expenses of a capital nature (72) -

SARS Interest and penalties 1 -

Donations - non deductible 11 31

Temporary Differences (6,635) (97,831)
Originating and reversing temporary differences - -

Deferred taxation raised/(reversed) on loss/regaining of REIT - s25BB - (89,273)

Capital gains raised/(reversed) on sale of Investment Property - (12,179)

Provision for leave pay (94) 16

Allowance for credit losses (880) 301

Fair value on investment properties (4,256)

Rental smoothing - current year movement (659)

IFRS16 - Interest related to operating lease/rent 59 -

IFRS16 - Operating lease/rent paid (253) -

IFRS16 - Amortisation of right of use asset - current year 204 272

Assessed losses utilised not recognised as deferred tax asset (756) 3,032

Tax Charge 4,081 (102,237)

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

24. Statement of Cash Flow Information

Figures in R Notes

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

GROUP AT 30 
SEPTEMBER 2020

R’000

Profit Before Tax 38,488 28,354

Adjusted for:
Finance income 20 (3,687) (2,972)

Finance cost 21 7,158 9,396

Add or Deduct Non-cash Items:

- Fair value adjustment of property 3 (15,200) (44,200)

- Depreciation 2 700 981

- Straight line operating lease adjustment 5 730 (5,462)

- Other non-cash items (2,209) (2,498)

25,980 (11,405)
Changes in Working Capital

- (Decrease) in Trade and other payables 15 (15,791) (8,261)

- Increase/(Decrease) in Tenant deposits 14 866 (4,896)

- (Decrease)/Increase in Trade and other receivables 6 (1,428) 24,295

Cash Generated from Operations 9,627 (267)

25. Earnings per Share
Basic Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit or loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Headline Earnings per Share
Headline earnings per share is determined by dividing headline earnings by the weighted average number of 
shares during the year. Headline earnings are after tax and non-controlling interest (of which there are none).
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The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per 
share are as follows:

Figures in R Notes

Group at 
30 September 

2020
R’000

GROUP AT 30 
SEPTEMBER 2020

R’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 34,406 130,591

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share for  
continuing operations 34,406 130,591

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate basic 
earnings per share 639,432 639,432

Reconciliation of Numerators Used for Basic and Diluted 
Earnings:
Shares in issue 643,120,785 643,120,785
Number of shares for basic earnings 642,529,257 642,529,257

Increase in the number of shares 591,528 591,528

Number of shares for basic earnings 643,120,785 643,120,785

Less: treasury shares (3,688,866) (3,688,866)

Number of Shares for Net Asset and Diluted Earnings per Share 639,431,919 639,431,919

Headline Earnings Reconciliation:

Basic earnings 34,406 130,591

Fair value adjustment to investment properties 3 (15,200) (44,200)

Headline Earnings 19,206 86,391

Reconciliation of Net Asset Value:

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 626,994 592,588

Total Net Asset Value 626,994 592,588

Earnings per Share (Cents)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 5,38 20,42

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 5,38 20,42

Headline earning per share

Headline earnings/(loss) per share 3,00 13,51

Net asset value per share

Net asset value per share at year-end (cents) 98,05 92,67

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

26. Segment Information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the management accounting practices of the 
Company. The Group has identified 4 segments: retail, commercial, industrial, and hospitality. All properties are 
owned in South Africa and therefore no separate geographical report has been made.

Commercial
The commercial portfolio mainly consists of office space as well as 
vacant land zoned for commercial development. National and local 
tenants form part of this portfolio.

Industrial
The industrial portfolio includes 3 properties situated in industrial parks 
with single tenant The industrial portfolio includes 3 properties situated in 
industrial parks with single tenant.

Retail
The retail portfolio includes mainly shopping centres such as Promenade 
Shopping Centre, Wendywood Shopping Centre etc with a mix of 
national and local tenants.

Hospitality The hospitality portfolio relates to the Hotel Promenade as well as 
Wartburger Hof Hotel that forms part of this portfolio.

The hospitality portfolio relates to the Hotel Promenade as well as Wartburger Hof Hotel that forms part of this 
portfolio.

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 30 
September 

2020
R’000

Revenue (excluding recoveries) per Segment

- Commercial 13,994 15,372

- Industrial 9,572 7,801

- Retail 26,656 18,224

- Hospitality - -

50,221 41,397

Property Related Expenses per Segment

- Commercial 10,653 19,660

- Industrial 1,241 3,522

- Retail 9,138 21,671

- Hospitality - -

21,033 44,853

Fair Value Adjustment on Investment Property per Segment

- Commercial 14,000 (22,658)

- Industrial 8,000 (7,342)

- Retail (1,800) 83,100

- Hospitality - (3,900)

- Land (5,000) (5,000)

15,200 44,200
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Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 30 
September 

2020
R’000

Fair Value of Investment Properties per Segment

- Commercial 220,000 206,000

- Industrial 103,700 95,700

- Retail 357,000 358,800

- Hospitality 7,000 7,000

- Land - 5,000

687,700 672,500

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Figures in R 2021  2020

Rating of Tenants (Rental Income)

Commercial A 5,592 16 % 7,215 17 %
B 567 2 % - 0 %
C 3,786 11 % 4,798 12 %

Industrial A 4,124 12 % 3,697 9 %
B 506 1 % 418 1 %
C 1,911 5 % 4,719 11 %

Retail A 8,590 24 % 7,549 19 %
B 2,850 8 % - 0 %
C 7,504 21 % 13,001 31 %

Hospitality B - 0 % - 0 %

35,430 100 % 41,397 100 %

A  Represents major listed companies
B   Represents smaller listed companies and big unlisted companies
C  Represents smaller unlisted companies and private businesses

27. Related Parties
Ultimate Holding Company GI Holdings Proprietary Limited

Holding Company Orion Real Estate Limited

Subsidiaries Orion Property Holding Trust
SBD Investments Proprietary Limited Star Storage Proprietary Limited
Ixia Trading 532 Proprietary Limited CBB Properties One Proprietary Limited 
Gold Edge III Proprietary Limited
Orion Developments One Proprietary Limited
Orion AAG (Pty) Ltd previously Orion Developments Two Proprietary Limited
Orion Developments Three Proprietary Limited

Related Companies Orion Security Services Proprietary Limited
OFM Property Management Proprietary Limited
Orion Hotels & Resorts (South Africa) Proprietary Limited
Eagle Fleet Solutions Proprietary Limited

Members of Key Management Executive
F Gmeiner (Chief Executive Officer)
R Bolleurs (Financial Director) (Appointed 09 October 2020)

Management
Johan van Belkum (OFM Chief Operating Officer)
Leon Thompson (Group Financial Manager) (Appointed 23 March 2021)
Chris Dibb (Financial Manager) (Resigned 31 March 2021)

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)



Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021  |  Page  83Page  82 | Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021

s (Continued)

Figures in R

Group at 
30 June 2021

R’000

Group at 30 
September   

2020
R’000

Related Party Balances:

Loan Accounts – Owing by Related Parties - 389

OFM Property Management Proprietary Limited - 66

Star Finance Corporation Proprietary Limited - 323
Loans to Shareholders 45,583 45,670
GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 45,583 45,670

Related Party Transactions:

Interest on Shareholders Loan 1,953 2,883

GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 1,953 2,883

Security Costs Expensed

Orion Security Services - 7,601

Details of Related Party Transactions

GI Holdings Proprietary Limited

GIH holds interests in hotel properties and is its controlling shareholder 
is Franz Gmeiner (FG) who is also the controlling shareholder of ORE.  
GIH operates six hotels which pay rent to ORE at market related rates. 
GIH underwrites these rents and ensures that ORE suffers no loss on these 
transactions. The annual value of the rent is.

3,902 7,500

Orion Business Solutions (Proprietary) Limited (OBS)
Orion Business Solutions (Proprietary) Limited (OBS) is a stand-alone 
Company headed up by Dr. Antoinette Gmeiner which provides business 
coaching services to the staff of ORE at open market rates.

141 80

Profit Distribution from Controlled Trust
ORE is the sole beneficiary of Orion Property Holding Trust. In terms of the 
trust deed all profits are distributed annually to ORE. Profits we distributed 
in 2021 and 2020.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
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28. Shareholder Information 
2021 - Number of Shares in Issue

Spread of Holdings Number of 
Shareholders

Percentage
 of Total 

Shareholders

Number of 
Issued 
Shares 

Held

Percentage 
of Issued  

Shares
Held

1-1 000 shares 7 68 % 1,266 0 %
1 001-10 000 shares 5 19 % 11,083 0 %
10 001-100 000 shares 23 8 % 675,310 0 %
100 001 - 1 000 000 shares 10 3 % 3,231,929 2 %
1 000 001 shares and over 16 2 % 639,201,197 98 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %

Distribution of Shareholders
Individuals 4 7 % 455,090,896 71 %
Share trusts 1 1 % 1,705,000 0 %
Other companies 56 92 % 186,324,889 29 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %

Shareholder Type
Public / non-public spread
Non-public 14 22,95 % 550,601,186
Directors and associates 13 21,31 % 548,896,186 85,35 %
Share trust 1 1,64 % 1,705,000 0,27 %

Public 47 77,05 % 92,519,599 14,38 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %

Beneficial Holding of More Than 5%
GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 389,005,267 60,49 %
Dollargold Trust 60,000,000 9,33 %
K2020194991 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %
K2020194947 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %
K2020194908 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %

Total 599,005,267 93,13 %

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2020 - Number of Shares in Issue

Spread of Holdings Number of 
Shareholders

Percentage
 of Total 

Shareholders

Number of 
Issued 
Shares 

Held

Percentage 
of Issued  

Shares
Held

1-1 000 shares 7 68 % 1,266 0 %
1 001-10 000 shares 5 19 % 11,083 0 %
10 001-100 000 shares 23 8 % 675,310 0 %
100 001 - 1 000 000 shares 10 3 % 3,231,929 2 %
1 000 001 shares and over 16 2 % 639,201,197 98 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %
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28. Shareholder Information (continued)
2020 - Number of Shares in Issue (continued)

Spread of Holdings Number of 
Shareholders

Percentage
 of Total 

Shareholders

Number of 
Issued 
Shares 

Held

Percentage 
of Issued  

Shares
Held

Distribution of Shareholders
Individuals 4 7 % 455,090,896 71 %
Share trusts 1 1 % 1,705,000 0 %
Other companies 56 92 % 186,324,889 29 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %

Shareholder Type
Public / non-public spread
Non-public 14 22,95 % 550,601,186
Directors and associates 13 21,31 % 548,896,186 85,35 %
Share trust 1 1,64 % 1,705,000 0,27 %

Public 47 77,05 % 92,519,599 14,38 %

Total 61 100 % 643,120,785 100 %

Beneficial Holding of More Than 5%
GI Holdings Proprietary Limited 389,005,267 60,49 %
Dollargold Trust 60,000,000 9,33 %
K2020194991 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %
K2020194947 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %
K2020194908 (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd 50,000,000 7,77 %

Total 599,005,267 93,13 %

es
The interests of directors in the issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2021 were as follows:

2021 Direct 
Beneficial

Indirect 
Beneficial Total

Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital

Managing Director
F Gmeiner  1,885,877 436,810,961 438,696,838 68 %

Non-executive Director
AC Gmeiner  2,056,471   - 2,056,471 1 %

Total 3,942,348 436,810,961 440,753,309 69 %

2020 Direct 
Beneficial

Indirect 
Beneficial Total

Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital

Managing Director
F Gmeiner  1,885,877 436,810,961 438,696,838 68 %

Non-executive Director
AC Gmeiner  2,056,471   - 2,056,471 1 %

Total 3,942,348 436,810,961 440,753,309 69 %

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. Directors Remuneration
2021 - Number of Shares in Issue

Figures in R
Number of 

Issued Shares 
Held

Percentage of 
Issued  Shares

Held

Non-executive 195 153
Executive 2,686 4,836

Total 2,881 4,989

The directors’ short-term remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2021 was as follows:

Salary Bonus Fees Fringe 
benefits Total

Non-executive (Group)
Mr R Wilkinson   -   - 60   - 60
Dr A C Gmeiner   -   - 45   - 45
Mr DK Mthembu   -   - 45   - 45
Mr TFJ Oosthuizen   -   - 45   - 45

  -   - 195   - 195

Executive (Group)
Mr F Gmeiner 2,686 -   - - 2,686

2,686 -   - - 2,686

The directors’ short-term remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2020 was as follows:

Salary Bonus Fees Fringe 
benefits Total

Non-executive (Group)
Mr R Wilkinson   -   - 59   - 59
Dr A C Gmeiner   -   - 17   - 17
Mr DK Mthembu   -   - 43   - 43
Mr TFJ Oosthuizen   -   - 34   - 34

  -   - 153   - 153

Executive (Group)
Mr F Gmeiner 3,542 -   - 132 3,673
Mr AJ Ritzlmayr 1,162 -   - - 1,162

4,704 -   - 132 4,836

30. Capital Management

The Group objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, less net cash and cash 
equivalents, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current 
and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. 
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Gearing Ratios at 30 June 2021 and at 30 September 2020 Respectively were as Follows:

Figures in R Note

Group at 
30 June 2021

R’000

Group at 30 
September   

2020
R’000

Borrowings 13 87,085 93,439
Loans from related parties 7 - 389
Less: cash and cash equivalents 9 (3,634) (6,219)
Net debt 83,451 87,610
Total equity 626,994 592,588

Total Capital 710,445 680,198

Gearing Ratio 12 % 13 %

 The gearing ratio for the group has remained consistent from previous year.

31. Risk Management
31.1. Financial Risk Management
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk.
Subsequent to year end, none of these risks have materialised. In spite of these developments, there is 
essentially no change to the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing these risks from the 
previous periods.

31.2. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
cash to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
group’s reputation.

Group management has considered the cash flow forecast for the next 12 months, the 5-year operational 
income forecast and other planned potential developments in the short and medium term. Based on this 
they remain satisfied with the group’s liquidity position. The other planned potential developments are 
the refinancing of certain bonds to 50% of fair value, planned repayment by connected parties of debt 
and the sale of properties. The table below analyses the group financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Group Less than 1 Year Between 1 and 
5 Years

At 30 June 2021
Borrowings 8,481 78,604
Trade and other payables 26,349 -
Tenant deposits 2,869 3,535
Current tax liability 3,838 -

Lease liability 1,073 2,639

42,609 84,777

At 30 September 2020
Borrowings 14,982 78,457
Trade and other payables 39,177 -
Tenant deposits 2,939 2,598
Bank overdraft - -

Lease liability 948 3,463

58,047 84,519
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31.3. Interest Rate Risk
The Group interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings, long-term debtors and cash and cash 
equivalents. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings 
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The simulation is done on a yearly basis to verify that the maximum loss potential is within the limit given by 
the management. The board of directors monitor interest rates fluctuations every quarter and assess the 
impact of the fluctuations in interest rates and how this will be affecting the financial statements and Groups 
liquidity on a monthly basis

Based on the simulations performed, the impact on post-tax profit would be:

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 30 
September 2020

R’000
A decrease of 1% (2020: 1%) in prime interest rate decrease (858) (938)
An increase of 1% (2020: 1%) in prime interest rate increase 858 938

- -

31.4. Credit Risk
TCredit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits and cash equivalents as 
well as trade receivables and loans to shareholders and related companies.

The Group only deposits cash with major banks and limits exposure to any one counter-party. Trade 
receivables comprise, except for those with related parties a widespread customer base.

Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently 
rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit 
quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.

Carrying Amounts of Financial Assets Representing the Maximum Credit Exposure for the Group:

Figures in R
Group at 

30 June 2021
R’000

Group at 30 
September 2020

R’000
Cash and cash equivalents 3,634 6,219
Trade debtors that are purely rental debtors 2,876 (489)
Loans to related parties - 389
Loans to shareholders 45,583 45,670
Total 52,094 51,789

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Group’s credit risk is limited to the local currency and there are no foreign currencies affecting the Group.
Board of Directors assesses the impact of exposure of credit risk on the Group at every Board meeting 
by using information such as management accounts, cash flow forecasts and other pertinent information 
affecting the Group.

Rental Debtors
The Group exposure to credit risk is mainly due to rental debtors. The Group has a wide and diverse tenant 
portfolio, with many national tenants and the Group is not materially exposed to any form of credit risk. 
Management has a credit policy in place for each new tenant that enters into a lease contract with Orion 
Group whereby management will assess the credit worthiness of the tenant. A deposit is secured before the 
lease contract is entered into with Orion Group. The existing leases that are up for renewal are also assess for 
history of credit worthiness.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Provision is made on a case by case basis for bad debts at year-end. Deposits are paid by tenants once a 
rental lease agreement has been finalised which is held by the group and Company which minimises the 
Group`s credit risks.

Management does not consider there to be any material credit risk exposure. See below for the credit 
exposure due to trade receivables:
• Exposure to credit risk within the Group are segmented based on common credit risk characteristics.
• A weighted average loss rate was calculated and adjusted to reflect differences between current 

economic conditions during the period over which the historical data was collected, current economic 
and market conditions and managements view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 
receivables.

• A tenant is in default if their outstanding balance is older than 60 days
• Regular debtors meetings are held where each debtor in the portfolio is assessed for impairment and 

possible write off.

After extensive measures have been undertaken by ORE to recover the outstanding rentals from the tenants 
that are in default and it is assessed that there is no possibility of recovery, rentals are written off in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as bad debts.

The ECL allowance was adjusted for future looking indicators that will be affecting both the industry and the 
Company and the ability of the rental debtors to pay their monthly rental based on the future economic 
uncertainty surrounding South Africa. Forward looking information used in the assessment of credit risk 
includes:
•  Further impact that COVID-19 will have on the economy and the tenants in their ability to pay their rental 

every month.
•  Any further downgrades in South African sovereign credit rating.
•  Current market conditions including lockdown and economic recovery, coupled with a possible 

decrease in occupancy levels across the property sector.

The Group does not hold any collateral or any other credit enhancements against the Group.

Summary of Groups Exposure to Expected Credit Losses for Rental Debtors for the 9-months ended 30 June 
2021 is Below:

Rental Debtors Current 30 Days 60 Days More than 
90 Days

Gross carrying amount - rental debtors - - 833 2,662
- - 833 2,662

Weighted average 0 % 0 % 100 % 100 %
Allowance for expected credit losses - - 833 2,662

Impairment required No No No Yes

Due to the vast diversity of the tenants, the concentration risk is low due to the following:
•  Many of the tenants in our portfolio are national tenants with a significant and proven credit history.
•  Most of the premises have multiple tenants letting premises and the diversity of tenants is vast; and
•  Geographical located tenants in Mpumalanga, Limpopo, Western Cape and Gauteng.

32. COVID-19
When the President declared a national lockdown from 27 March 2020, the Board and management supported 
the decision in a way to curb the spread of COVID-19. The Board and management’s decision was to support 
our tenants and ensured that all staff were well prepared to remotely work from home.

Rental concessions of approximately R7 million were given to tenants in a way to assist the tenants and also to 
ensure that tenant relationships are maintained.
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33. Fair Value Hierarchy

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement require entities to measure their asset and liabilities at fair value at the end 
of each reporting date. The fair values of the entity is determined by the fair value hierarchy, which is defined 
below as:
ORE doesn’t have any Level 1 or Level 2 fair value measurements.

Level 3: Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs 

Investment Property Fair Value Hierarchy Note Level 3 Fair value

30 June 2021 
Investment properties at fair value 4 687,700 687,700

30 September 2020 
Investment properties at fair value 4 669,000 669,000

34. Contingent Liabilities
Litigation over Orion House (agterkot)
Orion Property Holding Trust is currently engaged in legal matters with regards to an agterskot relating to the sale 
of Orion House in April 2019. Management is confident that they will be successful in this matter.

Litigation over Erf 107, Bramley (593 Louis Botha Avenue)
Ixia Trading 532 (Pty) Ltd is currently engaged in legal matter with City of Johannesburg (“COJ”) over in correct 
billing from April 2020 to date, to the amount of R2 947 273.51.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
ORION REAL ESTATE LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(“Orion Real Estate” or “the Company”) 
Registration Number: 1997/021085/06
ISIN: ZAEZ00000067
ZAR X Code: ZXORE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN IN TERMS OF SECTION 62(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 71 OF 2008, AS AMENDED 
(“COMPANIES ACT”), THAT AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”) OF SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY WILL 
BE HELD IN THE BOARDROOM, 3RD FLOOR,  26 WELLINGTON ROAD, PARKTOWN, JOHANNESBURG ON WEDNESDAY 
24 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 10H00, TO CONSIDER AND, IF DEEMED FIT, TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO 
BELOW, WITH OR WITHOUT MODIFICATION.

The AGM will also be conducted by electronic communication as contemplated in Section 63(2)(a) of the 
Companies Act. The Board has determined, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with sections 59(1)(a) and (b) 
of the Companies Act, the following dates in respect of the AGM:

2020/2021

Record date for determining those shareholders entitled to receive the 
notice of AGM

Wednesdsay, 4 November 2021

Last day to trade in order to be eligible to participate in, and vote at the 
AGM

Wednesdsay, 17 November 2021

Record date (for voting purposes at the AGM) Monday, 22 November 2021

Who May Attend
1. If you are the registered holder of certificated shares or you hold dematerialised shares with “own name” 

registration:
• you may attend the AGM in person; or
• you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the AGM by completing the attached form of proxy 
in accordance with the instructions contained therein and by returning it to the share custodian to be 
received by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 22 November 2021 for administrative purposes or thereafter 
to the Company by hand no later than the commencement of the AGM on Friday, 12 November 2021. A 
proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

Certificated shareholders or own-name dematerialised shareholders may attend and vote at the AGM, 
or alternatively appoint a proxy to attend, speak, and, in respect of the applicable resolutions, vote in 
their stead by completing the attached form of proxy and returning it to the Company’s share custodian, 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, at Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
Johannesburg, 2196 or posted to the transfer secretaries at Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132, to be 
received by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 22 November 2021 for administrative purposes or thereafter to 
the Company by hand by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 22 November 2021.

2. If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered in your name:
• and you wish to attend the AGM in person, you must obtain the necessary letter of representation from 

your Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker or nominee (as the case may be); or
•  if you do not wish to attend the AGM but would like your vote to be recorded at the meeting, you 

should contact your CSDP or broker or nominee (as the case may be) and furnish them with your voting 
instructions; and

•  you must not complete the attached proxy form.

Electronic Participation in the General Meeting
The Company will make provision for shareholders, or their proxies, to participate in the AGM by way of electronic 
communication. Should you wish to participate in the AGM by way of electronic communication, you will need 
to contact the Company at 011 718 6449 (contact person: Juanita Coetzee) by Monday, 22 November 2021, so 
that the Company can provide for a video conference dial-in facility. Please ensure that if you are participating 
in the AGM via a video conference facility that the voting proxies are sent through to the Company Secretary, 
Light Consulting Proprietary Limited, so as to be received by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 22 November 2021. 
The costs of accessing any means of electronic participation provided by the Company will be borne by the 
shareholder.
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Purpose of the Meeting
The purpose of the meeting is to present to the shareholders of the Company:
• the group audited financial statements for the financial period ended 30 September 2020;
• the directors’ report;
• the report of the Audit and Risk Committee;
• the report of the Social and Ethics Committee; and
• to deal with any other business that may lawfully be dealt with at the AGM, and to consider and, if deemed 

fit, to pass, with or without modification, the resolutions set out below:

General
Shareholders are reminded that:
• a shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy (or more than one 

proxy) to attend, participate in and vote at the AGM in the place of the shareholder, and shareholders are 
referred to the form of proxy attached to this notice in this regard;

• a proxy need not also be a shareholder of the Company; and
• in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending or participating in an AGM of 

shareholders must present reasonably satisfactory identification and the person presiding at the AGM must 
be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether as shareholder or as 
proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified. A green bar-coded identification document issued 
by the South African Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s licence or a valid passport will be accepted as 
sufficient identification.

Report from Social and Ethics Committee
In accordance with Regulation 43(5) (c) of the Companies Act, the chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee, 
or in his absence, any member of that Committee, will present the Committee’s report to shareholders at the 
AGM.

1. Ordinary Resolution Number 1 (approval of annual financial statements)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that the consolidated audited annual financial statements of the 
Company and the group for the period ended 30 September 2020, including the directors’ report, the report 
of the auditors and the report of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee, be and are hereby adopted.”
A copy of the annual financial statements appears on pages 42 - 90 of the Integrated Annual Report.

2. Ordinary Resolution Number 2 – Mr N Esterhuysen (appointment of director)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, the interim appointment of Mr N Esterhuysen, as an executive director 
of the Company with effect from 5 October 2021 be and is hereby approved”.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Mr Nellis Esterhuysen, Age 59, below:

Mr Esterhuysen qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1984 after B.Comm and Hons B.Comm degrees. 
He completed his articles and worked as an audit manager with Ernst (Arthur) Young. He also successfully 
passed the CIMA and ILPA (Now CFP) board exams. After a short career in the Academics at the North 
West University, he is in public practice as a Registered Auditor since 1992 in the Vaal Triangle where he also 
resides.

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolution Number 2
In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”), all directors appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy or an interim appointment shall be elected by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at the 
next general or AGM of the Company.

In order for the abovementioned resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to 
exercise voting rights on the resolution is required.

3. Ordinary Resolution Number 3 – Ms NR Gmeiner (appointment of non-executive director)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, the interim appointment of Ms NR Gmeiner, as a non-executive director 
of the Company with effect from 13 September 2021 and is hereby approved”.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Ms Nadia Retha Gmeiner, Age 30:

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Ms NR Gmeiner has completed her Bachelor’s Degree in 2012, and in 2013 gained her Postgraduate Diploma 
in Marketing from Stellenbosch University. She was the Brand Manager for Orion Hotels & Resorts from 2016-
2018, whereafter she was given the opportunity to be the Project manager for Stay Now Pay Later.  Ms NR 
Gmeiner broadened her horison and gained various qualifications in Make-up Artistry and Interior Design.  
She is currently the Marketing Manager for VAT IT SA.

4. Ordinary Resolution Number 4 – Ms IA Gmeiner (appointment of non-executive director)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, the interim appointment of Ms IA Gmeiner, as a non-executive director 
of the Company with effect from 13 September 2021 and is hereby approved”.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Ms Ingrid Antoinette Gmeiner, Age 28, below:

Ms IA Gmeiner has completed her B.Comm in Law and Accounting in 2013, and her Bachelor of Laws (LLB) 
in 2016.  Ms IA Gmeiner gained a certificate (with distinction) in Imports, Exports & Logistics. She currently 
works as an Inside Sales Manager at TecEx.

5. Ordinary Resolution Number 5 – Mr Theunis Frederik Jacobus Oosthuizen (re-election of director retiring by 
rotation)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Mr TFJ Oosthuizen who retires by rotation at this AGM in accordance 
with the Company’s MoI, and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a non- executive director of the 
Company, be and is hereby elected as a non-executive director of the Company.”

Mr Theunis Frederik Jacobus Oosthuizen (B Proc (UK), LLB Stellenbosch, LLM (UJ)) is an attorney by profession 
practicing under the name and style of Oosthuizens (JHB) Attorneys. He served as a city councilor for the City 
of Johannesburg from October 1985 until October 2000. During his tenure he served on the Management 
Committee / Mayoral Committee as well as having served on and chaired a number of other council 
committees. He also represented the City of Johannesburg on a number of outside organisations such as 
the Bursary and Loans Committee of the University of Johannesburg, the Witwatersrand Agricultural Society 
and as trustee of the Johannesburg 2nd Municipal Fund. He currently serves as a trustee on a number of 
family trusts and is also director of a number of companies, including property holding companies.

6. Ordinary Resolution Number 6 – Mr Mlamuli Delani Kathula Mthembu (re-election of director retiring by 
rotation)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Mr MDK Mthembu in accordance with the Company’s MoI, and, 
being eligible, offers himself for re- election as a non- executive director of the Company, be and is hereby 
elected as a non-executive director of the Company.”

Mr Delani Mthembu holds BA Honours HRD (UJ) and MSc Leadership and Innovation (UKZN) degrees. He 
has also completed a postgraduate certificate in Coaching from Middlesex University (UK) and Masters 
Level Accreditation by EMCC and WABC. Currently he is a PhD candidate at the University of KZN. He has 
memberships to various Business Organisations and is lecturing part time at various universities. Mr Mthembu 
has served as Chief Executive Officer and Board member to a number of private and public Organisations.

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolutions Number 5 and 6
In terms of section 68(2) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”) the directors 
shall be individually appointed. In accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) of the 
Company, one-third of the non-executive directors for the time being are required to retire at each meeting 
and may offer themselves for re-election. The MOI of the Company also provides for the approval of the 
appointment of any directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy.

In order for these resolutions to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on 
the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting 
rights on the resolution is required.

7. Ordinary Resolution Number 7 (re-appointment of auditors)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Business 2 Business Incorporated be and is hereby appointed 
as independent auditors of the Company and the group, with Mr Hendrik Rothman being the individual 
registered auditor to undertake the audit of the Company and group for the current and ensuing financial 
year until conclusion of the next AGM. The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee and the Board are hereby 
authorised to determine the auditors’ remuneration.”



Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021  |  Page  95Page  94 | Orion Real Estate Limited Integrated Annual Report 2021

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolution Number 7
Business 2 Business Incorporated has indicated their willingness to be reappointed as the Company’s auditor 
until the next AGM. The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as to the independence of Business 2 Business 
Incorporated and Mr Hendrik Rothman, has also considered the requirements for the reappointment of the 
audit firm and audit partner in accordance with the ZAR X Listings Requirements. Further details are set out 
in the Audit Committee Report on pages 18 - 20 of this Integrated Annual Report.

The Audit Committee has the power in terms of the Companies Act to approve the remuneration of the 
external auditors. The remuneration paid to the auditors during the year ended 30 September 2021 is set out 
in note 19 of the Annual Financial Statements.

In order for these resolutions to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on 
the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting 
rights on the resolution is required.

8. Ordinary Resolution Number 8 - Mr Theunis Frederik Jacobus Oosthuizen (re-election of audit and risk 
committee member for the year ending 30 June 2021)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Mr TFJ Oosthuizen be and is hereby re-elected as a member and 
of the Audit and Risk Committee of the group for the year-end 30 June 2022, with effect from the end of this 
AGM in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

9. Ordinary Resolution Number 9 - Mr Mlamuli Delani Kuthula Mthembu (re-election of audit and risk committee 
member for the year ending 30 June 2021)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Mr MDK Mthembu be and is hereby re-elected as a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee of the group for the year ending 30 June 2022, with effect from the end of this 
AGM in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

10. Ordinary Resolution Number 10 - Mr P Esterhuysen (Election of Audit and Risk Committee member for the 
year ending 30 June 2022)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that Mr P Esterhuysen be and is hereby elected as member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee of the group for the year ending 30 June 2022 be and is hereby approved with effect 
from the end of this AGM in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolutions Number 7 to 10
Section 94 of the Companies Act and the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa (“King IV”) 
requires each AGM of a public Company to elect an audit committee comprising at least three members.

The Board is satisfied that the proposed members meet the requirements of section 94(4) of the Companies 
Act and that they possess the required qualifications and experience as prescribed in Regulation 42 of the 
Companies Act Regulations, 2011, which requires that at least one third of the members of a Company’s 
audit committee at any particular time must have academic qualifications or experience in economics, 
law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry, public affairs or human resource 
management.

In order for the above mentioned resolutions to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting 
rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled 
to exercise voting rights on the resolution is required.

11. Ordinary Resolution Number 11  (non-binding advisory endorsement of the Company’s remuneration policy)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that the remuneration policy as tabled by the Board, as more fully 
detailed on page 26 of the Integrated Annual Report to which this notice is attached, be and is hereby 
approved by way of a non-binding advisory vote of shareholders of the Company, in terms of the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance and the ZAR X Listings Requirements.”

Remuneration Policy Summary
The Group strives to remunerate its employees at market related salaries and the Board will be guided by 
one or more appropriate annual salary surveys produced by Industry specialists. Positions/jobs are evaluated 
using a mechanism designed and provided by an external expert, with this job grading exercise being 
undertaken every two to three years.
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The Board, in consultation with industry experts and management design all incentive schemes (long and 
short term), in order to:
• Promote growth in quality sustainable earnings;
• Align shareholder and management objectives; and
• Enhance the ability to recruit and retain key employees and management.

The structure and basis for Performance Based Incentives will be approved by the Board from time to time 
to be aligned with Company strategy and current shareholder and management objectives.

Once an average CPI increase is agreed to by the Board, the executive committee will determine individual 
application of increases, with variances being due to higher or lower performance ratings based on regular 
formal KPA reviews.

Employees whose performance is above expectation receive higher than Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) 
increases, those with below expectation performance receive increases below CPI with the overall increase 
of payroll costs to Company not increasing by more than CPI each year.

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolution Number 11
In terms of King IV dealing with Boards and Directors, companies are required to table their remuneration 
policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders 
to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted and on their implementation.

This ordinary resolution is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have 
any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements. However, the Board will take the outcome of the 
vote into consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration policy.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required. Should 25% or more of the votes be cast against this resolution, the Company 
undertakes to engage with shareholders who voted against this resolution as to the reasons thereof. The 
process to be followed in this regard will be communicated to shareholders as appropriate.

12. Ordinary Resolution Number 12 (non-binding advisory endorsement of the implementation of ORE’s 
remuneration policy)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that the implementation report in respect of the remuneration policy 
as tabled by the Board, as set out on page 26 of the Integrated Annual Report, be and is hereby approved 
by way of a non-binding advisory vote of shareholders of the Company, in terms of the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance and the ZAR X Listings Requirements.”

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolution Number 12
In terms of King IV dealing with Boards and Directors, companies are required to table their remuneration 
policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders 
to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted and on their implementation.

This ordinary resolution is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have 
any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements. However, the Board will take the outcome of the 
vote into consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration policy.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required. Should 25% or more of the votes be cast against this resolution, the Company 
undertakes to engage with shareholders who voted against this resolution as to the reasons thereof. The 
process to be followed in this regard will be communicated to shareholders as appropriate

13. Ordinary Resolution Number 13 (directors’ general authority to issue the Ordinary Shares of the Company 
for cash)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that the Directors be granted a general authority to issue the Ordinary 
Shares of the Company for cash, (including any treasury shares held by the subsidiaries of the Company), 
subject to the restrictions set out below and to the provisions of the Act and the ZAR X Listings Requirements:
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• the equity securities which are the subject of an issue for cash must be of a class already in issue or where 
this is not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in 
issue;

• any such issue will only be made to “public shareholders” and not to “related parties”, as defined by the 
ZAR X Listings Requirements.

• this authority will only be valid until the Company’s next AGM (whereupon this authority shall lapse, 
unless it is renewed at the aforementioned AGM, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months of 
the date of that meeting);

• issues of Ordinary Shares, in the aggregate, in any one financial year, may not exceed 96 468 118 
Ordinary Shares, which represents 15% of the number of Ordinary Shares in the Company’s issued Share 
capital at the date of this notice of meeting, which number excludes the Treasury Shares, provided that:
 -  in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued equity securities during the period contemplated 
  above, the existing authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;
- any such general issues are subject to exchange control regulations at that point in time;

• after the Company has, in terms of the General Authority, issued Ordinary Shares for cash equivalent 
to 5% of the number of Shares of that class in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of such issue/s (including the number of Shares issued, the average 
discount to the weighted average traded price of the Shares over the 30 business days prior to the date 
that the price of the issue is agreed in writing between the Company and the party/ies subscribing for 
the Shares). In respect of any issue of shares or options and convertible securities, the effects of the issue 
on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share; earnings per Share, headline earnings 
per Share and, if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings per Share) and an explanation of 
the intended use of the funds; and

• in determining the price at which an issue of Shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% of the weighted average traded price on the ZAR X of those shares over 
the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the Company and 
the party/ies subscribing for the Shares.”

Explanatory Note for Ordinary Resolution Number 13
In terms of the ZAR X Listings Requirements, shareholders, by their approval of this resolution, grant a waiver 
of any pre-emptive rights to which ordinary shareholders may be entitled, in favour of the directors, for the 
allotment and issue of securities in the Company for cash other than in the normal course by way of a rights 
offer, claw-back offer or pursuant to the Company’s share incentive scheme or acquisitions utilising the 
ordinary shares as currency to discharge the purchase consideration.

Voting Requirements:
In terms of the ZAR X Listings Requirements, the minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for 
ordinary resolution 11 to be adopted at the AGM, is 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights exercised 
on the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM.

14. Ordinary Resolution Number 14 (directors’ authority to take all such actions necessary to implement the 
resolutions contained in this notice)
“Resolved as an ordinary resolution, that any director of the Company be and is hereby authorised to do all 
such things, sign all such documents and take all such actions as may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of the ordinary and special resolutions approved in accordance with the provisions of this 
notice of AGM.”

Voting Requirements:
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this ordinary resolution to be adopted, is more 
than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or represented 
by proxy at the AGM and further subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MoI of the Company 
and the ZAR X Listings Requirements.

15. Special Resolution Number 1 (authority to issue shares, securities convertible into shares or rights that may 
exceed 30% of the voting power of the current issued share capital)
“Resolved as a special resolution the authorised but unissued shares of the Company be and are hereby 
placed under the control of the directors (to the extent that this is necessary in terms of the Company’s 
memorandum of incorporation) and the Directors be and are hereby authorised, to the extent required 
in terms of section 41(3) of the Companies Act, to allot and issue such number of shares in the authorised 
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but unissued share capital of the Company as may be required for purposes of issuing shares, securities 
convertible into shares, or rights exercisable for shares in a transaction or series of integrated transactions 
notwithstanding the fact that such number of ordinary shares may have voting power equal to or in excess 
of 30% of the voting rights of all ordinary shares in issue immediately prior to such issue. 

This authority specifically includes the authority to allot and issue any ordinary shares in the authorised but 
unissued share capital of the Company to any underwriter(s) of a rights or claw-back offer (whether or not 
such underwriter is a related party to Labat (as defined for purposes of the ZAR X Listings Requirements) and/
or person falling within the ambit of section 41(1) of the Companies Act, being a director, future director, 
prescribed officer or future prescribed officer of the Company or a person related or inter-related to the 
Company or related or inter-related to a Director or prescribed officer of the Company or a nominee of any 
of the foregoing persons.”

Explanatory Note for Special Resolution Number 1
The reason for special resolution number 1 is to:

a. obtain approval from the shareholders of the Company, in terms of the provisions of sections 41(1) and 
(3) of the Companies Act (to the extent required), to issue additional ordinary shares in the authorised but 
unissued share capital of the Company to enable the Company to issue shares, securities convertible into 
shares, or rights exercisable for shares in a transaction or series of integrated transactions notwithstanding 
the fact that such number of ordinary shares may have voting power equal to or in excess of 30% of the 
voting rights of all ordinary shares in issue immediately prior to such issue; and
b. to provide for the possibility of such shares being issued to persons and parties considered to be related 
and/or inter-related parties as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act, 2008 and the Listings Requirements 
of the ZAR X Exchange (“ZAR X”), which issue will be subject to the ZAR X Listings Requirements.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 75% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required.

16. Special Resolution Number 2 (non-executive directors’ remuneration for the year ending 30 June 2021)
“Resolved as a special resolution that, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the Company be and 
is hereby authorised to pay remuneration to non-executive directors for the financial year ending 30 June 
2022 in respect of their positions as Board and committee members as follows:

R Payable
Board Meetings Chairperson 20,000 Each meeting

Director 15,000 Each meeting
All other Meetings Chairperson R Nil R Nil

Director R Nil R Nil

Explanatory Note for Special Resolution Number 2
Section 66(8) (read with section 66(9)) of the Companies Act provides that, to the extent permitted in the 
Company’s MoI, the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their services as directors provided 
that such remuneration may only be paid in accordance with a special resolution approved by shareholders 
within the previous two years. The remuneration committee has considered the remuneration for non-
executive directors and the board has accepted the recommendations of the remuneration committee.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 75% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required.

17. Special Resolution Number 3 (financial assistance in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act)
“Resolved as a special resolution that, in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, the shareholders of the 
Company hereby approve of the Company providing, at any time and from time to time during the period 
of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special resolution, any direct or indirect financial assistance 
as contemplated in section 44 of the Companies Act to any person for the purpose of, or in connection 
with, the subscription for any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related 
or inter-related Company, or for the purchase of any option or securities of the Company or a related or 
inter-related Company, provided that the Board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial 
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assistance pursuant to this special resolution unless the Board meets all those requirements of section 44 of 
the Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial 
assistance.”

Explanatory Note for Special Resolution Number 3
In terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, a Company is required to approve the provision of financial 
assistance to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for any option or securities 
issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related Company by means of passing a special 
resolution in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 75% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required.

18. Special Resolution Number 4 (financial assistance in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act)
“Resolved as a special resolution that, in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, the shareholders of 
the Company hereby approve of the Company providing, at any time and from time to time during the 
period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special resolution, any direct or indirect financial 
assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to any 1 (one) or more related or  
inter-related companies or corporations of the Company and/or to any 1 (one) or more members of any 
such related or inter-related Company or corporation and/or to any 1 (one) or more persons related to any 
such Company or corporation, provided that:

(i)  the Board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special  
     resolution unless the Board meets all those requirements of section 45 of the Companies Act which it is   
     required to meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial assistance;
(ii) The board is satisfied that:

•  immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company would satisfy the solvency and 
liquidity test; and

• the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to 
the Company; and

(iii) such financial assistance to a recipient thereof is, in the opinion of the Board, required for the purpose of:
(a) meeting all or any of such recipient’s operating expenses (including capital expenditure); and/or
(b) funding the growth, expansion, reorganisation or restructuring of the businesses or operations of such 
recipient; and/or
(c) funding such recipient for any other purpose which in the opinion of the Board is directly or indirectly 
in the interest of the Company.”

Explanatory Note for Special Resolution Number 4
Section 45 of the Companies Act provides, among other things, that, except to the extent that the MoI of a 
Company provides otherwise, the Board may authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation and securing any debt 
or obligation) to a related or inter-related Company or corporation, including a subsidiary of the Company 
incorporated in or outside of the Republic of South Africa, provided that such authorisation shall be made 
pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders adopted within the previous two years, which approved 
such assistance either for the specific recipient or generally for a category of potential recipients and the 
specific recipient falls within that category.

Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act in respect of special resolution number 4.
Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the Company in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of 
a resolution adopted by the Board authorising the Company to provide such direct or indirect financial 
assistance in respect of special resolution number 4:
(a) by the time that this notice of AGM is delivered to shareholders of the Company, the Board will have 

adopted a resolution (“section 45 Board resolution”) authorising the Company to provide, at any time 
and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date on which the special 
resolution is adopted, any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the 
Companies Act to any one or more related or inter-related companies or corporations of the Company 
and/or to any one or more members of any such related or inter-related Company or corporation and/
or to any one or more persons related to any such Company or corporation;

(b) the section 45 Board resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that the special resolution 
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number 4 is adopted by the shareholders of the Company, and the provision of any such direct or 
indirect financial assistance by the Company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to the 
Board being satisfied that:

 i) immediately after providing such financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and   
    liquidity test as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act; and that
 ii)the terms under which such financial assistance is to be given are fair and reasonable to the Company  
    as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and
(c) in as much as the section 45 Board resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the 

aggregate exceed one- tenth of 1% (one percent) of the Company’s net worth at the date of adoption 
of such resolution, the Company hereby provides notice of the section 45 Board resolution to shareholders 
of the Company. Such notice will also be provided to any trade union representing any employees of 
the Company.

In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of more than 75% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights 
on the resolution is required.

19. Special Resolution Number 5 (general authority to repurchase the Company’s securities)
“Resolved as a special resolution, that the Board of Directors is hereby authorised, by way of a general 
authority in terms of the ZAR X Listings Requirements and sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, and as 
permitted by the Company’s MoI, to approve the purchase of its own ordinary shares by the Company, and 
the purchase of ordinary shares in the Company by any of its subsidiaries, upon such terms and conditions 
and in such amounts as the Board may from time to time determine, subject to the Companies Act, the MoI 
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries and the ZAR X Listings Requirements, provided that:
(i) the acquisition of the ordinary shares must be effected through the order book operated by the ZAR X 

trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and 
the counterparty;

(ii) this general authority shall only be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next AGM or the expiry of a 
period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

(iii) in determining the price at which the Company’s ordinary shares are acquired in terms of this general 
authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten 
percent) of the weighted average of the market value at which such ordinary shares are traded on the 
ZAR X platform, as determined over the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on which 
the transaction is effected;

(iv) the acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 20% 
(twenty percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital;

(v) the Company may only effect the repurchase once a resolution has been passed by the Board 
confirming that the Board has authorised the repurchase, that the Company has passed the solvency 
and liquidity test (”test“) and that since this was done there have been no material changes to the 
financial position of the group;

(vi) Neither the Company or its subsidiaries may repurchase securities during a prohibited period, as defined 
in the ZAR X Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase programme is in place in terms of which the 
dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to 
any variation) and full details of which programme have been submitted to ZAR X in writing prior to 
the commencement of the prohibited period. The Company will instruct an independent third party, 
which makes its investment decisions in relation to the Company’s securities independently of, and 
uninfluenced by, the Company, prior to the commencement of the prohibited period to execute the 
repurchase programme submitted to ZAR X;

(vii) an announcement will be published once the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three 
percent) of the number of the ordinary shares in issue at the time this general authority is granted (“initial 
number”), and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter; and

(viii)at any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent to effect any acquisition/s on its behalf”

Explanatory Note to Special Resolution Number 5
Although there is no immediate intention to effect a repurchase of the Company’s securities, the directors 
would utilise this general authority as and when suitable opportunities arise. The purpose of the special 
resolution is to grant the Company’s Board a general authority, up to and including the date of the following 
AGM of the Company, to approve the Company’s purchase of shares in itself, or to permit a subsidiary of 
the Company to purchase shares in the Company.
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Voting Requirements:
The minimum percentage of voting rights that are required for all special resolutions to be adopted at this 
AGM, is at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the votes exercised on the resolution by shareholders present 
or represented by proxy at the AGM.

Other Disclosure in Terms of the ZAR X Listings Requirements
Further to special resolution number 5, the Listings Requirements require the following disclosures, which are 
contained in the Integrated Annual Report of which this notice forms part:
(i) major shareholders of ORE – pages 66 - 68; and
(ii) share capital of the Company – page 84 - 85.

Material Change
There have been no material changes in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries 
between the Company’s financial year-end and the date of this notice.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The directors, whose names are given on pages 11 - 15 of the Integrated Annual Report of which this 
notice forms part, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information 
pertaining to special resolution number 5 and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are 
no facts in relation to special resolution number 5 that have been omitted which would make any statement 
in relation to special resolution number 5 false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that special resolution number 5, together with this notice, contains all 
information required by law and the ZAR X Listings Requirements in relation to special resolution number 5.

Adequacy of Working Capital
At the time that the repurchase contemplated in special resolution number 5 is to take place, the Board will 
ensure that, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a period of 12 (twelve) months 
thereafter:
•  the Company and the group will be able to repay their debts in the ordinary course of business;
•  the assets of the Company and the group, will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and the 

group. For this purpose, the assets and liabilities should be recognised and measured in accordance 
with the accounting policies used in the latest audited annual group financial statements;

•  the share capital and reserves of the Company and the group will be adequate for the purpose of the 
ordinary business; and

•  the working capital available to the Company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business 
purposes.

Other Business
To transact such other business as may be required at this AGM.

By order of the Board
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Quorum for all Resolutions
The quorum for all resolutions is sufficient persons being present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of all of 
the voting rights, subject to three shareholders being present at the meeting.

Electronic Participation
Should any shareholder (or any proxy for a shareholder) wish to participate in the AGM by way of electronic 
participation, that shareholder should make application in writing (including details as to how the shareholder 
or its representative (including its proxy) can be contacted) to so participate to the transfer secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, at its address below, to be received by the transfer 
secretaries at least five business days prior to the AGM in order for the transfer secretaries to arrange for the 
shareholder (or its representative or proxy) to provide reasonably satisfactory identification to the transfer 
secretaries for the purposes of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, and for the transfer secretaries to provide the 
shareholder (or its representative) with details as to how to access any electronic participation to be provided. 
The Company reserves the right to elect not to provide for electronic participation at the AGM in the event 
that it determines that it is not practical to do so. The costs of accessing any means of electronic participation 
provided by the Company will be borne by the shareholder so accessing the electronic participation.

Record Dates
The Board of Directors has determined that, in respect of the AGM of shareholders of the Company will be held 
in the boardroom, 3rd floor, 26 Wellington Road, Parktown, Johannesburg on day, 20 January 2021 at 10h00, the 
last date to trade is Tuesday, 12 January 2021 and the record date is Friday, 16 January 2021.

Voting and Proxies
Shareholders are reminded that:
• a shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint a proxy (or more than one proxy) to 

attend, participate in and vote at the AGM in the place of the relevant shareholder;
• a proxy holder need not also be a shareholder of the Company
• in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending or participating in a meeting of 

shareholders must present reasonably satisfactory identification and the person presiding at the meeting 
must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether as shareholder 
or as proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified.

Duly completed forms of proxy must be lodged with the transfer secretaries before voting commences at the 
AGM.

Dematerialised shareholders without “own-name” registration who wish to attend the AGM in person should 
request their CSDP or Broker to provide them with the necessary letter of representation in terms of their custody 
agreement with their CSDP or Broker. Dematerialised Shareholders without “own-name” registration who do 
not wish to attend but wish to be represented at the AGM must advise their CSDP or Broker of their voting 
instructions. Dematerialised shareholders without “own-name” registration should contact their CSDP or Broker 
with regard to the cut-off time for their voting instructions.

By order of the Board

Light Consulting (Pty) Ltd
Company Secretary to Orion Real Estate Limited
Date: 25 October 2021
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FORM OF PROXY
ORION REAL ESTATE LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(“Orion Real Estate” or “the Company”) 
Registration Number: 1997/021085/06
ISIN: ZAEZ00000067
ZAR X Code: ZXORE

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
• hold ordinary shares in certificated form (“certificated ordinary shareholders”); or
• have dematerialised their ordinary shares (“dematerialised ordinary shareholders”) and are registered 

with “own-name” registration, at the AGM of ordinary shareholders of the Company to be held at 10:00 
on Wednesday, 24 November 2021 and any adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” 
registration who wish to attend the AGM must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention 
to attend the AGM and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of 
Representation to attend the AGM in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the AGM in 
person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant 
custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must 
not use this form of proxy.

FOR THE AGM TO BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 10H00

I / We (please print)
of (address)
being the holder/s ordinary shares of No Par Value in ORE, appoint (see note 1): 
1.                                                                                                                                                           or failing him/her, 
2.                                                                                                                                                           or failing him/her,
3. the Chairman of the AGM, as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the AGM which will 
be held for the purpose of considering, and if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions 
to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/
or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the 
following instructions (see note 2):

Number of votes  
(one vote per share)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1 – Approval of annual financial 
statements

Ordinary resolution number 2 – Appointment of director:  
N Esterhuysen

Ordinary resolution number 3 – Appointment of non-executive director:
NR Gmeiner

Ordinary resolution number 4 – Appointment of non-executive director:
IA Gmeiner

Ordinary resolution number 5 – Director retirement and re-election: 
TFJ Oosthuizen

Ordinary resolution number 6 – Director retirement and re-election: 
MDK Mthembu

Ordinary resolution number 7 – Re-appointment and remuneration of 
auditors: Business 2 Business Inc

Ordinary resolution number 8 – Re-appointment of Audit and Risk 
Committee member: TJF Oosthuizen
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Number of votes  
(one vote per share)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 9 – Appointment of Audit and Risk  
Committee member: MDK Mthembu

Ordinary resolution number 10 – Appointment of Audit and Risk  
Committee member: P Esterhuysen

Ordinary resolution number 11 – Endorsement of ORE’s Remuneration 
Policy

Ordinary resolution number 12 – Endorsement of the implementation of 
ORE’s Remuneration Policy

Ordinary resolution number 13 – Directors’ general authority to issue the 
Ordinary Shares of the Company for cash

Ordinary resolution number 14 – Directors’ authority to take all such 
actions necessary to implement the resolutions contained in this notice

Special resolution number 1 – Authority to issue shares, securities  
convertible into shares or rights that may exceed 30% of the voting power 
of the current issued share capital

Special resolution number 2 – Non-executive directors’ remuneration

Special resolution number 3 – Financial assistance in terms of section 44 of 
the Companies Act

Special resolution number 4 – Financial assistance in terms of section 45 of 
the Companies Act

Special resolution number 5 – General authority to acquire  
(repurchase) shares

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant 
number of votes exercisable. A member entitled to attend and vote at the general meeting may appoint 
one or more proxies to attend and act in his/her stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the 
Company.

Signed at  ________________________________________________________  on  _______________________  2021

Signature  _____________________________ Assisted by (where applicable)  ____________________________  

Each ordinary shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the 
Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.

FORM OF PROXY
(continued)
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NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
Members Holding Certificated Shares or Dematerialised Shares Registered in their Own Name
1. The form of proxy must only be used by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded 

on the sub- register in electronic form in “own name”.

2.  All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to 
attend the AGM must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

3.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may insert the name of a proxy or the names of 
two alternate proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the 
Chairperson of the AGM”. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at 
the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of such proxy(ies) whose names follow.

4.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary 
share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number 
of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. If an “X” has been inserted in 
one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by the shareholder 
concerned. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from 
voting at the AGM as he/she deems fit in respect of all of the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A 
shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by the proxy, 
but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of 
the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the AGM notwithstanding the 
death, insanity or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer 
of the shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the aforementioned matters 
shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 hours before the commencement of 
the AGM.

6.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any 
resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or 
any amendment(s) which may properly be put before the AGM be proposed, such proxy shall be entitled 
to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7.  The Chairperson of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received 
other than in compliance with these notes.

8.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy, including the Chairperson of the AGM, to vote on such 
shareholder’s behalf, shall be deemed to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the AGM.

9.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the AGM and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
hereof.

10. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer 
secretaries or is waived by the Chairperson of the AGM.

11. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as 
applicable, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been 
registered by the transfer secretaries of the Company.

12. Where there are joint holders of shares:
•  any one holder may sign the form of proxy;
•  the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in 

which the names of shareholders appear in the Company’s register of shareholders) who tenders a 
vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint 
shareholder(s).
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13. Forms of proxy should reach the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
at Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196 (Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 
2132), to be received by 10:00 (SA time) on Monday, 18 January 2021.

14. A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialed. 
Any alteration or correction must be signed and not merely initialed.

Summary of the Rights of a Shareholder to be Represented by Proxy, as set out In Section 58 of the Companies 
Act
A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy and, subject 
to the rights of a shareholder to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of 
the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any 
restrictions set out in the instrument appointing the proxy.

The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed 
such proxy chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the 
Company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s 
authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of:

(a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; and
(b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the Company as required in the first sentence 

of this paragraph.

If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment 
remains in effect, any notice that is required by the Act or the Company’s MoI to be delivered by the Company 
to the shareholder, must be delivered by the Company to:
(a) the shareholder; or
(b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has:
(i) directed the Company to do so in writing; and
(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so.

The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the AGM.

(continued)
NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
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COMPANY INFORMATION
Directors Group Secretary

F Gmeiner (Chief Executive Officer)*

Dr AC Gmeiner

MDK Mthembu^

TJ Oosthuizen^

N Esterhuysen^

R Bolleurs^

Light Consulting

(Registration number 2002/069802/23)

20 Stirrup Lane

Woodmead Office Park

Corner Woodmead Drive & Van Reenens Avenue

Woodmead

2191
* = Executive 
^ = Independent

Auditors Date of Incorporation

BUSINESS 2 BUSINESS INC

550 Ontdekkers Road

Florida

Florida Hills

4 December 1997

Transfer Secretaries Place of Incorporation

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number: 2004/003647/07

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue

Rosebank, 2196

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

Pretoria, South Africa

Appointed Advisors Audit Committee

Acacia Cap Advisors (Pty) Limited

(Registration number 2006/033725/07)

20 Stirrup Lane

Woodmead Office Park

Corner Woodmead Drive & Van Reenens Avenue

Woodmead

2191

MDK Mthembu (Chairman)

TFJ Oosthuizen

N Esterhuysen

Registered Office Social and Ethics Committee

3rd Floor, 26 Wellington Road, Parktown,

Johannesburg, 2193

PO Box 1885, Houghton,

Johannesburg, 2193

TFJ Oosthuizen (Chairman)

MDK Mthembu

Contact Details Remuneration Committee

Telephone: 011 718 6542 Dr. AC Gmeiner

Email: info@oriongroup.co.za Mr F Gmeiner

Website: www.orionrealestateltd.com Mr TFJ Oosthuizen
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3rd Floor 
26 Wellington Road 
Parktown 
Johannesburg  
2193

Telephone: 011 718 6542
Email: info@oriongroup.co.za 
Website:  www.orionrealestateltd.com

GET IN 
TOUCH


